Investigating the role of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* serotype 1 virulence factors in nasopharyngeal carriage and invasive disease

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements of the University of Liverpool for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy by

Laura Claire Jacques

200400448

June 2017



Abstract

Streptococcus pneumoniae serotype 1 displays some unusual epidemiological, clinical and microbiological characteristics. In Africa, serotype 1 is the leading serotype causing invasive pneumococcal diseases, including, pneumonia, meningitis and sepsis. Unusually, serotype 1 is rarely detected during routine nasopharyngeal swabbing, even in areas of high disease burden. S. pneumoniae are natural commensals of the nasopharynx and colonisation of this area has been described as a pre-requisite for invasive disease, hence little is understood about why serotype 1 carriage rates are so low, whilst burden of disease is so high. This body of work sought to identify key virulence factors associated with serotype 1 disease pathogenesis and the effect these have on nasopharyngeal colonisation and progression from carriage to invasive disease. Murine models of nasopharyngeal carriage, pneumonia and sepsis were used to study serotype 1 pathogenesis and identified the bacterial toxin pneumolysin, and autolysin as key virulence factors associated with disease pathogenesis. In addition, the influence of serotype 1 infection on the host immune responses in murine models of pneumococcal infection was also addressed.

Current pneumococcal vaccines (PCV13) include serotype 1 however, the impact of this vaccination in reducing serotype 1 disease burden is still unknown. Findings here suggest that pneumolysin, not bacterial capsule should be a target for strong consideration in future vaccine design. New therapeutics should also be designed to target pneumolysin as it is in the main driver of pathogenesis in the context of pneumococcal disease, particularly in serotype 1 infection.

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank my primary supervisor Aras Kadioglu for his continual support throughout my Mres studies and time as a PhD student. Aras, your guidance, enthusiasm and support have been outstanding over the past four years and I look forward to continuing to work together in the future. I would also like to thank my other supervisors Dean Everett and Chris Dowson for their support and guidance.

A huge thank you also needs to go to the members of the Kadioglu group (past and present) with special thanks to:

Stavros: Thank you for being such a good friend over the last three years. You are one of the kindest people I've ever met. Your 'emergency chocolate stash' got me through some tough times!

Elaine: Thank you for introducing me to the wonders of coffee – it helped keep me awake during some long nights! I'm sorry I didn't quite make it onto whiskey during my PhD but I'm glad we got to drink a lot of prosecco together!

Laura B & Jen: Surviving a bus crash and a near kidnapping in Malawi bonded us as friends! Both of you have been an amazing source of support and laughs and I can always rely on you both for an honest opinion!

Mansoor: I will be eternally grateful for your generosity and the countless cups of coffee you kindly brought me when I was thesis writing.

Thank you again to an incredibly supportive lab group: Emma, Alice, Hind, Marie, Shadia, Suzy, Hesham and Laura T. In addition, I have to thank Wes for always looking out for everyone, including myself.

I would like to thank all members of my family and close friends for their moral support and encouragement.

To my Dad, whom as a clinician, is proud to say that scientists are the most deserving of the title Dr! Thank you for endless amounts of support – emotionally and financially. I have enjoyed your enthusiasm for learning about immunology and you never fail to make me feel proud of working in the field of scientific research.

To my Mum, I will always be grateful for all the sacrifices you have made to help me get to this point. You have been so supportive during tough times and have given me the determination to work hard and aim high! Thank you also for looking after Archie and Locan to allow me more time to dedicate to my research over the past three years.

To Matt, thank you for always keeping me up to date with the latest scientific breakthroughs, it is a shame that after all this time you haven't realised AOL is not a reliable source of scientific information...

To Chris for treating me to relaxing holidays over the last three years.

To Geri and Katie; thank you for keeping Glasgow as my home from home. Let's continue putting the world to rights!

To my partner Dan, you have been my greatest source of inspiration through my PhD and I owe so much to you. I really couldn't have done it without your love and support. Your incredible talent will ensure you have an amazing career ahead of you and I hope to provide as much support to you in the future as you have given me in the last three years.

And finally, I would like to dedicate this thesis to my Granny Barbara who sadly passed away before I completed this work. Your love and words of encouragement will always stay with me xxx

Table of contents

Abbreviations	14
Chapter 1	18
Introduction	18
1.1 Streptococcus pneumoniae	18
1.2 Epidemiology	19
1.2.1 Disease burden and mortality rates in adults and children	21
1.2.2 Global pneumococcal carriage rates	26
1.2.3 Invasive disease potential	27
1.2.3 Clinical presentations	28
1.3 Pneumococcal virulence factors	30
1.3.1 Polysaccharide capsule	31
1.3.2. Pneumolysin	34
1.3.3 Autolysin	43
1.3.4 Pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA)	45
1.3.5 Pneumococcal surface protein C (PspC)	46
1.3.6 Pneumococcal surface antigen A (PsaA)	46
1.3.7 PiuA and PiaA	47
1.3.8 Pneumococcal adhesion and virulence protein (PavA)	47
1.4 Host immune responses during <i>S. pneumoniae</i> infection	48
1.4.1 Nasopharyngeal carriage	48
1.4.2 Pneumonia	52
1.4.3 Murine models as a tool to understand host immune responses to	
pneumococcal infection	55
1.5 Pneumococcal vaccination	58
1.6 Serotype 1	63
1.6.1 Epidemiology of Serotype 1	63
1.6.2 Nasopharyngeal colonisation by serotype 1	00
1.6.4 Experimental work with coretype 1	60
1.6.5 Sprotype 1 virulence factors	60
1.6.6 Vaccination	70
17 Pesearch Aime	70
	12
Chapter 2	75
Materials and Methods	75
2.1 Microbiology	75
2.1.1 Bacterial strains:	75
2.1.2 Standard Media	77
2.1.3 Miles and Misra method to determine viable counts of bacteria	78
2.1.4 Preparing stocks of pneumococci	79
2.1.5 Growth curves for relative fitness determination	80
2.2 Quantification of capsule using Fluorescence isothiocyanate (FITC)-	
dextran exclusion assay	80
2.3 Opsonophagocytosis killing assay	81
2.4 C3b Complement deposition assay	82
2.5 I cell differentiation assay	83

2.5.1 Macrophage differentiation from murine bone-marrow derived monocyte	es
2.5.1 loolation of CD4 ⁺ T calls	83
2.5.1 ISOIALION OF CD4 1 Cells	04 95
2.6 MI EC Luciforaça TCE & reportar acces	00 0E
2.6 1 Coll culture	86
2.6.2 Standard Luciferase assay	86
2.0.2 Otandard Educedase assay	87
2.7.1 Dose preparation	87
2.7.2 Intranasal infection	.88
2.7.3 Intravenous infection	88
2.7.4 Monitoring murine behaviour using a pain scoring system	89
Table 8. Details of the pain scoring system to monitor disease severity in	
mice. Numbers in brackets represent the pain score number given.	89
2.7.5 Infection studies: Lung, Nasopharyngeal, OB, OE and Brain tissue	89
2.7.6 Blood tissue	90
2.8 Cell population studies (NP and Lung, preparation and antibody staini	ing
acquisition and analysis)	90
2.8.1 Tissue preparation (murine lungs)	90
2.8.2 Lissue preparation (Nasopharynx)	91
2.8.3 Flow cytometry	91
2.9 I cell re-stimulation assay	93
2.10 Pheumolysin ELISA	94
2.11 THION A-100 INDUCED AUDIYSIS ASSAY	95
2.12 LDH Cytoloxicity Assay	96
2 13 1 A549 Human alveolar enithelial cell culture	96
2 13 2 Bacterial infection	96
2.13.4 Transepithelial Electrical Resistance measurement (TEER)	96
2.13.5 Liposome treatment	97
2.14 Haemolytic Assays	97
2.15 Statistical analysis	98
Investigating the role of Streptococcus proumonize African Screture 1	
consule in pasenbaryngoal carriago and invasive diseaso	00
capsule in hasopharyngear carnage and invasive disease	99
Chapter 3 1	00
Investigating the role of Streptococcus pneumoniae African Serotype	1
capsule in nasopharyngeal carriage and invasive disease	00
3.1 Introduction	100
3.2 Results	102
3.2.1 Growth Curves	102
3.3.2 Polysaccharide capsule thickness1	104
3.3.3 Differences in resistance to complement deposition 1	106
3.3.4 Opsonophagocytosis assays: 1	108
3.3.5 Murine model of nasopharyngeal carriage	109
3.3.8 Host immune cell responses during nasopharyngeal carriage 1	119
3.3.5 Murine models of invasive pneumococcal disease 1	121
3.3.6 Comparison of serotype 1 isolates in a murine model of sepsis 1	123
3.3.7 Changes in capsule thickness during invasive pneumococcal disease. 1	126

3.3.8 Sepsis survival experiment with murine <i>ex vivo</i> blood serotype 1 ST217
130 2.2.0 Sonsis survival comparisons from nicho adapted ST217 isolates
3.4 Discussion
Identification of pneumolysin as a key virulence factor associated with
Streptococcus pneumoniae African serotype 1 invasive disease
Chapter 4
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Results
4.2.1 Comparison of serotype 1 and serotype 2 in BALB/c pneumococcal
pneumonia model
4.2.2 Comparison of clinical invasive isolates in BALB/c pneumococcal
4 2 3 Comparison of progression of disease symptoms in BAI B/c mice
infected with clinically invasive isolates of <i>S. pneumoniae</i>
4.2.4 Examination of haemolytic activity of pneumolysin 149
4.2.5 Serotype 1 rate of autolysis is significantly higher than other invasive
serotypes
4.2.6 Effect of autolysis on the release of pneumolysin: a comparison of
4.2.7 Pneumolysin-containing supernatant from serotype 1 ST217 increases
virulence of D39 in BALB/c pneumonia model
4.2.8 Examination of the cytotoxic effects of Serotype 1 (ST217) pneumolysin
on lung epithelial cells
4.2.9 Pneumolysin produced by African serotype 1 damages tight junctions
between lung epithelial cells during infection
4.3 Discussion
Investigating the host immune responses during Streptococcus
pneumoniae serotype 1 nasopharyngeal carriage
Chapter 5 174
Investigating the host immune responses during Streptococcus
pneumoniae serotype 1 nasopharyngeal carriage
5.1 Introduction
5.2 Results
5.2.1 Comparison of nasopharyngeal carriage dynamics in African-serotype 1
and serotype 2 (D39) in BALB/c mouse strain.
5.2.2 Host immune response during hasopharyngeal camage
nasopharvngeal colonisation
5.2.4 Effect of high doses of serotype 1 or serotype 2 bacteria on the host
immune system during nasopharyngeal colonisation 196
5.2.5 In vitro T cell differentiation/expansion in the presence of ST217 induces
a pro-inflammatory T cell repertoire
5.2.6 In vitro T cell re-stimulation assays
scussion

7.0 References	
8.0 Appendix	

List of Figures

rigure 1: Progression of pheumococcal diseases20
Figure 2: Global Pneumococcal mortality rates25
Figure 3: Countries that have introduced the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV) in
their national immunisation programs, by income status in 201225
Figure 4: Pneumococcal virulence factors
Figure 5: Domain structure of Pneumolysin
Figure 6: Location of the African Meningitis belt65
Figure 7: Growth curves of sepsis (D25796), meningitis (C9471) and carriage (W000168)
ST217 serotype 1 isolates in BHI over time
Figure 8: Capsule thickness of serotype 1 ST217 isolates105
Figure 9: C3b deposition on the surface of serotype 1 isolates107
Figure 10: Opsonophagocytosis of African serotype 1 isolates by neutrophil cell line HL-
60 108
Figure 11: The establishment of murine nasopharyngeal carriage by different serotype 1
isolates110
Figure 40. Discuss showing the same of the unner since that have the network late he
Figure 12: Diagram showing the areas of the upper airway that have the potential to be
colonised by serotype 1
Figure 12: Diagram showing the areas of the upper alrway that have the potential to be colonised by serotype 1
Figure 12: Diagram showing the areas of the upper alrway that have the potential to be colonised by serotype 1
Figure 12: Diagram showing the areas of the upper airway that have the potential to be colonised by serotype 1
Figure 12: Diagram showing the areas of the upper airway that have the potential to be colonised by serotype 1
Figure 12: Diagram showing the areas of the upper airway that have the potential to be colonised by serotype 1
Figure 12: Diagram showing the areas of the upper airway that have the potential to be colonised by serotype 1
Figure 12: Diagram showing the areas of the upper airway that have the potential to be colonised by serotype 1
Figure 12: Diagram showing the areas of the upper airway that have the potential to be colonised by serotype 1
Figure 12: Diagram showing the areas of the upper airway that have the potential to be colonised by serotype 1
Figure 12: Diagram showing the areas of the upper airway that have the potential to be colonised by serotype 1

Figure 19: Comparison of serotype 1 isolates in a murine sepsis model124
Figure 20: Schematic representation of pneumonia infection model to assess changes in
capsule thickness and invasive serotype 1 infection126
Figure 21: Changes in capsule thickness and susceptibility to complement deposition
during pneumococcal pneumonia127
Figure 22: Measurement of resistance to complement deposition in serotype 1 ex vivo
isolates
Figure 23: Schematic representation of experimental setup 130
Figure 24: Comparison of <i>ex vivo</i> serotype 1 isolates in sepsis infection model131
Figure 25: Schematic representation of experimental setup 133
Figure 26: Comparison of tissue-passaged serotype 1 in a sepsis infection model134
Figure 27: Comparison of serotype 1 (ST217) and serotype 2 (D39) strains in BALB/c
pneumonia model145
Figure 28: Comparison of survival rates of clinical isolates of S. pneumoniae in BALB/c
pneumonia model147
Figure 29: Comparison of disease progression through pain scoring system in infection
BALB/c mice148
Figure 30: Comparison quantity of pneumolysin and haemolytic activity of pneumolysin
produced by different serotypes of <i>S. pneumoniae</i> 150
Figure 31: Triton X-100-induced autolysis assays comparing rates of autolysis in
serotype 1 and serotype 2 isolates152
Figure 32: FITC-Dextran exclusion assays showing differences in capsule thickness
between three <i>S. pneumoniae</i> serotypes153
Figure 33: Rates of autolysis, pneumolysin production and haemolytic activity combined
to show the HU per bacteria released per minute by autolysis155
Figure 34: Pneumolysin concentrations released by natural rates of autolysis157
Figure 35: Murine pneumococcal pneumonia survival rates after supernatant swap158
Figure 36: Lung epithelial cell cytotoxicity during infection with S. pneumoniae differ with
different serotypes159

Figure 37: Measurements of damage to tight junctions of lung epithelial cells during S. Figure 38: Comparison of serotype 1 (ST217) and serotype 2 (D39) in a BALB/c Figure 39: Changes in neutrophil numbers in the nasopharynx during serotype 1 (ST217) Figure 40: Macrophage numbers in the nasopharynx over 21 days of colonisation with either serotype 1 (ST217) or serotype 2 (D39)183 Figure 41: T helper 17 cell (Th17) numbers in the nasopharynx over 21 days of Figure 42: Gating strategy for isolation of CD45⁺ CD4⁺ RORyT⁺ and IL-17A⁺ T cells ..186 Figure 43: T helper 1 cells (Th1) numbers in the nasopharynx over 21 days of colonisation **Figure 44:** Gating strategy for isolation of CD45⁺ CD4⁺ Tbet⁺ and IFN γ^+**189** Figure 45: T regulatory cell (Treg) numbers in the nasopharynx over 21 days of colonisation with either serotype 1 (ST217) or serotype 2 (D39)191 **Figure 46:** Gating strategy for isolation of CD45⁺ CD4⁺ FoxP3⁺ and TGF- β ⁺ cells**192 Figure 47:** Changes in levels of active TGF- β present in the nasopharynx during serotype Figure 48: Comparison of serotype 1 (ST217) and serotype 2 (D39) in a BALB/c Figure 49: Changes in neutrophil numbers in the nasopharynx during serotype 1 (ST217) and serotype 2 (D39) colonisation197 Figure 50: T helper cell (Th17) numbers in the nasopharynx over 14 days of colonisation Figure 51: T regulatory cell numbers in the nasopharynx over 14 days of colonisation with either serorype 1 (ST217) or serotype 2 (D39)201 Figure 52: T cell stimulation assays used to assess different T cell subsets induced in the presence of ST217 and D39 antigens202

Figure 53: T cell re-stimulation assays with cervical lymph nodes following 21 days of
carriage
Figure 54: Invasion of the brain by serotype 1 ST217 during nasopharyngeal carriage.227
Figure 55: Comparison of pneumococcal pneumonia in serotype 1 compared to serotype
2 infection

List of Tables

Table 1: Capsular serotype-specific invasive disease potential of Streptococcus
pneumoniae
Table 2: Serotype distribution of patients with pneumococcal pneumonia 29
Table 3: Pneumococcal vaccines and their serotype coverage 59
Table 4: Major lineages of serotype 1 63
Table 5: List of Streptococcus pneumoniae serotypes/sequence types used
Table 6: Murine strains used in models of pneumococcal infection
Table 7: Details of dose preparation for the different murine models of pneumococcal
infection
Table 8: Details of the pain scoring system to monitor disease severity in mice
Table 9: Antibodies and dilutions used for FACS analysis of different cell types

Abbreviations

Ab	Antibody
APC	Allophycocyanin
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BAB	Blood agar base
BHI	Brain heart infusion
BSA	Bovine serum albumins
C3	Complement component 3
CAP	Community acquired pneumonia
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CDC	Cholesterol-dependant cytolysins
CFU	Colony forming units
CLN	Cervical lymph nodes
CPS	Capsule polysaccharide locus
CSF	Cerebral spinal fluid
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle' Medium
DMSO	Dimethyl-sulphoxide
DPBS	Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
FI	Fluorescent index
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
Flincr	Florescent index increase
FOXP3	Forkhead box P3
PFGE	Pulsed field gel electrophoresis

- HBSS Hanks' Balanced Salt Solution
- HU Haemolytic units

- lg Immunoglobulin
- IL Interleukin
- INF Interferon
- IPD Invasive pneumococcal disease
- IVC Individually ventilated cages
- IVIG Intravenous immunoglobulin
- LDH Lactate dehydrogenase
- Lyt Autolysin
- M-CSF Macrophage colony-stimulating factor
- MFI Mean fluorescence intensity
- MLEC Mink lung epithelial cells
- MLST Multi locus sequence type
- MHC Major histocompatibility complex
- NaOH Sodium hydroxide
- NCTC The National Collection of Type Cultures
- NK Natural Killer cells
- NLRP3 NOD-like receptor family pyrin domain containing 3 inflammasome
 - NP Nasopharynx
 - OB Olfactory bulb
 - OD Optical density
 - OE Olfactory epithelium
- OPKA Opsonophagocytic killing assay
- OR Odds ratio
- PAI-1 Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1
- PavA Pneumococcal adherence and virulence factor A
- PBS Phosphate-buffered saline
- PCR Polymerase chain reaction
- PCV Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine
- PE Phycoerythrin
- PE-CY7 Phycoerythrin/Cyanine dye7

- PiuA Pneumococcal iron uptake A PiaA Pneumococcal iron acquisition A PLN-A Pneumolysin-deficient pneumococcus Ply Pneumolysin PPSV23 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine PsaA Pneumococcal surface adhesion PspA Pneumococcal surface protein A PspC Pneumococcal surface protein C RBC Red blood cell RORyT Retinoic acid receptor-related orphan receptor gamma RPMI Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium ST Sequence type TEER Transepithelial/transendothelial electrical resistance TGF Transforming growth factor Th T-helper cells ΤО Thiazole orange TOD Time of death UK United Kingdom USA United States of America
 - V/V Volume/volume %
 - ZPS Zwitterionic polysaccharides

Introduction

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Streptococcus pneumoniae

Streptococcus pneumoniae, or the pneumococcus is a gram-positive bacterium and a major cause of human infections ranging from relatively minor middle ear infections such as otitis media, to severe infections such as pneumonia, meningitis and septicemia ¹.

It was first isolated by Pasteur in 1881 from the saliva of a patient who had died from rabies. In 1883, Friedlander and Talamon were the first to describe an association between the pneumococcus and pneumonia. However, pneumococcal pneumonia was often confused with other types of pneumonia until the development of the Gram stain in 1884. Between 1915 and 1945 extensive research was done on the pneumococcus which included the discovery of the chemical structure of bacterial capsule polysaccharide and its role in human disease. This led to more than 80 serotypes of pneumococci described by 1940². Several years on, we now understand that *S. pneumoniae* is also a commensal bacteria that resides on the mucosal surface of the upper respiratory tract, specifically the nasopharynx of humans.³ Colonisation of this site is predominantly asymptomatic but occasionally the bacteria can disseminate into what are normally considered sterile sites such as the lungs and blood. This causes a rapid inflammatory response leading to the many manifestations of pneumococcal disease ⁴.

S. pneumoniae causes invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) predominantly in children, the elderly and the immunocompromised (Centres for Disease Control 2008). IPD is defined as isolation of *S. pneumoniae* from a normally sterile body site such as blood, cerebrospinal or pleural fluid ⁵. In Europe, the pneumococcus is the most common bacterial respiratory pathogen and causes between 30-50% of community-acquired pneumonia (CAP) requiring hospitalization and leads to mortality rates of around 20% in patients with concurrent septicemia ^{6 7,8}. The pneumococcus is an even bigger burden in the developing world where pneumococcal septicemia is a major cause of infant mortality and leads to approximately 25% of all preventable deaths in children under the age of 5 and more than 1.2 million infant deaths per year ^{9,10}

1.2 Epidemiology

All pneumococcal disease begins with the establishment of nasopharyngeal colonisation ³. Pneumococci are known to spread from person to person through droplets or aerosols from a colonised individual. Once acquired, a strain can be carried from weeks to months before eventual clearance by the host immune system. Colonisation by pneumococci is most common in children, peaking around 2-3 years of age, and subsequently diminishes to less than 10% in the adult population in Western Europe. However, in poor resource settings, up to 90% of children and over half of adults are colonised. 11 12 13 14

During colonisation, bacteria enter the nasal cavity and adhere to nasopharyngeal epithelial cells. From this point, depending on the serotype

and immune status of the host, bacteria either stay as colonisers or spread further to organs such as the ears, lungs or penetrate the mucosal barrier to enter the blood stream. Occasionally, bacteria may be able to cross the blood-brain barrier to cause meningitis (Figure 1) ^{15 13}.



Figure 1 Progression of pneumococcal disease. Pneumococci are spread between individuals by aerosol and enter the nasal cavity. Here bacteria can attach to the nasopharyngeal epithelial cells and colonise the nasopharynx asymptomatically until eventual clearance by the host immune system. However, dissemination of the bacteria to the inner ear is common in children and leads to the onset of middle ear infection known as Otitis media. Invasive disease can occur when bacteria spread to the lungs and bloodstream. Once in the bloodstream, bacteria can occasionally cross the blood-brain barrier, leading to development of meningitis. Adapted from Henriques-Normark et al, 2013

Tracing the global spread of pneumococcal infection is done by serotyping of the capsular polysaccharide. To date, 98 different serotypes have been characterised by the chemical structure of the capsular polysaccharide ^{16 17}. Most serotypes are capable of colonising a healthy human nasopharynx, however, there are some serotypes, for example, serotype 1 and 7F, that are rarely found in carriage but frequently cause high rates of IPD ^{18 19}.

Several methods are used to serotype pneumococci and to study genetic relationships between clinical isolates. The pneumococcus is known to be able to take DNA up from other bacteria and there is evidence that bacteria can switch capsular phenotype ²⁰. One sequence-based method that is commonly used to identify different serotypes is MLST (multilocus sequence typing) in which seven housekeeping genes are sequenced and depending on the allelic variations present, strains are assigned a sequence type (ST). Other molecular techniques include pulsed field gel electrophoresis (PFGE), whereby bacterial chromosomal DNA is cleaved using restriction enzymes and run on a pulsed field gel which separates the bands by size and charge ²¹.

1.2.1 Disease burden and mortality rates in adults and children

Streptococcus pneumoniae is a leading cause of invasive disease (IPD) in children, the elderly, and those with certain underlying medical conditions. People with immunodeficiency, such as HIV-positive individuals and those with sickle cell anaemia, are also predisposed to IPD. Other risk factors are poor nutrition, recent influenza epidemics and climate ¹. The pneumococcus is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality due to infectious disease globally and particularly in developing countries such as those in sub-Saharan Africa where it remains a major contributor to childhood death ¹.

Adults:

Pneumococcal disease burden in adults is high, with an estimated 600,000 to 800,000 deaths each year from pneumococcal pneumonia, meningitis and sepsis ²². Disease burden was found to be highest in low-income countries such as sub-Saharan Africa with disease rates as high as 416 per 100,000

population compared to high income countries with incidence rates as low as 2.4 per 100,000 population ^{23 24}. In developing countries, pneumonia is one of the leading causes of death in patients over 60 years of age and in South Africa, invasive pneumococcal disease is 3-fold higher in the elderly population than in the younger population ²⁵. Mortality rates from IPD are also higher too ²⁶.

In 2011, IPD accounted for over 36,000 cases in the USA. The incidence of IPD is strongly related to age with 38% of cases occurring in children under the age of two years and 54% in adults over 50²⁷. In Europe, IPD burden ranges from 11 to 27 per 100,000 people and in Asia up to 216 cases per 100,000 are reported annually ^{28 29}.

Surveys done in the United States of America in 2000 before the introduction of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV7), found the incidence of pneumococcal disease in the over 65 populations were second only to that of children under the age of two³⁰. Analysis of 1258 cases requiring hospitalisation showed that 76.6% of disease manifested as pneumonia, 3.6% meningitis and 17.5% sepsis. Case fatality rates among those 80 years and over was 20.6% and persons aged 65 or older accounted for 51% of all deaths due to IPD³¹. In high-income countries, pneumococcal disease burden is high in the elderly due to a range of comorbidities and waning immune system, contributing to an increased risk of pneumococcal pneumonia. Many studies have concentrated on rates of community acquired pneumonia (CAP) in elderly patients where *S. pneumoniae* is the most commonly isolated pathogen (40-50%). In Germany, overall incidence of CAP was 7.7 per 1000 people, rising to 35.8 in adults over 90 years of age. Among adults over 50

years in the US, approximately 30,000 cases of pneumococcal disease and over 500,000 cases of pneumococcal pneumonia were estimated to occur yearly and resulted in more than 25,000 pneumococcus-related deaths.

Children:

Streptococcus pneumoniae is the leading bacterial cause of pneumonia, sepsis and meningitis in children under the age of five worldwide. The World Health Organisation (WHO) estimates around 800,000 children die due to pneumococcal disease each year, with 90% of these deaths occurring in developing countries¹. Prior to the introduction of PCV7 for US children under 5 years in 2000, approximately 65,000 cases of IPD occurred annually. Shortly after the introduction of the vaccine, IPD incidence declined rapidly, and 7 years after the vaccine was licensed for use, overall disease rates were 45% lower in all age groups and 76% lower for children under five years of age ³². The effectiveness of PCV7 and the more recent PCV13 vaccination in high income countries such as the USA and UK have been well documented. However, the effectiveness of these vaccines in low to middle income countries is not yet published. Incidence of IPD varies among populations and countries due to underlying differences in healthcare, poverty and HIV status. These factors account for why large amounts of disease and high mortality rates are seen in Africa ³³. Case control studies have been performed in South Africa to assess the effectiveness of PCV13 against IPD in HIV-positive and HIV-negative children ³⁴. Results showed that the 2+1 schedule was 85% effective for preventing IPD caused by serotypes included in PCV13 in children without HIV. However, PCV13 was less effective (54%) for overall IPD in HIVnegative children. However, this study is likely to have underestimated the

effectiveness of PCV13 due to small sample size and failure to examine herd effect ³⁵. New data produced from the Gambia and South Africa show results comparable with those from high-income countries and should encourage remaining countries to include pneumococcal conjugate vaccines into their immunization programs³⁴. Figure 2 demonstrates global pneumococcal mortality rates; the majority of deaths in HIV negative children occurred in ten African and Asian countries ¹.



Figure 2 Global Pneumococcal mortality rates. Pneumococcal deaths in children under the age of 5 per 100,000 children (HIV Negative deaths only). Highest rates of death seen in Africa. Taken from O'Brien et al, 2009.



Figure 3 Countries that have introduced the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV) in their national immunisation programs, by income status in 2012. 73% of 50 high-income countries introduced PCV whereas 37% of low income, 35% of lower-middle income, and 34% of upper-middle countries. Taken from Progress in Introduction of Pneumococcal Conjugate vaccine – worldwide, 2000-2012 (cdc.gov).

Figure 2 and 3 show the current situation with IPD mortality rates and global vaccine use. There is a lack of vaccine use in many of the areas with the highest rates of IPD where vaccines are needed most.

The Pneumococcal Global Serotype Project is a systematic evaluation of

serotypes causing IPD globally among children under the age of 5. The review

covers studies from 1980 to 2007, after PCV vaccination had been introduced. The study examined which serotypes were most commonly causing IPD. Serotype 14 was found to be the most common cause of IPD in every region and serotypes 1, 5, 6A, 6B, 14, 19F and 23F collectively accounted for over half of IPD in all regions ³⁶. Based on WHO Global Burden of Disease (GBD) Project incidence for the year 2000, the seven global serotypes listed above accounted for approximately 9 million cases and 500,000 deaths in children under the age of five³⁶.

It was reported that globally and regionally, between 6 and 11 serotypes accounted for over 70% of IPD. Epidemiological studies such as these have been essential to inform vaccine design. As the global distribution of serotypes had been well characterised, informed selection of serotypes for inclusion in the next generation of PCV (PCV13) was possible, enabling coverage of serotypes that previously accounted for 49%-88% of deaths in Africa and Asia³⁶. Rational vaccine design will help to reduce the 800,000 child deaths per year, 90% of which occur in developing countries³⁶.

1.2.2 Global pneumococcal carriage rates

Carriage rates vary globally; in Europe, pneumococcal carriage is common in early life, with a 30-60% prevalence in young children and only 1-10% in adults³. However, using a systematic review, carriage in children under 5 in sub-Saharan Africa was found to be 63.5%, 42.6% in ages 5 to 15 and 28% in adults ¹¹. Lower carriage rates in adults suggest that colonisation in early life provides some immunological protection in adulthood³⁷.

Interestingly, concurrent carriage of up to six serotypes has been observed in approximately 95% of children by the age of two ^{38 39} but little is currently understood about co-colonisation with multiple serotypes or the clinical significance this may have.

The distribution of colonising serotypes differs in children compared to adults. Studies found that, prior to PCV7 introduction, serotypes 19F, 6A, 6B and 23F were highly prevalent in children under the age of 5, whereas serotypes 3 and 23F were the most common in adults ⁴⁰⁻⁴². Post PCV7 vaccination, it was found that 19A, 6C, 11A, 15A, and 15B/C non-vaccine serotypes are now the most prevalent in carriage; a phenomenon called serotype replacement whereby serotypes covered by vaccination are replaced by non-vaccine serotypes ⁴³. The duration of carriage can vary significantly (from days to months) between serotypes. For example, serotype 1 is rarely found causing any nasopharyngeal carriage, whereas serotype 6B can colonise for over 19 weeks ^{4,44}. The mechanisms of nasopharyngeal colonisation will be discussed in detail later in this introduction.

1.2.3 Invasive disease potential

As mentioned previously, some serotypes are commonly found causing asymptomatic nasopharyngeal carriage whereas others are more commonly associated with invasive disease. Several methods have been used to calculate the invasive disease potential of specific serotypes. The most common of these is the invasive odds ratio (OR). The OR calculation is as follows:

Invasive odds ratio (OR) = (ad)/(bc)

Whereby, a is the number of invasive A serotypes, b is the number of carriage A serotypes, c is the number of invasive non-A serotypes and d is the number of carriage non-A serotypes^{42,45}. Table 1 shows the serotype-specific invasive disease potential of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* by country.

Study author	Brueggema nn <i>et al</i> ⁴⁵	Hanage et al ⁴⁶	Sa-Leao et al ⁴⁷	Shouval et al	Kronenburg et al ⁴²	Rivera- Olivero et al 49
Study Period (Year)	1994-2001	1995-1999	2001-2003	2000-2004	2002-2004	2003-2009
Study Area	UK	Finland	Portugal	Israel	Swiss	Venezuela
Highly invasive serotyp es	1, 4,14,18C	6B, 14, 18C, 19A	1,3,4,5,7F,8 ,9N,9L,12B, 14,18C,20	1 ,5,12F	1 ,4,5,7F,8,9V,14	1 ,5,7F,18

Table 1 Capsular serotype-specific invasive disease potential of Streptococcus pneumoniae.OR, odds ratio. Adapted from Song, Y.N et al 2013

Serotype 1, 4, 5 and 14 appear to be some of the significantly invasive serotypes in a variety of geographical locations before the introduction of PCV7 ⁵⁰. Little has been documented on the invasive odds ratio of serotypes present in developing countries such as Africa. Use of the Invasive OR is a useful tool for mapping prevalence of serotypes causing high rates of IPD, which is critical for highlighting serotypes needed to be covered in new vaccines.

1.2.3 Clinical presentations

Different pneumococcal serotypes are known to be associated withs differences in clinical presentations of pneumococcal disease. *Streptococcus pneumoniae* is the most common cause of community acquired pneumonia (CAP) worldwide ⁵¹. Bacteraemic community acquired pneumonia is more

severe than non-bacteraemic and they are therefore considered to be different clinical entities ⁵². Table 2 shows the top three serotypes associated with different types of pneumonia.

Authors	Gentile et al ⁵³	Bender et al ⁵⁴	Resti et al ⁵⁵	Bewick et al ⁵⁶	Cilloniz et al ⁵⁷
Study design	Meta- analysis	Retrospective study	Observational Study	Prospective observational study	Prospective observational study
Study period (year)	1980-2008	1997-2006	2007-2009	2008-2010	2006-2009
Study Area	Latin American & Caribbean	USA	Italy	UK	Spain
Age of study population	<5 yrs	<18yrs	0-16yrs	>16yrs	Adult
Pneumonia type	CAP	Non- bacteraemic pneumonia	Bacteraemic CAP	CAP	Bacteraemic CAP
Serotypes	14 (33.0%) 1 (11%) 5 (10%)	1 (22.6%) 3 (11.3%) 19A (10.5%)	1 (32.5%) 19A (15%) 3 (12.5%)	14 (18.6%) 1 (16.5%) 8 (14.5%)	1 (32.1%) 19A (17.9%) 7F (6.0%)

Table 2. Serotype distribution of patients with pneumococcal pneumonia.Adapted from Song,Y.N et al 2013.

In all studies listed in table 2, serotype 1 is amongst the top two serotypes causing pneumonia in both adults and children, suggesting this is one of the most invasive serotypes found across the world. In addition to pneumonia, serotypes 1, 3, 7F and 14 are commonly associated with empyema. Empyema is a serious complication characterized by pus and bacteria in the pleural space ⁵⁸. This condition is more commonly found in adults but incidence but has been increasing in the child population over the last decade⁵⁹.

S. pneumoniae is a major pathogenic cause of meningitis and results in over 60,000 deaths and long term disabilities in children under the age of five worldwide¹. Studies performed in the African meningitis belt have identified serotype 1 as the cause of 60-80% of pneumococcal meningitis ⁶⁰. Unusually,

adults and older children were more likely to be affected and high case fatality rates were observed.

Pneumococcal epidemiology of different capsular types varies geographically and temporally. Little data are currently available regarding the serotype distribution after the introduction of the PCV13 vaccine, which includes serotype 1. Data between the 1980s and 2010 have shown serotype 1 to be a prevalent serotype globally and one of the major serotypes causing pneumonia and meningitis. Unlike some other serotypes, disease caused by serotype 1 can often be found in older children and adults, suggesting serotype 1 is one of the most virulent *S. pneumoniae* serotypes ⁴⁴.

1.3 Pneumococcal virulence factors

The pneumococcus produces a wide range of protein virulence factors that make major contributions to pathology and the induction of immune responses and that also have potential for use as vaccine candidates that may offer broad serotype coverage.

Over recent years, many new virulence factors and their importance in not only carriage versus invasive disease, but also their role in different niches of the host have been widely discussed. The main pneumococcal virulence factors are shown in figure 4 and each will be discussed in turn.



Figure 4 Pneumococcal virulence factors. Selection of important virulence factors and their location in relation to the structure of the pneumococcus. Virulence factors listed here include; the capsule, choline-binding proteins, metal-binding proteins, PavA, LytA and, pneumolysin. Figure taken from Kadioglu *et al*, 2008.

1.3.1 Polysaccharide capsule

One of the major virulence factors of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* is the extracellular capsular polysaccharide (CPS). Forming the outermost layer of *S. pneumoniae*, the capsule is 200-400nm thick and consists of chains of monosaccharides ⁶¹. Pneumococcal serotypes can carry structurally distinct capsular polysaccharides composed of repeating oligosaccharide units joined together by glycosidic linkages ¹⁶. The genes for capsule synthesis are located on the CPS operon between *dexB* and *aliA* genes. The first four genes (*cpsA* to *cpsD*) are downstream of serotype-specific genes and play a role in the regulation of capsule expression ⁶². These regulatory genes are highly conserved across serotypes of *S. pneumoniae*.

The importance of the capsule for virulence is clear. Firstly, the majority of clinical isolates causing invasive disease are encapsulated, secondly, different capsular serotypes vary in their ability to cause invasive disease, and finally, loss of capsule by genetic mutation or enzymatic degradation dramatically reduces virulence in murine models of infection ^{19,62-66}. In addition, swapping capsular serotypes between strains can affect virulence in animal models of infection ^{67 68 69}. Capsule can also protect the bacteria from the host immune response by affecting susceptibility to neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), killing by defensins and clearance by mucus ^{70 71 72}.

Variations in susceptibility to host immune defences and invasive disease potential are attributable to differences in capsular serotypes. The main function of the polysaccharide capsule is to protect the bacteria from the host immune response by forming a shield around the bacteria that is strongly antiphagocytic and blocks complement binding. An effective immune response against pneumococci is largely dependent on the deposition of C3b complement, and the level of complement deposition is largely influenced by the capsular serotype ⁷³. For example, studies have shown that significantly more complement is deposited on the surface of the highly carried serotype 6B, compared to 19F which is associated with invasive disease. In addition, significantly higher concentrations of polysaccharide-specific antibody are required for opsonophagocytic killing of 19F isolates ⁷⁴. Thus, resistance to complement and phagocytosis appears to be commonly associated with capsular polysaccharides found on invasive isolates.

It appears that the amount of capsule expressed and the metabolic demand of its synthesis can affect invasiveness. Many reports have shown that a thick

Chapter 1 Introduction

capsule protects the bacteria from phagocytosis after invasion, however, a thick capsule will also reduce ability to adhere to epithelial cells and therefore hamper colonisation of the nasopharynx ⁷⁵ ⁷⁶ ⁷⁷. Bacteria isolated from the blood have large capsules which are able to reduce complement deposition and aid bacterial survival in the blood ⁷⁸. In addition, in an infant rat model of meningitis, when comparing 6B and 7F isolates, it was found that 6B caused severe disease and inflammation in the CSF and had a significantly thicker capsule than 7F ⁷⁶.

Weinburger et al have suggested that polysaccharide capsules can differ in the metabolic demand that their synthesis places on the bacteria. They described an inverse correlation between the number of carbons and high-energy bonds with colonisation preference ⁷⁹. Further work by *Hathaway et al* suggests that serotypes prevalent in carriage produce capsule with lower metabolic demand, aiding their survival in a low nutrient environment. In contrast, invasive capsular serotypes need more nutrients to produce their capsule and so have a preference for more nutrient-rich areas such as the blood ⁷⁵.

The majority of clinical isolates of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* consist of two heterogeneous populations of clonal opacity ⁸⁰. Opaque (O) and transparent (T) colony variants of the same strain can differ in the amount of CPS produced, with opaque colonies producing between 1.2 to 5.6 fold greater amounts of capsule ⁸¹. Studies of these phase variations in animal models revealed that transparent variants persist for longer in the nasopharynx and show greater ability to adhere to epithelial cells *in vitro*. In contrast, murine sepsis models showed a strong selection for opaque (O) variants during

invasive disease ⁸⁰. However, phase variation during colonisation or invasive disease does not appear to be as definitive as this. Increased adherence of T variants to lung and pharyngeal epithelial cells was due to decreased thickness of capsule ⁸⁰. Following successful colonisation, a thin capsule may no longer be advantageous as it is associated with increased susceptibility to complement deposition and phagocytosis, which is not beneficial for survival in either the nasopharynx or blood. These observations suggest that the pneumococcus varies between the T variant with increased adherence to cells which is optimal for establishing carriage, and the O form which, with its thicker capsule, is better adapted to survive inflammation and the host immune responses in nasopharynx or invasive sites ⁸².

In summary, the presence of capsule is essential for isolates to cause disease, hence it is used as a target for pneumococcal vaccination. In addition, the thickness and type of capsule present can determine the virulence of a specific strain. However, there are many other virulence factors that are also important for the pneumococcus, and these will now be discussed.

1.3.2. Pneumolysin

Pneumolysin is a 53kd protein produced by virtually all clinical isolates of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*⁸³. It belongs to the family of cholesteroldependant cytolysins (CDCs) which are a group of pore-forming toxins expressed by over twenty species of Gram-positive organisms⁸⁴. Pneumolysin has the capacity to induce pores in cholesterol-rich membranes, and this action equates to haemolytic activity⁸⁵.

Structurally, pneumolysin is described as an elongated, rod-like molecule consisting of four domains (D1-D4). Domain 1 (D1) compromises six α -helices surrounding a five-stranded β -sheet. D2 connects D1 to D4 by four β -strands while D3 consists of a five stranded anti-parallel β -sheet surrounded by two helix bundles ⁸⁶. (Figure 5)



Figure 5 Domain structures of Pneumolysin. Taken from Marshall et al, 2015

Domain 4 contains a conserved tryptophan-rich motif that is critical for binding to cholesterol-containing membranes ⁸⁷. Once domain 4 has successfully interacted with mammalian membranes, domain 3 is responsible for pore formation.

Pore formation by CDCs follows a series of steps. Firstly, soluble monomeric pneumolysin binds to cholesterol-containing membranes. Once toxin is bound, ring shaped oligomers form and a subtle change in shape increases D4 interaction with the membrane and favours formation of a 'pre-pore'. In the

Chapter 1 Introduction

final step, lipids are removed from within the 'pre-pore' ring and forms the pore complex which leads to lysis of the mammalian cell ⁸⁶.

Pneumolysin lacks an N-terminal secretion signal so cannot be actively transported from the cytoplasm to the surface of the bacteria. The traditional paradigm states that release of pneumolysin is dependent on the activation of autolysin (LytA)⁸⁸. Autolysis is characterised by degradation of the cell wall to release virulence factors present in the cytoplasm including pneumolysin. However, this has been challenged by several observations. Firstly, mutants that lack autolysin are still able to release pneumolysin and can be as virulent as wild-type bacteria of the same strain in murine models of infection ⁸⁹. Secondly, bacteriophages may harbour autolysin-like genes that cause cell death and trigger the release of pneumolysin ⁹⁰. Thirdly, pneumolysin has been detected in the cell wall of pneumococci in the absence of autolysis. Pneumolysin found in the cell wall was shown to be active by haemolytic assays ⁹¹. Finally, studies have shown that high levels of pyruvate oxidase can also contribute to pneumolysin release ⁹². Thus, the mechanisms by which pneumolysin is released from the pneumococci remains unclear.

As pneumolysin is a major virulence factor of pneumococci, it is the cause of many disease manifestations associated with pneumococcal disease. At sublytic concentrations, pneumolysin aids bacterial virulence by a) inhibiting ciliary beating of respiratory epithelium, b) inhibiting phagocytic respiratory burst in phagocytic cells and c) inducing synthesis of cytokines and promotion of CD4⁺ T cell activation^{93,94}.

Experimental evidence shows that when purified pneumolysin is administered into murine lungs, it can mimic an array of features of pneumococcal
pneumonia ⁹⁵. Highly haemolytic pneumolysin has been shown to have direct cytotoxic effects on lung epithelial cells and may lead to a high level of cell death. Increasing levels of cell cytotoxicity can lead to the separation of tight junctions between epithelial cells and alterations in alveolar or peritoneal permeability ⁹⁶. This ultimately leads to dissemination of bacteria into the bloodstream and the onset of bacteraemia.

Isogenic mutants have been created to assess the activity of pneumolysin. When serotype 2 pneumococcal strain D39 lacking pneumolysin (PLN-A) was intranasally administered to mice, virulence of the bacteria was greatly reduced. Infection with PLN-A resulted in lower inflammation, a reduced rate of bacterial replication and a delayed onset of bacteraemia when compared to the wild type parent ⁹⁷.

When intravenously administered into the blood of mice, PLN-A caused chronic bacteraemia over 7 days whereas the wild type parent exhibited rapid exponential growth that led to death around 28 hours post infection⁹⁸. These findings suggest that pneumolysin aids rapid bacterial growth in blood and absence of the toxin results in high pneumococcal numbers being tolerated in blood without disease symptoms.

Studies have also shown that pneumolysin plays an essential role in nasopharyngeal colonisation ⁶⁸. *In vitro* studies have found pneumolysindeficient mutants had reduced adherence to respiratory epithelial cells ⁹⁹. Further to this, animal models of nasopharyngeal carriage using PLN-A mutants demonstrate reduced density and duration of carriage ^{68 100 101}. Whilst the role of pneumolysin in pneumonia and carriage is well understood, the effect of pneumolysin in bacterial meningitis is less clear. Meningitis occurs

when bacteria either breach the blood-brain barrier or invade olfactory neurons and migrate into the CSF ¹⁰². Once in the CSF, an inflammatory response is initiated, leading to toxic effects in the brain and disease symptoms occur¹⁰³. When investigating the role of pneumolysin in meningitis, one report found no difference in the levels of inflammation in the brain of rabbits infected with pneumolysin-deficient or wild-type pneumococci¹⁰⁴. However, *in vitro* cell culture models suggest that pneumolysin is key to breaching the blood-brain barrier and therefore is essential to the development of meningitis¹⁰⁵. High levels of pneumolysin present in the CSF of patients with pneumococcal meningitis was found to be associated with poor prognosis and high mortality rates ¹⁰⁶.

Pneumolysin is an important virulence factor that aids in nasopharyngeal carriage, bacterial survival and replication in the lungs and blood. Cytotoxic effects of pneumolysin causes mammalian cell damage and allows for bacterial dissemination from the lungs, into blood and possibly translocation across the blood-brain barrier to cause meningitis. However, there is a serotype 1 clinical strain (ST306) that has been found to produce a non-haemolytic pneumolysin but is a predominant cause of IPD in continental Europe and the South Pacific ^{107 108}.

Emergence of ST306 in Europe caused serotype 1 to rise from 10th to 4th most prevalent serotype causing IPD in Scotland between 2001 and 2003 ¹⁰⁹ and an increased incidence of empyema has been associated with the emergence of the ST306 clone ¹¹⁰. In Sweden, serotype 1 IPD increased from 1% in 1992 to 10% in 1997, due to the emergence of ST306 ¹¹¹. Prior to the introduction

of PCV13 vaccination, ST306 was the dominant serotype 1 strain in continental Europe.

Between 2000 and 2007 a surveillance system was set up in the South Pacific to monitor pneumococcal serotype prevalence. Interestingly, the most prevalent serotype was found to be serotype 1 strain ST306. In New Caledonia, ST306 was responsible for IPD outbreaks and demonstrated a propensity to cause pneumonia and septicaemia in healthy indigenous people who had no previous risk factors for IPD. All patients with ST306 IPD were hospitalised with pneumonia and/or septicaemia but no deaths, cases of meningitis or referrals to intensive care occurred ¹⁰⁷.

Despite expression of a non-haemolytic pneumolysin, ST306 serotype 1 has caused a marked increase in IPD in many European countries such as England, Wales, Scotland, Netherlands and Portugal. Murine studies of ST306 have shown that mild disease occurs in MF1 mice compared to serotype 1 with haemolytic pneumolysin ¹⁰⁸. Using very high doses of ST306, no difference was found in survival times of intravenously infected ST306 and ST227 clone of serotype 1 which expresses a haemolytic pneumolysin, suggesting haemolytic activity of pneumolysin has no effect of virulence in some animal models of infection ¹⁰⁸. Thus, a haemolytically active pneumolysin may not be essential for disease pathogenesis. Previous work suggests that haemolytic activity of pneumolysin is important in the initial stages of pneumonia, which include lung tissue invasion and neutrophil recruitment, but is not essential for bacterial replication in the lung ^{85 96}. However, it is not yet clear whether expressing non-haemolytic pneumolysin

makes ST306 better adapted to nasopharyngeal colonisation compared to serotype 1 clones expressing haemolytic pneumolysin.

Pneumolysin and the host immune response:

As pneumolysin has been widely accepted as a highly immunogenic pneumococcal virulence factor, studies have been performed to investigate whether antibodies directed against pneumolysin may protect from IPD.

One study examined levels of anti-pneumolysin IgG in hospital admissions of patients ¹¹². They found that patients with non-bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia had higher levels of serum anti-pneumolysin IgG compared to patients with bacteraemic pneumococcal pneumonia or uninfected patients, suggesting that antibodies generated against pneumolysin may offer protection against severe IPD. In addition, intravenous administration of human anti-pneumolysin IgG protected mice from intraperitoneal challenge with serotypes 1 and 4. Antibodies directed against pneumolysin were found to increase survival times of infected mice ⁹⁶. Administration of anti-pneumolysin antibodies appeared to reduce inflammation and damage to the peritoneal lining, thus reducing bacterial invasion into the bloodstream. Mice given anti-pneumolysin IgG also had enhanced clearance of bacteria from the bloodstream ¹¹².

Interactions of pneumolysin with the host immune system have been widely described. Pneumolysin is known to activate complement and initiate inflammation but it also influences host innate and adaptive immune responses.

Nasopharyngeal colonisation is an essential prerequisite for pneumococcal disease ³. Studies using PLN-A have shown that pneumolysin is essential for successful nasopharyngeal colonisation as it is important for adherence to respiratory epithelial cells, as demonstrated by Rubin *et al* who showed pneumolysin-deficient mutants had reduced attachment to cells.

Pneumolysin can also have a direct effect on immune cells in the lung during pneumonia. Upon pneumococcal invasion, neutrophils rapidly infiltrate the lungs and are the main innate cell type responsible for bacterial clearance ¹¹³. The rate of immune cell infiltration into the lung is greatly influenced by pneumolysin. If pneumolysin is absent then there appears to be a delay in immune cell infiltration which results in lower levels of inflammation over the course of infection ¹¹⁴. However, if pneumolysin is present in the lungs it contributes to tissue damage and results in higher levels of inflammation. In turn, this leads to a faster, greater influx of neutrophils and other immune cells into the lungs. Activation of complement by pneumolysin also increases immune cell infiltration. Evidence from *in vitro* work suggests that when neutrophils arrive into the infected lung, pneumolysin can inhibit the phagocytic ability of these cells due to its cytotoxic activity ¹¹⁴.

T lymphocytes are also involved in clearance of pneumococci from the lungs ¹¹⁴. When comparing infection of PLN-A with wild-type D39, it was found that recruitment of T cells in the lungs was significantly reduced and delayed in the absence of pneumolysin ⁹⁴.

During pneumococcal infection, pneumolysin may also be involved in inducing inflammatory cytokines through involvement with Toll-like receptors (TLRs)¹¹⁵. The ability of pneumolysin to promote expression of co-stimulatory molecules

on macrophages and to promote the release of inflammatory cytokines was originally thought to be dependent on TLR4 activation but more recent evidence suggests this is independent of TLR-4¹¹⁶. Instead, pneumolysin induces NLRP3 inflammasome activation independently of TLR4 activation and leads to the secretion of an array of pro-inflammatory cytokines including, interleukin (IL)-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-23, tumour necrosis factor (TNF) α and IL-6¹¹⁶ ¹¹⁷. Highly haemolytic pneumolysin causes inflammation as a result of cell death. Upon death, cells release lysosomal products which are seen by the host immune system as danger signals and detected by NLRP3 inflammasomes. Upon inflammasome assembly, caspase-1 is activated and the proinflammatory cytokine IL-1 β is secreted from dendritic cells ¹¹⁶. Via its ability to induce cytokine production, pneumolysin can also aid in T cell differentiation. For example, IL-6 is needed for downstream Th17 differentiation and pneumolysin-enhanced secretion of IL-12 is important for Th1 differentiation ¹¹⁸.

To conclude, evidence from animal, human and *in vitro* studies provide evidence for a critical role for pneumolysin in disease pathogenesis. Mutants of *S. pneumoniae* lacking pneumolysin are much less virulent and are not found to cause disease in humans. Whilst presence of pneumolysin is essential for virulence, the haemolytic activity appears to be less important as demonstrated by ST306.

The neutralisation of pneumolysin using antibodies appears to have great potential in future therapeutics for treating pneumococcal disease and detoxified pneumolysin variants could be excellent candidates for inclusion in future vaccines.

1.3.3 Autolysin

Autolysis is a process that *S. pneumoniae* undergoes when it reaches stationary growth phase. It is controlled by the product of the *LytA* gene, which degrades the pneumococcal cell wall, resulting in lysis and release of fragmented peptidoglycans and intracellular products, including pneumolysin ¹¹⁹. LytA is an N-acetyl-muramyl-L-alanine amidase and is the major autolysin found in *S. pneumoniae* ¹²⁰. The pneumococcus also encodes two other lytic enzymes known as LytB and LytC. The exact roles of these enzymes is unknown but they are currently thought to be involved in cell wall growth during growth and division ^{121,122}.

Although LytA has been widely accepted as being involved in the release of pneumolysin, not all serotypes depend on LytA for this. For example, serotype 3 was found to express pneumolysin prior to reaching stationary phase ¹²³. When LytA mutants were created in this serotype, there was little difference in secretion of pneumolysin, thus suggesting that serotype 3 pneumolysin secretion is not dependent on LytA⁸⁹. However, this serotype does express LytB and LytC which may trigger the release of pneumolysin¹²¹. Of note, this study only found LytA to be irrelevant for serotype 3 and it is not a common finding for all serotypes.

Many studies have shown that pneumococci with mutations in *LytA* are less virulent compared to wild type bacteria^{98,124,125}. The precise reason for this is not fully understood but there are several potential explanations. Firstly, activation of autolysis leads to the release of pneumolysin which is a key virulence factor^{126,127}. Secondly, products released from the degraded cell wall such as peptidoglycan fragments have been shown to activate toll-like

receptor 2 (TLR2), leading to an inflammatory response including enhanced production of IL-8¹²⁸. A third explanation is that fragments of bacteria released during autolysis are able to significantly reduce production of phagocyteactivating cytokines¹²⁹. The ability of the host immune response to phagocytose and eliminate bacteria is dependent on the release of TNF α by macrophages, interferon (IFN)-y production by Natural Killer (NK) cells and T cells and IL-12 production by macrophages¹³⁰⁻¹³³. In general, infection with Gram positive bacteria induces high titres of these cytokines but around 30% lower titres have been observed during pneumococcal infection ¹³⁴. In addition. intact bacteria stimulate IL-12 production by monocytes but fragments of the same bacteria down-regulate IL-12 production in a dose-dependent manner ¹³⁵. Evidence suggests that when autolysis of *S. pneumoniae* occurs, cell wall fragments down-regulate the production of IL-12 which has a knock-on effect for IFN γ production and prevents phagocytic cell activation. Further evidence that autolysis prevents phagocytosis is demonstrated by the finding that autolysed bacteria can inhibit the ability of blood cells to eliminate viable pneumococci in vitro¹²⁹. It is thought that only around 10% of pneumococci need to autolyse during an infection to significantly down regulate the production of phagocyte-activating cytokines and prevent the elimination of the remaining bacteria ¹²⁹.

Autolysis has often been referred to as the suicidal characteristic of the pneumococcus ¹³⁶. However, evidence suggests a new physiological function of LytA in avoiding anti-capsular immune responses during early stage acute lung infection¹³⁷. Upon interaction with antimicrobial peptides both *in vitro* and

in vivo, the pneumococcus is thought to be able to remove its capsule in a process known as capsule shredding and this process is controlled by LytA. Shredding of its capsule has many advantages for the pneumococcus. It can avoid anti-capsular responses and increase its ability to invade local epithelial cells and escape the host immune system. This finding suggests that LytA does not just cause autolysis but appears to be involved in controlling the amount of capsule expressed on the bacterial surface.

1.3.4 Pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA)

PspA is a member of the choline-binding protein family and is expressed on all known clinical isolates of pneumococcus ¹³⁸. As this protein is cross reactive and serologically variable, it has been shown to be a promising candidate antigen for future protein-based vaccines. Research using murine models has shown that passive administration of antibodies to PspA are protective against pneumococcal challenge ^{139 140 141 142 143}.

Current understanding of the main role of PspA is that it protects the pneumococcus from complement-mediated phagocytosis by blocking both C1q and C3 deposition on the bacterial surface ^{144,145}. In addition, PspA is able to protect pneumococci from the bactericidal effects of apolactoferrin found on host mucosal surfaces ¹⁴⁶. Mutants lacking surface PspA show reduced virulence, greater clearance from the blood and higher levels of complement deposition in serum ^{147 148}. Recent evidence has also suggested several mechanisms whereby PspA may influence the immunosuppressive activity of *S. pneumoniae*. One study states that PspA can exert immunosuppressive

ability by inhibition of IgG humoral responses therefore aiding bacterial colonisation ¹⁴⁹.

1.3.5 Pneumococcal surface protein C (PspC)

PspC is a polymorphic choline-binding protein that is found in 75% of pneumococcal strains¹⁵⁰ and has been described by various research groups based on its different functional properties. This virulence factor has many roles; firstly, it is important in protecting *S. pneumoniae* from complement-mediated killing via binding human factor H to block activation of the alternative complement pathway^{151,152}. PspC can also bind to secretory IgA receptor to aid invasion of the mucosa^{153,154}. Mutants of *S. pneumoniae* lacking PspC have shown this virulence factor is essential for colonisation and adherence to lung cells¹⁴⁵. Finally, invasion of the CSF and attachment to the blood-brain barrier is dependent on PspC expression^{155,156}.

1.3.6 Pneumococcal surface antigen A (PsaA)

PsaA is a member of the metal-binding lipoprotein family expressed by all serotypes of S. *pneumoniae*, and is essential for transportation of metal ions; Mn^{2+} , Zn^{2+} and Fe^{2+157} . Studies have shown that loss of PsaA in pneumococci renders them avirulent in murine models of carriage, pneumonia and sepsis¹⁵⁸⁻¹⁶⁰. Functional PsaA aids resistance against oxidative stress and prevents killing by H₂0₂ and superoxide ¹⁶¹. Recently, PsaA has been used as a pneumococcal antigen in an intranasally administered mucosal vaccine in mice. Using a chitosan delivery method, nanoparticles of chitosan-PsaA successfully induced mucosal and systemic immune responses that increased

protection from acute otitis media and invasive pneumococcal infections ¹⁶². Thus PsaA has promise for use in future vaccine design.

1.3.7 PiuA and PiaA

PiuA (pneumococcal iron uptake A) and PiaA (pneumococcal iron acquisition A) are lipoproteins involved in two separate ion uptake ABC transporter operons. Both of these highly-conserved metal-binding ions are needed for bacterial growth and full virulence in murine models of infection¹⁶³.

1.3.8 Pneumococcal adhesion and virulence protein (PavA)

This fibronectin-binding protein is essential for pneumococcal adherence to epithelial cells¹⁶⁴ and has key roles in modulating inflammation to maintain carriage and aid in the development of sepsis^{165,166}. In addition, PavA protects pneumococci against recognition and phagocytosis by dendritic cells *in vivo*¹⁶⁷. PavA mutant pneumococci have been shown to be cleared quickly from the nasopharynx during carriage. However, in a pneumonia murine infection model, pavA mutants persisted in the lungs and caused a chronic infection whereas wild type pneumococci caused systemic infection. When pavA mutant bacteria were intravenously injected into blood, survival times were comparable with wild type pneumococci ¹⁶⁶. This suggests that pavA has an important role in bacterial seeding from lungs into blood and also from blood into the brain to cause meningitis. As pavA is involved in bacterial translocation, it is a promising target for future vaccine design that may allow carriage to occur but may stop the dissemination of bacteria to other tissues and therefore prevent the onset of IPD.

1.4 Host immune responses during *S. pneumoniae* infection

1.4.1 Nasopharyngeal carriage

The pneumococcus is an important commensal of the human nasopharynx and colonisation is thought to be a pre-requisite for invasive disease ^{168 3 169}. The initial steps of nasopharyngeal colonisation involve the adherence of pneumococci to local epithelial cells ¹⁷⁰. Presence of pneumococci in the nasopharynx triggers an immune response at the mucosal surface. Initially, a carefully controlled inflammatory response is generated, followed by increased infiltration of immune cells which leads to the clearance of colonising pneumococci and the development of protective immunity¹⁷¹.

Immune responses initiated at mucosal surfaces such as the nasopharynx need to be carefully balanced between Th17-mediated inflammation and antiinflammatory T-regulatory (Treg) cells ¹⁷² ¹⁷³ ¹⁰⁰. The suppression of inflammatory responses is important to ensure minimal tissue damage and preservation of the natural flora within the nasopharynx. Recently, a role for transforming growth factor β (TGF β) and T regulatory cells in maintaining nasopharyngeal carriage by pneumococci has been described¹⁰⁰. TGF β has a pivotal immunosuppressive role in both innate and adaptive immunity. This cytokine, released in response to epithelial cell damage, reduces inflammation and promotes tissue healing and remodelling ¹⁷⁴. Experimental evidence using murine carriage models shows low density of pneumococcal colonisation in the nasopharynx induces immunoregulatory responses with elevated T regulatory cells and TGF β levels, whilst higher bacterial loads induce a strong inflammatory response resulting in rapid clearance of pneumococci from the

nasopharynx¹⁰⁰. Low pneumococcal density and high immune-regulatory responses result in maintenance of carriage for prolonged periods without the onset of invasive disease. Inhibition of TGF_β-1 resulted in increased dissemination of bacteria from the nasopharynx into the lungs, reduced pneumococcal carriage and a failure to induce T regulatory responses in the nasopharynx. This highlights the role of TGF β -1 and T regulatory cells in allowing the persistence of pneumococcal carriage by limiting proinflammatory responses and tissue damage that would allow for bacterial dissemination into the lungs. Pneumococcal pneumolysin appears to be the key to activating host immune modulatory responses during carriage, through a process dependent upon epithelial cells and the NLRP3 inflammasome ¹⁰⁰. Innate immune responses are also important in controlling nasopharyngeal carriage of *S. pneumoniae*. Infiltrating monocytes and resident macrophages play major roles in the containment and clearance of pneumococci ¹⁷⁵ and macrophages expressing characteristic markers of alternative activation accumulate in the nasopharynx and draining cervical lymph nodes during carriage¹⁰⁰. Although neutrophils are rapidly recruited after initial colonisation, their presence in the nasopharynx does not correlate with clearance of pneumococci. In addition, depletion of neutrophils in murine models, has no effect on bacterial burden during carriage ¹⁷⁶.

1.4.1.2 Carriage as an immunising event:

Most *S. pneumoniae* infections manifest as asymptomatic colonisation of the human nasopharynx. Colonisation is almost universal in children under the age of five but the incidence and duration of carriage is significantly decreased in the adult population³. There have been many studies to examine whether nasopharyngeal carriage results in an effective memory response that protects from future carriage and invasive disease episodes.

Infants are often colonised repeatedly with multiple strains of *S. pneumoniae* and this continues throughout childhood. Successive colonisation even occurs with the same serotypes, suggesting that poor protective immune memory is generated in young children¹⁷⁷. This apparent lack of immune memory was observed when children under the age of two failed to respond to polysaccharide antigens¹⁷⁸. They did, however, mount significant antibody responses to pneumococcal protein antigens¹⁷⁹. Interestingly, the average duration of carriage drops significantly between a child's first and second birthday, suggesting that naturally acquired immunity in children is dependent on CD4⁺ T cells¹⁸⁰.

HIV infection confers a 50-fold increase in the risk of *S. pneumoniae* infection, highlighting the importance of CD4⁺ T cells in immunity to pneumococci^{181,182}. Experiments performed with mice that have been repeatedly colonised with pneumococci to mimic natural colonisation seen in humans have demonstrated that Th17 cells reduce duration of experimental carriage independently of Th1 or Th2 cells. Also, IL-17A responses in immunised mice correlated with reduced carriage duration¹⁸³. Reductions in carriage density observed between 1 and 2 years of age correlates with the development of

Th17 cells that are found to be present in young children through to adults but are not detectable in newborns¹⁸³.

Human studies performed in the Gambia, an area of high pneumococcal colonisation, show that CD4⁺ T cell immune memory to pneumococcal proteins is high, with robust proliferation of T cells from blood. However, this had no impact on the carriage status of individuals, suggesting carriage-induced immune memory may have potential for pathogen clearance in invasive disease but offers little to no protection from establishment of nasopharyngeal colonisation¹⁸⁴. Of note, this study did not examine whether immune memory to pneumococcal proteins altered carriage duration in study participants.

There is been strong evidence to suggest that nasopharyngeal carriage in murine models induces total and capsule specific IgA mucosal antibodies and systemic IgG antibodies against PspA, PhtD and PpmA in addition to capsular polysaccharide-specific IgM^{101,185}. These antibodies have been shown to correlate with reduced nasopharyngeal bacterial numbers and are protective against pneumococci in the lungs.

Mice pre-colonised with *S. pneumoniae* had significantly increased survival times following invasive pneumococcal challenge due to a combination of anti-PspA and capsular polysaccharide antibodies¹⁰¹. The presence of anti-pneumococcal antibodies, plus, increased levels of IL-17A and CD4⁺ T cells in pre-colonised mice led to a reduction in bacterial load in both lungs and blood of infected mice, resulting in significant increases in survival rates¹⁰¹. Mouse models depleted of CD4 T cells or IL-17A abrogated the effects of experimental carriage and protection from re-colonisation¹⁰¹. Protection during

sepsis in pre-colonised mice was found to be reliant on antibodies and was not affected by CD4⁺ T cell depletion¹⁰¹.

Experimental human carriage experiments have shown that carriage induced cross reactive antibodies against pneumococcal protein antigens and protected from re-acquistion of carriage up to a year after first episode of experimental carriage. In addition, the serum antibodies produced as a result of carriage protected mice against invasive bacteraemic pneumonia¹⁸⁶.

Human and mouse data collectively conclude that colonisation episodes are immunising events that induce cellular, Th17 mediated and humoral adaptive immune responses to *S. pneumoniae* and can aid faster clearance of bacteria in lung and blood infections as well as reducing the duration of subsequent nasopharyngeal colonisation.

1.4.2 Pneumonia

Pneumococcal pneumonia causes more deaths than the combined mortalities of HIV, malaria and tuberculosis ¹⁸⁷. Outcomes of pneumonia are often related to the control of inflammation in the lung, with inflammation being described as a double-edged sword in pneumonia ¹⁸⁸. In humans, incidence of pneumococcal pneumonia has been shown to be higher in males compared to females in all age groups ¹⁸⁹. In addition, disease severity appears to be greater in males with significantly higher cases of pneumococcal septicaemia, and meningitis compared to females ^{190 4 191 192 193}. This phenomenon of increased male susceptibility to IPD has also been observed in mice. In the context of pneumonia, male mice exhibited higher levels of neutrophil recruitment into the lungs in the first 24 hours after infection, accompanied by

significant increases in proinflammatory cytokines ¹⁹⁴. Thus, inflammation is needed to effectively eliminate bacteria from the lungs but excessive or uncontrolled inflammation leads to lung injury and is often associated with poor patient outcomes ¹⁹⁵. Therefore, controlled inflammatory responses, driven through immune-modulatory cells such as T regulatory cells and cytokines such as IL-10 are key to improving host survival ¹⁷³.

Lung airways are protected from bacteria by a series of mechanisms such as cough reflex, mucus and a mucocillary escalator ¹⁹⁶. Cell mediated responses are also crucial in the defence against bacterial infection. Lung-resident alveolar macrophages clear finite pneumococci from the lungs by phagocytosis. However, these cells quickly become exhausted and overwhelmed if pneumococcal numbers are high ¹⁹⁷. Neutrophils are recruited into the lungs within 12 hours in response to cytokines and chemokines released from macrophages and epithelial cells ¹¹⁴. Once infiltration of neutrophils occurs, clinical symptoms of pneumonia become apparent. Neutrophils are highly effective in reducing pneumococcal numbers in the lungs through the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and release of anti-bacterial and lytic enzymes inside the phagosome during phagocytosis of pneumococci ¹⁹⁵. DNA-based neutrophil extracellular traps (NETS) are generated by neutrophils through release of genomic DNA, elastase and antimicrobial proteins. These NETS can trap and kill bacteria within the lung ¹⁹⁸. Neutrophils have control over the immune clearance of pneumococci in the lungs through production of chemokines and cytokines that control recruitment of innate immune cells and T cells. Resolution of inflammation has been shown

to correlate with rates of programmed cell death (apoptosis) of recruited neutrophils and rates of apoptotic cell clearance by macrophages during pneumococcal pneumonia infection ^{199,200}. As neutrophils are the primary controllers of inflammation, they are often the cause of dysregulation of inflammation, leading to excessive lung injury which allows pneumococci to seed from the lungs into the bloodstream, leading to the onset of bacteraemic pneumonia.

The definitive role of each cytokine in lung immune responses during pneumonia is still not fully understood. However, cytokines are classified into pro- and anti-inflammatory groups. Tissue resident alveolar macrophages (AM) produce a variety of pro-inflammatory cytokines including, $TNF\alpha$, IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, IL-12, IL-17/IL-23 and IFN- $\gamma^{201 \ 202 \ 203}$. TNF α is involved in the recruitment of inflammatory cells and activates respiratory burst in phagocytes ²⁰⁴. Pneumococcal pneumolysin triggers the production of IL-1 β through activation of NLRP3 inflammasome and promotes macrophage activation ¹¹⁶. Excessive production of these cytokines can result in uncontrolled inflammation that can have deleterious effects on the host. To create a balance, IL-4, TGF β and IL-10 cytokines are also produced to inhibit production of pro-inflammatory cytokines ²⁰². Release of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines recruits NK T cells and Th17 lymphocytes into the lung to aid in bacterial clearance ^{205 206}. If pneumococci overcome the host immune defences in the lungs, bacteria enter the bloodstream and it is primarily anti-capsular antibodies, not cellular responses that are responsible for protection in the blood ²⁰⁷.

As discussed, a fine balance is needed to create enough inflammation for immune cell recruitment and clearance of bacteria. Unfortunately, excessive inflammation often occurs and can lead to systemic and severe inflammation which can result in multi organ failure and poor patient outcome ¹⁹⁵.

1.4.3 Murine models as a tool to understand host immune responses to pneumococcal infection

Murine models are commonly used to study host immune responses to pneumococcal infections. Inbred and outbred mouse strains differ in their susceptibilities to pneumococcal pneumonia, which prompted comparisons of the immune responses in these mouse strains to further understand the role of the host immune system in influencing resistance or susceptibility to invasive pneumococcal disease ²⁰⁸.

The mouse strains used in pneumococcal research can be categorised into resistant and susceptible groups based upon their survival rates in acute infection challenge experiments and the numbers of bacteria they harbour in infected organs ²⁰⁸. BALB/c mice have been shown to be highly resistant to pneumococcal pneumonia with 100% survival rates against a range of pneumococcal serotypes and the ability to confine infection to the lung without developing sepsis. Bacteria are then cleared from the lungs around 7 days post infection. CBA/Ca mice on the other hand are highly susceptible to pneumococcal lung infection and develop bacteraemia by 6 hours post infection which rapidly progresses to sepsis. Mice succumb to infection very quickly and median survival times are around 24 hours post infection ²⁰⁸.

The difference in resistance to disease severity in these mice prompted investigation into host genetic components that control the immune response

to pneumococci. Numbers of infiltrating neutrophils in the lungs of BALB/c compared to CBA/Ca mice was one of the first differences to be identified. By 12 and 24 hours post infection with serotype 2 (strain D39) pneumococci, BALB/c mice were found to have significantly higher numbers of neutrophils compared to CBA/Ca mice 208 209 . Greater quantities of TNF α were also found in the lungs of BALB/c mice by 6 hours post infection, compared to CBA/Ca, and this difference was maintained up to 72 hours post-infection 209 . TNF α is important in pneumococcal infection as it thought to contribute to early chemotaxis of phagocytic cells into the lung to control bacterial numbers and to prime cells for antimicrobial activity ²¹⁰. TNF α knockout mice have shown that TNF α is necessary to control infection in lungs ²¹¹. Rapid increases in TNFa in BALB/c and not CBA/Ca lungs may result from higher numbers of mast cells observed in BALB/c lungs immediately after infection ²⁰⁹. Mast cells contribute to clearance of pneumococci, produce large amounts of TNF α and are likely to contribute to the rapid increases in levels of the cytokine seen in BALB/c mice 212,213 . Alternatively, rapid increases in TNF α in BALB/c could reflect a difference in the cellular responses of macrophages between BALB/c and CBA/Ca mouse strains ²¹⁴.

Infected lungs in CBA/Ca mice were found to have significantly high levels of IL-6 which has been shown to be associated with lethargy in pneumococcal pneumonia whilst BALB/c mice had barely detectable levels of IL-6 throughout infection ²⁰⁹. In addition, production of IFN- γ and rates of apoptosis were found to be significantly higher in CBA/Ca mice compared to BALB/c ¹⁷³. Presence of inflammatory cytokines such as IFN γ and IL-6 are associated with increased

inflammation which causes tissue damage and bacterial dissemination into the bloodstream within 6 hours which leads to high mortality rates.

Thus, it appears that resistance to pneumococcal pneumonia is associated with early increases in TNF α and rapid infiltration of neutrophils into the lung. These cells phagocytose pneumococci and bacterial load is significantly reduced in the lungs which prevents the onset of systemic disease. Mice susceptible to pneumococcal pneumonia have lower levels of TNF α and neutrophils in the lungs so bacterial numbers increase over time and disseminate into the bloodstream.

Recently, it has been demonstrated that T regulatory cells have an important role in resistance against pneumococcal infection through regulation of inflammation ¹⁷³. Linkage mapping of the offspring of BALB/c and CBA/Ca intercrosses revealed a major locus on chromosome 7 that influences survival post pneumococcal infection ²¹⁵. The gene for *Tgfb1* gene is located on chromosome 7 and prompted investigation into the role of immune-modulatory cells and cytokines in resistance to infection with S. pneumoniae^{1/3}. T regulatory cells are both a source and target of TGF β and BALB/C mice were found to have significantly higher numbers of Foxp3⁺ Treg cells in the lungs within 12 hours of infection with *S. pneumoniae* compared to CBA/Ca mice¹⁷³. TGF^β appears to protect against the development of bacteraemia by maintaining lung epithelial cell barrier integrity which stops bacterial dissemination into the bloodstream. Inhibition of TGFB resulted in fewer numbers of T regulatory cells in the lungs and development of bacteraemia in 50% of BALB/c mice. In addition, when T regulatory cells were adoptively transferred into CBA/Ca mice shortly before infection with S. pneumoniae,

bacterial loads in blood were lower and there was a decrease in $IFN\gamma^+$ cells in the lungs, all of which resulted in increased survival rates ¹⁷³.

Observation of differing rates of resistance to pneumococcal infection in murine strains has led to a further understanding of the role of the host immune response in influencing pathogenesis of *S. pneumoniae* in the context of lung infection. Resistant BALB/c mice have an immune response characterised by an early influx of neutrophils, driven by $TNF\alpha$, which significantly reduces bacterial load in the lungs. In addition to this, high levels of TGF β and Foxp3 T regulatory cells limit cytokine and immune-mediated lung tissue damage in these mice, to contain bacteria within the lungs and avoid bacterial dissemination into the bloodstream and the onset of bacteraemia¹⁷³.

1.5 Pneumococcal vaccination

Pneumococcal vaccines have been available for over 100 years with the first development of a pneumococcal whole cell vaccine in 1911²¹⁶. However, improvements in vaccine designs were halted with the introduction of penicillin in the 1940s. Unfortunately, many patients still died despite antibiotic treatment which prompted the development of polysaccharide vaccines such as the 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine (PPSV23) in 1983²¹⁷. This vaccine exhibited 65% efficacy in immunocompetent adults and was shown to reduce rates of IPD but had no effect on pneumococcal carriage²¹⁸. Unfortunately, the vaccine also failed to induce an immune response in children under the age of two years, the group with the highest rate of IPD²¹⁹. Pure polysaccharide vaccines such as PPSV23, were found to induce poor immunoglobulin memory responses due to polysaccharide antigens failing to

bind to MHC Class II for presentation to T cells, thus rendering polysaccharide antigens T-independent antigens. As a result, B cell activation is incomplete and poor immunoglobulin responses are generated²²⁰.

Improvement in vaccine design included the development of conjugate vaccines which have capsular polysaccharide antigens chemically bound to a diphtheria protein²¹⁹. As a result, carrier protein peptides are presented to T cells and MHC Class II on the B cell surface to signal for activation of T-helper cells. This combination of T and B cell activation resulted in production of high titres of antibody against polysaccharide capsule. T-dependent immune responses also initiate the production of good immunological memory responses against serotypes included in the vaccine in children under the age of two years²²¹⁻²²³.

Three protein-conjugate vaccines are currently available; PCV7, PCV10 and PCV13.

Vaccine	Company	Year licenced	Serotypes
		for use	included
Prevnar (PCV7)	Wyeth	2000	4, 6B, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F, 23F
Synflorix (PCV10)	GlaxoSmithKline	2008	1, 4, 5, 6B, 7F, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F, 23F,
Prevnar 13 (PCV13)	Pfizer	2010	1, 3, 4, 5, 6A, 6B, 7F, 9V, 14, 18C, 19A 19F, 23F,

Table 3 Pneumococcal vaccines and their serotype coverage.Different pneumococcal protein-conjugatevaccines and the serotype coverage by each.Adapted from Daniels *et al*, 2016 and Torres *et al*, 2015.

After the introduction of PCV7, there was a significant decline in the global burden of IPD in children. The USA reported a 77% reduction in IPD rates and 98% reduction in IPD caused by serotypes covered by vaccination in children under the age of five²²⁴. Rates of antibiotic resistance and nasopharyngeal carriage of vaccine serotypes also declined significantly since the introduction of PCV7²²⁵. Evidence of herd immunity for unvaccinated individuals over the age of 65 and for infants under 60 days old was also apparent in the USA and Canada^{226,227}. However, PCV7 led to changes in serotype distribution with a significant global rise in serotype 19A. This prompted the development of vaccines covering more serotypes and now PCV13 is the latest vaccine available and covers 13 of the most prevalent serotypes causing IPD globally²¹⁶. In the years since the availability of PCV13, there has been a decline in IPD in children in the UK²¹⁶. PCV13 has had excellent results in high risk groups such as elderly patients with chronic medical conditions such as cardiovascular and pulmonary disease, with immune responses comparable with non-high-risk individuals²²⁸.

Despite significant declines in IPD with vaccine serotypes in both the developed and developing world after the introduction of polysaccharide conjugate vaccines, there is a continuing weakness in the design of these vaccines. The efficacy of current vaccinations in preventing hospitalisation correlates with encapsulation of bacteria. Recent evidence shows changes in capsule expression and evidence of capsule shredding occurring in some *S. pneumoniae* to avoid capsule-targeted immune responses¹³⁷. In addition, there is an emergence of IPD caused by unencapsulated strains and a pressing concern about serotype replacement whereby vaccine-serotypes are

replaced by potentially more virulent serotypes not included in the vaccine^{229,230}. Limited serotype coverage in PCV vaccines means there will always be new serotypes emerging that may cause IPD and new vaccines will need to be designed to cover these emerging serotypes. Longitudinal studies from the USA have noted that serotype 35B infection rates have increased since the introduction of PCV13, demonstrating that serotype replacement will be a common occurrence until a vaccine can be developed to cover all known serotypes of *S. pneumoniae*²²³.

New vaccine antigens

The high incidence of serotype replacement and rise in antibiotic resistant pneumococci highlights the need for future vaccines to cover a broader range of serotypes. One strategy to achieve this would be to use conserved pneumococcal surface protein antigens as vaccine targets.

One such antigen in contention is Pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) which is an antibody-accessible protein attached to the pneumococcal cell surface²³¹. PspA has been found on all clinical isolates and aids virulence by escaping complement-mediated phagocytosis²³². When humans are immunized with this protein, they produce antibodies that are protective against IPD in mice ¹⁴². Phase I clinical trials showed promise as immunisation of healthy adults elicited good antibody responses to PspA ¹⁴⁰. However, concerns were raised as low sequence homology between PspA and human cardiac myosin was detected, raising the possibility of inducing cardiac autoimmunity. Further evaluation of PspA as a vaccine candidate has since been placed on hold ²³³.

Pneumolysin is another potential vaccine protein antigen. Again, this is expressed by all clinical isolates and is essential for disease pathogenesis. Due to toxicity of pneumolysin, it is not safe to use in humans without being mutated to create non-toxic but still highly immunogenic variants. Murine studies have shown vaccination with pneumolysin protects mice against infection, and when combined with PspA, protection against IPD is increased²³⁴. Immunisation with pneumolysin toxoid B (PdB) which has 0.1% of haemolytic activity of wild type pneumolysin, has been shown to be highly protective against invasive pneumococcal disease in murine models especially in the presence of low pneumococcal carriage density, suggesting that PdB could significantly enhance and augment existing memory immune responses²³⁵.

Phase I human clinical trials with attenuated pneumolysin showed safety, immunogenicity and efficacy and when in combination with PspA and this may be an effective future vaccine although issues still remain about cross reactivity with PspA antigen²³⁶.

Ongoing research aims to identify protein antigens suitable for inclusion in the next generation of pneumococcal vaccines. The idea of a multi-variant protein antigen vaccine encompassing multiple pneumococcal antigens may have great potential in future effective vaccine design²³⁷.

1.6 Serotype 1

Streptococcus pneumoniae exists in over 93 serotypes, each of which is defined by the chemical structure of its capsular polysaccharide. Serotype 1 was one of the first serotypes to be described and displays some unusual epidemiological, clinical and microbiological characteristics⁴⁴.

1.6.1 Epidemiology of Serotype 1

Multi-locus sequence typing of serotype 1 has clustered sequence types into three major lineages (A, B and C). These lineages are separated geographically with lineage A predominantly found in Europe, the United States and Canada. Lineage B isolates are found in Africa and Israel whereas lineage C are from South America²³⁸. Specific sequence types are dominant in each lineage and details of these can be found in table 4.

Lineage	Geographical area	Sequence types
A	Europe, Canada &	ST227, ST306, ST304,
	North America	ST288
В	Africa and Israel	ST217
С	South America	ST615

 Table 4 Major lineages of Serotype 1. Adapted from Brueggemann et al, 2003

Serotype 1 is one of the top 5 serotypes associated with IPD in Europe, Asia, Africa and Oceania ²³⁸. This serotype is classically described as highly invasive despite being rarely found in nasopharyngeal carriage, even in areas of high disease incidence ⁴⁴. Compared to other serotypes, rates of antibiotic resistance in serotype 1 are lower; this is likely due to shorter durations of

carriage compared to other serotypes, suggesting that serotype 1 will undergo fewer recombination events and therefore will be slower to respond to antibiotic selective pressure than other, highly-recombinogenic serotypes ²³⁹. Incident rates of serotype 1 IPD fluctuate year on year and often disease is associated with outbreaks in close knit communities ^{240 107}. Sequence types found in Africa are highly invasive and tend to affect older children and otherwise healthy adults. There is also a lower disease prevalence in HIV-infected patients compared to other serotypes, which suggests that serotype 1 is highly invasive and can cause disease in healthy individuals with no comorbidities ^{240 241}.

Epidemiological studies in South Africa over ten years between 2003 and 2013 found that generally serotype 1 caused less severe pneumococcal disease which manifested as pneumonia and bacteraemia. The study also found that children under the age of 5 were less likely to die with serotype 1 IPD compared to infection with other serotypes ²⁴².

In sub-Saharan Africa, *S. pneumoniae* is one of the most common causes of bacterial meningitis. Figure 6 shows the African meningitis belt which is an area from Ethiopia to Senegal, which, for over the past 100 years has had meningitis epidemics occurring at a frequency of every 8 to 12 years ²⁴³. Between 1998 and 2003, it was found that incidence of meningitis caused by *S. pneumoniae* in this area was over ten times higher than in Western Europe and the United States ²⁴⁴. Serotype 1 accounted for 76% of all isolates causing pneumococcal meningitis and 43.6% case fatality rates were observed. Serotype 1, ST217 was found in 80% of cases in older children and adults

while only causing 33% of pneumococcal meningitis in children under the age of 4 years ²⁴⁴.



Figure 6. Location of the African Meningitis belt.

Source: Control of epidemic meningococcal disease, WHO practical guidelines, World Health Organization, 1998, 2nd edition, WHO/EMC/BAC/98.3

It appears that the meningitis belt in Africa is unique in its disease epidemiology, even within Africa. In Europe and the USA, the bimodal meningitis age distribution has peaks in infants and the elderly, however within the African meningitis belt, disease is found occurring in outbreaks, usually during the dry season, and serotype 1 disease prevalence is highest in older children and working age adults ²⁴⁵ ²⁴⁴. Over 35 years of surveillance data concluded that pneumococcal meningitis within the meningitis belt results in a high burden of disease and mortality, with 59% of cases occurring in people aged between 5 and 59 years ⁶⁰. Unfortunately, little is known about pneumococcal pneumonia disease prevalence in this area and whether there is a correlation between meningitis and pneumonia outbreaks. Recently, it has been suggested that climatic factors may play a role in meningitis outbreaks

²⁴⁶. The Harmattan winds come across the African meningitis belt from November to May and correlate with timings of disease outbreaks. These winds carry dust particles which have been shown to increase pneumococcal carriage density and dissemination of bacteria into the lungs and even the brain ²⁴⁷ ²⁴⁶. Neutrophils and macrophages exposed to these dust particles have a reduced capacity to phagocytose pneumococci ²⁴⁶. Temperatures rising to over 39.5^oC is common during the dry season and *in vitro* assays have shown that high temperatures increase autolysis rates in serotype 1 bacteria and also bacterial dissemination into lung tissue ²⁴⁶. Therefore, seasonal climate changes in Africa are thought to contribute to outbreaks in pneumococcal meningitis cases.

1.6.2 Nasopharyngeal colonisation by serotype 1

As early as 1937, Heffon found that serotype 1 was responsible for approximately 22% of pneumococcal pneumonia cases in children and 33% in adults. Despite this high prevalence, he found that serotype 1 asymptomatically colonised only around 2% of adults and children. Studies of nasopharyngeal carriage in people in close contact with outbreak patients have concluded that serotype 1 is able to initiate colonisation and pass between people in close contact, but colonisation is much shorter in duration compared to other serotypes ²⁴⁸ ²⁴⁹ ²⁵⁰. Despite limited duration of carriage, the odds ratio for serotype 1 IPD is high, that is, it has a high attack rate ¹⁹. Studies of serotype 1 nasal colonisation have been limited due to the rarity of detection in the human population, but future work in murine models and

experimental human carriage may further understanding of why asymptomatic colonisation is rarely detected.

1.6.3 Clinical disease presentations

Different serotypes often have different presentations of pneumococcal disease. Serotype 1 has been found to cause a variety of uncommon disease phenotypes compared to other serotypes of *S. pneumoniae*. For example there is a longstanding association between the development of empyema and serotype 1 infection. The UK has seen a rise in the incidence of empyema over the last 15 years²⁵¹. This has been linked to the emergence of ST306 and a rise in serotype 1 IPD around Europe^{252,253}. As patients are treated with antibiotics prior to pleural aspiration, it is difficult to fully assess rates of empyema caused by serotype 1²⁵⁴.

Different serotype 1 lineages differ in their ability to cause meningitis. In Africa's meningitis belt, lineage B serotypes including ST217, cause approximately 80% of pneumococcal meningitis and are associated with high mortality levels⁶⁰. In Europe, pneumococcal meningitis caused by serotypes in lineage A is much less common. A study in Denmark found that serotype 1 caused 15% of all IPD cases over the age of 5 years but only accounted for 7% of meningitis cases²⁵⁵. Similar findings were observed in the UK suggesting that genetic differences between lineages may account for differences in disease phenotypes seen²⁵⁶.

Overall clinical outcome from serotype 1 IPD is varied in the literature. Reports of serotype 1 pneumococcal disease in Europe indicate high levels of

empyema and low mortality rates, which is due to ST306 being the dominant sequence type²⁵². ST306 however is an unusual strain as it expresses a non-haemolytic pneumolysin and has been shown to be significantly less virulent in murine models of pneumococcal disease compared to serotype 1 sequence types expressing a fully haemolytic pneumolysin such as ST217^{108,257}.

Serotype 1 is often associated with outbreaks in close knit communities and affects healthy children and young $adults^{245}$. One such outbreak of serotype 1 pneumococcal disease took place at a military training camp where 128 cases of pneumonia were recorded with approximately 20% developing bacteraemic pneumonia. Further investigation found that around 25% of people at the camp had been colonised with serotype 1 which resulted in an attack rate of around $12\%^{44}$.

1.6.4 Experimental work with serotype 1

Pneumococcal models of infection in mice and rats have been widely used to study bacterial pathogenesis. There are limited data published on serotype 1 infections in murine models so little is currently understood about mechanisms of serotype 1 colonisation of the nasopharynx or virulence in invasive pneumococcal disease.

Serotype 1 has been found to have a weak ability to colonise the nasopharynx of mice compared to other serotypes. In addition, when a large dose of serotype 1 is given intranasally, mice were found to develop persistent bacteraemia with no disease symptoms ²⁵⁸. However, these experiments were performed with European serotype 1 isolates, which included ST306, hence, this is not a general representation of serotype 1 disease pathogenesis. In

contrast, infections with African ST217 have shown high rates of mortality as ST217 is able to rapidly divide and survive in the lungs and blood of mice²⁵⁹. This contrasts with ST304 European isolate which can colonise the nasopharynx but is cleared from the lungs and is not able to survive in blood. ST217 was found to induce strong type 1 interferon levels in the lungs of mice which was associated with increased invasion into the blood and low survival rates²⁵⁹. Data from animal models strongly suggest that there are significant differences in the different clonal types of serotype 1 with African serotype 1 isolates demonstrating high virulence, whereas European isolates have lower mortality rates in experimental pneumococcal disease models.

1.6.5 Serotype 1 virulence factors

Capsule

Complete sequences for the capsular polysaccharide locus (cps) have been published for all known serotypes¹⁶. Upon detailed analysis, it was found that serotype 1 capsule differed significantly compared to other serotypes of *S. pneumoniae*. A frameshift mutation in the *rmIC* gene resulted in an incorporation of a sugar known as AAT-Galp, forming the initial carbohydrate of the capsular polysaccharide²⁶⁰. The mutations seen in serotype 1 capsule have given rise to alternating positive and negative chains of polysaccharides, termed zwitterionic²⁶¹. Interestingly, zwitterionic capsules are known as T cell –dependent antigens as they can be presented on MHC Class II molecules to T cells and influence T cell activation and differentiation²⁶². In the context of infection, zwitterionic capsules are associated with increased abscess formations in murine models after intraperitoneal injection²⁶¹. Little is currently

understood about how serotype 1 capsule influences host immune responses in humans during infection and how they may influence serotype 1 vaccine efficacy.

In vitro assays have found serotype 1 capsule to be significantly more resistant to opsonisation and complement deposition, possibility due to zwitterionic capsule, but it is not known how this may affect resistance to phagocytosis during infection and influence carriage duration or invasiveness compared to other serotypes²⁶³.

Pneumolysin

Very little investigation has been done on non-capsular virulence factors and their role in serotype 1 disease pathogenesis. As previously discussed, a serotype 1 sequence type, known as ST306, expresses a non-haemolytic form of pneumolysin¹⁰⁸. Infection with ST306 results in empyema, pneumonia and meningitis with low mortality rates across Europe^{251,252,254}. The mechanistic interactions with the host of non-haemolytic pneumolysin in the context of nasopharyngeal carriage and invasive disease have not been explored.

1.6.6 Vaccination

Serotype 1 is one of the thirteen serotypes included in the current PCV13 vaccine which was introduced in 2010²⁶⁴. This vaccine has been shown to be effective in inducing antibodies against the capsule in children. Post-vaccine epidemiological studies are not yet available to ascertain the efficacy of PCV13 against serotype 1 carriage and rates of invasive disease. Initial clinical trial data found that vaccine failure was observed in 5 out of 12 cases of serotype 1 disease in a vaccinated group in Africa^{265,266}. Given serotype 1 capsule is significantly more resistant to complement deposition and opsonisation, it

remains to be seen whether serotype 1 IPD will be effectively abolished with routine vaccination or whether an alternative means of vaccination will be required.

1.7 Research Aims

Serotype 1 is a highly diverse serotype with several lineages found across the world. Serotype 1 strains prevalent in Europe produce non-hemolytic pneumolysin and are associated with high rates of empyema and low mortality. African serotype 1 on the other hand is found to be highly invasive, particularly in sub-Saharan Africa where rates of meningitis, sepsis and pneumonia are leading causes of death in both adults and children.

Serotype 1 has some unusual characteristics including a zwitterionic capsule which is thought to be a T cell-dependant antigen and so interaction between serotype 1 and the host immune system will likely differ compared to other serotypes.

The aim of this PhD project is to understand the mechanisms of disease pathogenesis of African serotype 1 using *in vitro* and *in vivo* models of infection.

Aims:

- 1. Investigate the role serotype 1 capsule and pneumolysin have in invasive disease pathogenesis.
 - a. Study the role of serotype 1 capsule in carriage and invasive disease
 - b. Compare effects of African ST217 pneumolysin with European ST306 non-hemolytic pneumolysin in murine models of invasive pneumococcal disease.
- 2. Determine host serotype 1 interactions during nasopharyngeal carriage and invasive disease.
 - a. Define and compare the phenotypic characteristics of ST217 serotype 1 isolates from the nasopharynx, CSF and blood in their respective ability to establish nasopharyngeal colonisation and cause invasive disease.
 - b. Monitor the density and duration of serotype 1 (ST217) nasopharyngeal carriage and its interaction with host immune cells during carriage.

Materials and Methods

Chapter 2

Materials and Methods

2.1 Microbiology

2.1.1 Bacterial strains:

Table 5 details the strain and type of pneumococci used in this thesis. For each serotype a single culture broth was batch processed and pneumococci stored in single–use aliquots for up to six months. Both laboratory and clinically derived strains of pneumococci were used.

Serotype 1 I	lsolates:
--------------	-----------

A)							
Sample	Carriage/	Blood / CSF/	Sequence	Location	Year	Age of	Serotype
ID	Invasive	Nasopharynx	type			patient	
C9471	Invasive	CSF	217	Blantyre, Malawi	2004	3	1
D25796	Invasive	Blood	217	Blantyre, Malawi	2004	8	1
W000168	Carriage	nasopharynx	217	Karonga, Malawi	2008	26	1
ST3081	Clinical isolate from Gambia	Blood	3081	The Gambia	2011	9	1
ST306	Clinical isolate - Europe	Unknown	306	Europe	Unknown	Unknown	1

Serotype	Type/Source		
2 (D39)	Laboratory (NCTC 7466)		
5	Clinical isolate B101.38		
	(Bern, Switzerland)		
6B (ST138)	Clinical carriage isolate		
	(BHN418)		
6B	Clinical isolate, nasopharynx		
	#106.66 (Bern, Switzerland)		
19A	Clinical isolate, human		
	(Hungary)		
23F	Liverpool school of Tropica		
	Medicine		
23F	Clinical isolate, nasopharynx		
	#B103.57 (Bern,		
	Switzerland)		
7F	208.41 (Bern, Switzerland)		
7F	Clinical isolate, nasopharynx		
14 (ST124)	Invasive clinical isolate,		
	BHN78		
14	Clinical isolate, blood		
	#B103.66 (Bern,		
	Switzerland)		
19F (ST162)	Clinical carriage isolate		
	BHN100		

B)

Table 5 List of Streptococcus pneumoniae serotypes/sequence types used.

Serotype 1, ST217 isolates used in this thesis were isolated from HIV negative individuals in Malawi, both invasive isolates (C9471 and D25796) were from children in Blantyre, whilst the nasopharyngeal carriage isolate was from a young adult in Karonga. The ST217 isolates were selected for this work because they have all been fully sequenced and therefore gives the option for future genomic analysis.

2.1.2 Standard Media

Blood agar base (BAB) culture plates

16 grams of BAB medium (Sigma) was added to 400ml of distilled water and then autoclaved at 15psi (103kPA) for 30 minutes. After autoclaving and the media cooled to ~56°C, 20 mls of Sterile Debrinated Horse Blood (Sigma) was added and gently mixed. The medium was then poured into sterile petri dishes (90mm), left to dry overnight and the next day stored inverted at either room temperature or 4 °C. One bottle of 400ml medium would make approximately 25 BAB culture plates which could be stored for up to 14 days before use.

Blood agar base (BAB) culture plates + 5% V/V horse blood with gentamicin

BAB culture plates were prepared as above with a minor modification: when 20mls of horse blood was added to 400ml of autoclaved BAB culture medium, 2ug/ml of gentamicin (Sigma) was also added to the medium and gently mixed.

Brain heart infusion (BHI) broth

14.8 grams of BHI medium (Sigma) was added to 400ml of distilled water and autoclaved at 15psi (103kPA) for 30 minutes. Following autoclaving, the medium was stored at room temperature for up to 4 weeks.

BHI Serum broth

BHI broth was prepared as above with a minor modification. After autoclaving, 20mls of Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) (Sigma) was added to 80mls of medium to make 80% v/v BHI medium with 20% v/v FBS. This BHI serum broth was prepared fresh for each use.

Cryopreservation media

To cryopreserve cells from either tissue culture or isolated from murine tissue, a freezing media was prepared using the ratios 75% RPMI medium (Sigma), 15% Foetal bovine serum (FBS) (Sigma) and 10% dimethyl-sulphoxide (DMSO) (Sigma).

2.1.3 Miles and Misra method to determine viable counts of bacteria

The Miles and Misra method is a technique used to determine the number of colony forming units (CFU) in bacterial suspension or homogenate. It relies on serial dilutions, culturing and counting CFU. The number of colony forming units seen is used to determine the CFU/ml of a sample ²⁶⁷.

 20μ l of sample (e.g. tissue homogenate, blood or stock solution) was added to 180μ l of sterile PBS and serially diluted 10 fold, until dilutions of 10^6 were reached. The BAB culture plates were divided into six sections and 60μ l ($3x20\mu$ l) of each dilution was plated onto each corresponding sector. When dry, the plates were inverted and incubated at 37^0 C 5%CO₂ for 16-18 hours. The following day, sections in which 20-200 CFU were visible were counted and the CFU/ml or CFU/mg of tissue were calculated as follows:

To calculate the numbers of CFU in blood or infection dose:

CFU/ml = number of colonies in sector x dilution factor x (1000/60)

CFU/mg of tissue = CFU/ml x 3 mls /tissue weights (mg)

2.1.4 Preparing stocks of pneumococci

Pneumococci from laboratory bead collections were streaked onto BAB culture plates and grown overnight at 37^oC 5%CO₂. In addition, an optochin antibiotic disk (Oxoid) was placed on a site of inoculation. After culture, a zone of bacterial growth inhibition around the optochin disk indicates susceptibility to optochin and this is a common method to ensure only pneumococci is present.

For serotype 1 stock preparation, after overnight incubation of BAB plates, a full sweep of colonies was used to inoculate 10mls of BHI Serum broth. The inoculated broth was then placed on ice in a water bath with a timer set to allow for 9-12 hours incubation at 37^{0} C until OD₅₀₀ 0.9-1.1 was reached.

For all other serotypes, following overnight culture of sweep on BAB plates, a sweep full of colonies was used to inoculate 10mls of BHI broth in a sterile universal tube. The inoculum was then incubated for 16-18 hours at $37^{0}C5\%CO_{2}$ until OD₅₀₀ 1.4 -1.6 was reached.

When the BHI pneumococcal broth culture reached the desired OD, it was centrifuged at 1500g for 10 minutes, the supernatant was removed and the remaining pellet of bacteria re-suspended in 1ml BHI Serum broth. 700µl of

the re-suspended pellet was added to 10mls of BHI Serum and sub-cultured at $37^{0}C5\%CO_{2}$ until OD₅₀₀ 1.4 -1.6 was reached.

The resulting serum broth containing pneumococci was then divided into 1ml single use aliquots in sterile cryotubes and kept at -80^oC. After 24 hours in the freezer, aliquots were thawed, centrifuged 10,000xg for 2 minutes, resuspended in sterile PBS and the CFU/ml of pneumococci was determined using the Miles and Misa Method.

2.1.5 Growth curves for relative fitness determination

The OD_{500} of 2000l of a solution of 10^3 cfu/ml of bacteria in 20% BHI serum was determined every 30 minutes for a total of 12 hours using a BMG Labtech FLUOstar OMEGA microplate reader (BMG Labtech, Aylesbury, UK).

2.2 Quantification of capsule using Fluorescence

isothiocyanate (FITC)-dextran exclusion assay

Capsule thickness was determined using fluorescence labelled FITC-dextran (2000kDa, Sigma), based on a published method by Gates et al²⁶⁸.

Bacterial colonies were inoculated into BHI culture medium and cultured overnight at 37^{0} C 5%CO₂ until OD₆₀₀nm = 0.5. 200µl of the overnight culture was taken and sub-cultured into 10mls of fresh, pre-warmed BHI culture medium and incubated again at 37^{0} C 5%CO₂ until OD₆₀₀nm = 0.4 - 0.6. The pneumococcal culture was then centrifuged at 1000xg for 10 minutes. The supernatant was carefully poured off and the pellet re-suspended in 1ml of pre-chilled PBS. To prepare each slide, 10µl of bacterial suspension was mixed with 2µl of FITC-dextran solution (10mg/ml), 10µl of this was added to

the slide and coverslip applied. The slides were viewed using a Nikon Eclipse 80i fluorescent microscope with 100x objective lens and photographed using a Hamamatsu C4742-95 camera. The mean area of each bacterium (pixels) was determined using Image J software.

2.3 Opsonophagocytosis killing assay

Opsonophagocytic assays were performed to assess differences in the ability of different bacterial strains to resist phagocytosis by human neutrophils. The protocol has been modified by that published by Romero-Steiner in 2003²⁶⁹. Frozen bacterial stocks were thawed, washed with PBS and re-suspended to a final concentration of 10^5 cfu/ml in HBSS (Invitrogen). 10μ l of bacteria (10^3) cfu) were then incubated with 20μ l of opsonin for 30 minutes at 37° C, shaking at 175 rpm. The opsonin used in this assay was pooled human IgG (IVIG, Grifols Therapeutics, USA). Whilst the opsonisation step was taking place, human neutrophils (HL-60 cell line) were prepared. Cell were centrifuged at 250g for ten minutes and resuspended in 1ml of DPBS^{-/-} (Invitrogen). The concentration of cells was determined using cell counts on a Neubauer chamber and trypan blue staining. The cells were adjusted to a final concentration of 1.125 $\times 10^7$ cells/ml. After opsonisation, 40µl of neutrophils $(4x10^5 \text{ cells})$ were added to opsonised bacteria, in addition to 10μ of baby rabbit complement (Invitrogen) and incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C, shaking at 175 rpm. Finally, 10µl of the suspension was plated out onto 5% BAB plates and incubated overnight at 37° C to determine the number of viable bacteria. Experiments were performed in triplicate.

2.4 C3b Complement deposition assay

This assay measures the amount of complement deposition on the bacterial surface. Bacterial cells are incubated with human serum which allows complement deposition (C3) on the bacterial surface. A primary (mouse-anti-human C3) and secondary antibody (Anti-mouse-APC) are subsequently used to detect C3; bacterial cells are analysed using flow cytometry.

iC3b deposition were measured using previously described²⁷⁰

Firstly, to prepare the bacteria samples for C3b deposition assays, frozen aliquots were thawed quickly and a 5ml stock solution of 1x10⁵CFU/ml in BHI was made and left to incubate at 37°C for 15 minutes. After incubation, the bacteria suspension was centrifuged at 3000 x g for 10 minutes to pellet the bacteria. Supernatant was discarded and pellet re-suspended in 5mls of PBS. Bacteria were then distributed into Eppendorf tubes for the assay. Following centrifugation at 17,000xg for 3 minutes, supernatant was removed and pellet re-suspended in 100ul of 20% human serum (diluted in FBS). Pooled human serum was obtained from unvaccinated normal human volunteers. Sera were stored in single use aliquots at -70°C. 1% Gelatin Veronal buffer in PBS was also added to aid complement deposition. Samples were then incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes. After a wash step and brief centrifuging at 17,000 x g for 3 minutes, supernatant was discarded and 1:300 dilution of Mouse anti human mAb C3 (Abcam ab17455) was added to bacteria. After samples were incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes, centrifugation was repeated and a secondary binding antibody Anti Mouse IgG2a APC (eBioscience 17-4210-80) was added to bacteria. Samples were incubated at 4°C for 30 minutes in the absence of light. Once incubated, samples were centrifuged and re-

suspended in 500µl of PBS. At this stage, 1 in 100 dilution of Thiazole Orange (TO) (BD, 42uMol/L) was added to each sample to isolate bacteria. Flow cytometry assays of C3b deposition were performed on a BD Accuri C6 flow cytometer. Once the sample had been acquired, the Fluorescence Index Increase (Flincr) was calculated using the following:

Flincr = Fluorescence Index Increase

Flincr =% of TO^{+ve} and APC^{+ve} bacteria \times (MFI of TO^{+ve} and APC^{+ve} bacteria)

- (MFI of TO^{+ve} and APC^{-ve} bacteria)

2.5 T cell differentiation assay

2.5.1 Macrophage differentiation from murine bone-marrow derived monocytes

The first step in this assay is to differentiate macrophages from bone marrow derived cells. This is done by collecting both tibias and femurs from 7-10week old naive BALB/c mice (Harlan). Bone marrow was flushed from the leg bones into DMEM medium supplemented with 10% foetal bovine serum and 1% P/S. The media was also supplemented with M-CSF (20ng/ml, R&D Systems). Bone marrow – derived cells were then counted and 6.25×10^5 cells/ well were plated into 48 well tissue culture treated plates (Greiner). Cells were incubated for 7 days at 37° C 5%CO₂ with a change of media on the 4th day of culture. After allowing the monocytes to differentiate for 7 days, the media on the cells was changed to DMEM +10%FBS with no antibiotics. Pneumococci were then

added to the macrophages in a 1:10 cells to bacteria ratio and cultured together at $37^{\circ}C 5\% CO_2$ for 24 hours.

2.5.1 Isolation of CD4⁺ T cells.

CD4⁺ T cells were isolated using mouse CD4⁺ T cell isolation kit II (Miltenyi Biotec). Firstly, spleens were collected from 5-10 naïve female BALB/c mice (7-10 weeks old). Spleens were passed through a 40 μ m cell strainer (BD Biosciences) and washed through twice with DMEM media to create a single cell suspension. Cells were then counted, pelleted and re-suspended in 40 μ l of buffer (0.5%BSA in PBS) per 10⁷ cells. 10 μ l of Biotin-Antibody cocktail (Miltenyi Biotec) was added per 10⁷ total cells. This was incubated for 5 minutes at 2-8^oC. After short incubation, 30 μ l of buffer (0.5%BSA in PBS) and 20 μ l of Anti-Biotin Microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec) was added per 10⁷ total cells. Xafter mixing, cell suspensions were incubated at 2-8^oC for ten minutes.

LS columns and MACS separator (Miltenyi Biotec) were used to isolate CD4⁺ T cells. 5 mls of buffer was rinsed through the LS Column prior to adding the cell suspension. The flow-through was collected which contained the CD4⁺ T cell population. Additional 3 mls of buffer was added after the cell suspension and was collected and added to the T cell population. The total number of CD4⁺ T cells collected was counted and 6.25 x 10^6 cells/well were added to the bone-marrow derived macrophages.

2.5.2 Preparation of infected macrophages

Whilst the CD4⁺ T cells were being collected from the LS Column, the infected macrophages were prepared for culture with T cells. Firstly, supernatant (500 μ I) was removed from the wells containing macrophages and centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 2 minutes to pellet bacteria. Macrophages were carefully washed with 200 μ I of PBS and 450 μ I of the supernatant was added produced during pneumococci infection. 50 μ I of isolated CD4⁺ T cells and 5 μ I of penicillin/streptomycin were added. Cells were incubated at 37^oC 5% CO₂ for 3-5 days before performing flow cytometry on cells to assess T cell differentiation (see 2.8.3). 5-18 hours prior to flow cytometry staining, 5 μ I of 1X Cell Stimulation CocktaiI (eBioscience) was added to cells to boost T cell activation. 5 μ I of 1X Protein Transport Inhibitor cocktaiI (eBioscience) was used as a control on unstimulated cells.

2.6 MLEC Luciferase TGF-\beta reporter assay

This bioassay is used to quantify TGF- β activity using mink lung epithelial cells (MLEC) permanently transfected with the expression construct p800neoLUC which contains a PAI-1 promoter fused to the firefly luciferase reporter gene. TGF- β is quantified based on its ability to upregulate PAI-1.²⁷¹.

2.6.1 Cell culture

MLEC cells were grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FBS, 1% Pen/strep and 200 μ g/ml G418 (Geneticin, Thermo Fisher Scientific) Cells were seeded for the assay by removing the media from flask, detaching the cells using Trypsin EDTA AT 37^oC for up to 10 minutes. Cells were then re-suspended to give 1.6×10^5 cells/ml in complete growth medium. Cells were seeding in a 96 well flat-bottom tissue culture plate (100μ l/well) and incubated for 3 hours to allow cells to attach.

2.6.2 Standard Luciferase assay

Culture medium was carefully removed from 96 well plate and 100μ l of test samples (lung or nasopharyngeal homogenates) were added. Purified TGF- β (diluted in DMEM 0.1% BSA) was used as a positive control and standard concentrations were from 0-2,500pg/ml. Cells, samples and positive controls were incubated overnight at 37°C 5%CO₂.

The following day, culture media/supernatant was removed and wells were washed three times with 100µl of cold PBS/well. 50µl of Lysis buffer (Promega Kit) was added to each well and incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature on a rocker to complete the lysis step. 30µl of cell lysate/well was then transferred into an opaque white fluorescent plate (Greiner Bio-One CELLSTAR plate). Using a BMG Omega Plate reader, 100µl of freshly prepared Luciferase Assay Reagent (800µM luciferin + 750µM ATP) provided in Promega Kit was added. The luciferase activity is recorded as relative light

units (RLU). These RLU values are converted to TGF- β activity (pg/ml) using the TGF- β standard curve.

2.7 Murine models of pneumococcal infection

The details of both mouse strains used in this thesis are detailed in table 6. After arrival into the Biomedical Services Unit, mice could acclimatise for one week. Mice were kept in groups of 5 in individually ventilated GM500 microisolator cage (IVC) racks. All murine experiments were conducted following the strict guidelines from the animal welfare committee and under authority of the UK Home Office licence (project licence PPL 40/3602, personal licence PIL 40/10905)

Strain	Age	Sex	Supplier
MF1	7-10 weeks	Female	Charles
(outbred)			River UK
BALB/c	7-10 weeks	Female	Harlan,
(inbred)			UK

Table 6. Murine strains used in models of pneumococcal infection

2.7.1 Dose preparation

Once stock had been prepared and the CFU determined, dosing for infection models could be done. Frozen 1ml aliquots of stock were thawed at room temperature and centrifuged at 10,000xg for 2 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and sterile PBS was added to dilute suspension to desired concentration (Table 7).

2.7.2 Intranasal infection

The intranasal route of infection was used to introduce pneumococci into the lungs to establish invasive pneumonia or nasopharynx for induction of carriage. See table below for doses and volumes:

Model	Inoculum dose	Inoculation volume	CFU/mI
Nasopharyngeal carriage	1X10 ⁵ cfu	10µl	1x10 ⁷
Invasive pneumonia	1x10 ⁶ cfu	50µl	2x10 ⁷

Table 7. Details of dose preparation for the different murine models of pneumococcal infection.

Mice were mildly anaesthetized with 2.5% v/v Isofluorane over oxygen (1.4-1.6 litres/min). When sufficiently anaesthetised, 10μ l of sterile PBS containing $1x10^5$ cfu of *S. pneumoniae* was equally distributed between both nostrils in a drop-wise fashion. Following the infection, the dose was measured for viable counts as described using the Miles and Misra method.

2.7.3 Intravenous infection

The intravenous route was used to introduce bacteria directly into blood to establish a bacteraemic infection. Mice were injected with 10^6 CFU in 50μ l of PBS into the tail vein.

2.7.4 Monitoring murine behaviour using a pain scoring system

Following all infections, mice were monitored closely for physical signs of disease. The scoring system below was used to assess the course of infection and the wellbeing of the mice. In all experiments, once the mice had reached a 'lethargic +/++' they were culled in accordance to the severity limits imposed by the UK Home Office Licence.

Score	Description	
Normal (0)	Mouse is moving around cage normally and	
	has a normal coat	
Hunched + (1)	Mouse is slightly arched over and walks on	
	tip toes	
Hunched ++ (2)	Mouse is very arched over and walks on ti	
	toes	
Starry/piloerect + (1)	The fur is upright around the neck area	
Starry/ piloerect ++ (2)	The coat is upright all over the mouse	
Lethargic + (5)	Mouse is slower moving around the cage	
Lethargic ++ (7)	Mouse is not moving around the cage unless	
	encouraged	
Moribund	Mouse has stopped moving, coat is start and	
	is upright, breathing is very laboured	

 Table 8. Details of the pain scoring system to monitor disease severity in mice. Numbers in brackets represent the pain score number given.

2.7.5 Infection studies: Lung, Nasopharyngeal, OB, OE and Brain tissue

Lung, nasopharynx, olfactory bulb (0B), olfactory epithelium (OE) and brain tissue were harvested and placed in bijou tubes containing 3mls of sterile PBS. If needed, the tissue weight was extrapolated by comparing weight of tube before and after the addition of the tissue. After weight was recorded, tissue was mechanically disrupted by homogenising for ~1minute with (IKA T10). 20μ l was then removed from the homogenate and used to assess for CFU numbers using the Miles and Misra method. The remaining homogenate was stored at -80^oC for any future cytokine analysis.

2.7.6 Blood tissue

Blood was collected by cardiac puncture under terminal anaesthesia or for live mice, a small volume was removed from the tail vein and placed in Eppendorf tubes containing 2μ I of Heparin (10units/mI, Sigma) to prevent the blood clotting. 20μ I of blood was then taken to assess the CFU levels by Miles and Misra method.

2.8 Cell population studies (NP and Lung, preparation and antibody staining acquisition and analysis)

2.8.1 Tissue preparation (murine lungs)

Lung tissue was harvested, weighed, placed into a petri dish and then cut into smaller pieces using a scalpel blade. To help release immune cells via enzymatic digestion, lung tissue it was placed in 1.5ml Eppendorf tubes containing 1ml of PBS and 10mg/ml of Collagenase D (Roche). The Eppendorf tubes were then incubated at 37° C for 30 minutes. After digestion, tissue was passed through a 40μ m cell strainer (BD Biosciences) and washed through twice with 3mls of sterile PBS to create a single cell suspension. Cell suspensions were then centrifuged at 400 x g for 5 minutes and supernatant was taken for storage at -80° C for cytokine analysis.

The cell pellet was re-suspended in 1x Red blood cell lysis buffer (Sigma) to lyse all red blood cells. After 5 minutes incubation, the reaction was quenched with PBS. The cell suspensions were then centrifuged at 400 x g for 5 minutes. Supernatant was then discard and cell pellet re-suspended in cryopreservation media, placed in a slow – freezing jar at -80°C. When needed, aliquots of cells were thawed quickly in the water bath.

2.8.2 Tissue preparation (Nasopharynx)

Nasopharyngeal tissue was harvested and placed into bijou tubes containing 3mls of sterile PBS. The tissue was then mechanically disrupted for ~ 1 minute using a homogeniser (IKA T10). The homogenised tissue was then passed through a 40μ m pore cell strainer and washed through twice with 3 mls of PBS to give a total volume of 6mls. The cell suspension was then centrifuged at $400 \times g$ for 5 minutes. Supernatant was aliquoted and stored at -80° C for later cytokine analysis. The cell pellet was either re-suspended in cryopreservation media or used for FACS analysis on the same day.

2.8.3 Flow cytometry

Nasopharynx and lung tissue were collected and prepared as described above (2.8.1 and 2.8.2). For staining and acquisition, samples were either thawed or used fresh from dissection. Cells were plated into a round bottom 96 well plate and washed twice with Facs buffer (PBS 2% FBS) before being incubated with a 1/200 dilution of purified anti- CD16/CD32 Fc blocking antibody (eBiosciences) for 30 minutes at room temperature. Following incubation with blocking antibody, cells were washed with Facs buffer, cell surface markers

were stained using a combination of monoclonal antibodies conjugated with FITC, PE, PE-Cy7 and APC fluorochromes (eBiosciences). An intracellular monoclonal antibody panel was used to detect both intracellular cytokines and transcription factors for different CD4⁺ T cell subsets. The samples were acquired using a BD FACSCalibur TM flow cytometer (BD Biosciences).

Target Cell	Antibodies used	Clone	Dilution	
Neutrophils	CD45 FITC	30-F11	1/200	
	CD11b PE	M1/70	1/600	
	Gr-1 PE-Cyanine	RB6-8CS	1/600	
Macrophages	CD45 FITC	30-F11	1/200	
	F4/80 APC	BM8	1/400	
	CD68 PE-cy7	FA-11	1/250	
	CD11c PE	N418	1/600	
T regulatory	CD4 PE-CY7	G.K 1.5	1/400	
cells	CD45 FITC	30-F11	1/200	
	FoxP3 PE	NRRF-30	1/400	
	TGFβ APC	TW7-16B4	1/400	
	or			
	IL-10 APC	JESS-16E3	1/400	
Th17 cells	CD4 PE-CY7	G.K 1.5	1/400	
	CD45 FITC	30-F11	1/200	
	ROR _Y T PE	AFKJS-9	1/400	
	IL-17Å APC	eBio17B7	1/400	
Th1 cells	CD4 PE-CY7	G.K 1.5	1/400	
	CD45 FITC	30-F11	1/200	
	Tbet PE	eBio4B10	1/400	
	IFNγ- APC	XMG102	1/400	
Th2 cells	CD4 PE-CY7	G.K 1.5	1/400	
	CD45 FITC	30-F11	1/200	
	GATA-3 PE	TWAJ	1/400	
	IL-4 APC	11B11	1/400	

Antibody panels used:

Table 9. Antibodies and dilutions used for FACS analysis of different cell types.

2.9 T cell re-stimulation assay

Mice were infected with either serotype 1 strain D25796 or serotype 2 strain D39. Mice were infected intranasally with a 10⁵ CFU of either strain and left for 28 days during which time nasopharyngeal carriage was established and bacteria eventually cleared by the host immune system (see 2.7.2). After 28 days, mice were sacrificed and cervical lymph nodes (CLN) were removed from each mouse and placed in 1ml of RPMI 5% FBS (Sigma-Aldrich). CLN were passed through 40µM cell strainers and washed through with 5ml of RPMI. Cells were counted and re-suspended to give a concentration of 10⁶ cells/100µl. Cells were then centrifuged at 400g for 5 minutes to create a cell pellet. Supernatant was removed and the pellet was re-suspended in fresh media. 100µl of cells were added per well of a 96 well tissue culture plate (Greiner). Bacteria were heat killed by incubating at 60[°]C for 1 hour and then were added to cells. 1x10⁶ CFU of serotype 1 strain (ST217 Sepsis) or serotype 2 strain D39 were added to cells along with 2µl/ml of Cell Stimulation Cocktail (eBioscience) and left to incubate at 37^oC 5% CO₂ for 16-18 hours. Staining for cell surface marker CD4 and intracellular cytokines was performed to assess T cell subsets induced from re-stimulation with serotype 1 or serotype 2 pneumococci (see 2.8.3 for FACS staining).

2.10 Pneumolysin ELISA

ELISAs were used to detect the amount of pneumolysin produced by different serotypes of S. pneumoniae (10⁷ cfu/ml) when bacteria were lysed with antibiotics over an hour at room temperature. The ELISA was also used to detect the amount of pneumolvsin released into the supernatant when 10^7 CFU/ml of S. pneumoniae were cultured in PBS for one hour. The pneumolysin detection ELISA was performed by coating 96 well flat bottom plates with 1ug/well of IgG1-PLY4 antibody (Abcam ab71810) in PBS. Plates were sealed and incubated overnight at 4[°]C. The following day, plates were washed, five times with Peprotech wash buffer (1.0% TWEEN-20 in PBS). Wells were then blocked for two hours at room temperature using 300ul/well of Peprotech Blocking Buffer (1% BSA in PBS). After the blocking stage, samples of bacteria supernatant or lysed bacteria along with the standards were added to the plate (100ul/well). The highest concentration of standard was optimised to be 200ng/ml. All plates contained a PBS negative control. The plate was then incubated for at least two hours at room temperature. After samples had been incubated, the plate was washed five times with wash buffer (1.0% TWEEN-20 in PBS). 1ug/ml of detection antibody (Anti-pneumolysin antibody PLY-4, Abcam ab71810) was added to the wells and incubated for two hours at room temperature. Plate was then washed five times with wash buffer (1.0% TWEEN-20 in PBS). Next, goat anti-rabbit IgG alkaline phosphatase (Abcam Ab97048) (1:5000 dilution) was added to wells for 30 minutes at room temperature. Plate was then washed five times with wash buffer (1.0% TWEEN-20 in PBS). The colour reagent Alkaline Phosphatase yellow pNNP (Sigma p7998) was added and plate incubated for 30 minutes in the dark. To

stop the reaction, 100µl of 1M NaOH was added and the absorbance of each plate was read at 405nm with an ELISA plate reader.

2.11 Triton X-100 induced autolysis assay

Triton X-100 induced autolysis assays were performed essentially as described previously with the following modifications ^{272,273}. Cultures of *S. pneumoniae* were cultured overnight in BHI broth at 37°C until an approximate A_{600} of one was obtained. Cultures were centrifuged for ten minutes at 3600g. Pellets were re-suspended in 1 ml of fresh PBS and the A_{600} was adjusted to one in one ml of PBS containing either 0.01% of Triton X-100 (Sigma) in a cuvette. Cuvettes were covered in parafilm and samples vortexed for 5 seconds. The A_{600} of the culture at time zero was noted and samples were incubated at 37°C and 180 rpm for 1 – 3 hours. The A_{600} was recorded every 15 minutes. Triton X-100 induced autolysis was presented as a percentage of the initial A600 at time zero. Each experiment was performed in triplicate.

2.12 LDH Cytotoxicity Assay

An LDH cytotoxicity kit (Thermo Scientific Pierce) was used to measure Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) which is a cytosolic enzyme present in many cell types. When the plasma membrane of a cell is damaged, LDH is released into the cell culture media and is therefore an indicator of cellular toxicity.

 50μ l of cell supernatant was transferred into a 96 well plate and incubated with 50μ l of reaction mixture (LDH cytotoxicity kit, Thermo Scientific) and incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes before the addition of 50μ l/well of stop

solution (LDH cytotoxicity kit, Thermo Scientific). Absorbance was measured at 490nm and 680nm on a Spectrophotometer.

2.13 Transepithelial Electrical Resistance measurements (TEER)

2.13.1 A549 Human alveolar epithelial cell culture

Human lung adenocarcinoma epithelial cell line (A549) was used to mimic bacterial lung infections *in vitro*. A549 cells were maintained with DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS. Cells were detached from tissue culture flask using Trypsin-EDTA and 500 μ l of cells (2x10⁵cells/ml) were seeded onto Greiner Inserts (0.94cm² surface area, 3 μ m pore diameter). Inserts were placed into a 12 well tissue culture plate (Greiner) with 1.5ml of media and incubated at 37^oC 5% CO₂ for three days before infection with bacteria.

2.13.2 Bacterial infection

Frozen bacterial stocks were thawed, washed with PBS and re-suspended to a desired final concentration in DMEM+10% FBS. 500μ l of bacterial suspension was added to the tissue culture inserts. For control wells, media was removed and replaced with 500μ l of fresh media.

2.13.4 Transepithelial Electrical Resistance measurement (TEER)

TEER was measured in Ohms using an EVOM2 Epithelial Voltohmeter (WPI). The mean of three readings per insert was calculated. Wells with media only (no cells) used as blank measurement which was subtracted from each insert. Blank corrected resistance values were then multiplied by 0.94 (the surface area of insert) to give a TEER reading in Ohms $x \text{ cm}^2$.

2.13.5 Liposome treatment

Cholesterol:sphingomyelin (66mol/%cholesterol) and sphingomyelin-only liposomes were provided by Lascco (Geneva Switzerland – product name CAL02). In all experiments a concentration of 2μ g/ml of liposomes was used. In the supernatant swap experiments, $2x10^7$ CFU of bacteria were prepared in 1ml of PBS. After 45 minutes of incubation at room temperature, the bacteria were pelleted and the supernatants removed to a fresh Eppendorf tube. 2ug/ml of Cholesterol:sphingomyelin (66mol/%cholesterol) and sphingomyelin-only liposomes were added to the supernatants for 30 minutes. After 30 minutes, Eppendorfs of bacterial supernatant were centrifuged at 400g for 5 minutes to pellet liposomes. Liposome-treated bacterial supernatant was then removed and used to re-suspend the pelleted bacteria prior to intranasal infection of mice.

2.14 Haemolytic Assays

10mls of Sheep Blood (Sigma) was centrifuged at 3000rpm for 14 minutes at 4^{0} C and supernatant was removed. 400µl of blood pellet was added to 10mls of PBS to make a 4% RBC solution. Bacterial stocks were thawed, centrifuged at 10,000g for ten minutes and re-suspended in PBS to give a concentration of 1x10⁷CFU/ML. Bacteria were then lysed using Penicillin and Streptomycin antibiotics for 30 minutes at room temperature. 50µl of lysed bacteria was taken and placed in the first row of wells in a round bottom microplate with

 50μ I of 4% RBC solution. Bacteria was then diluted two-fold with 4% RBC solution before culture at 37° C for 30 minutes. After incubation, plate was centrifuged at 1000rpm for 1 minutes and supernatant was removed from each well (without disturbing pellet) and transferred into a fresh flat-bottomed 96 well microplate. The OD was measured at 540nm on a spectrometer to determine the levels of haemoglobin released upon culture with lysates from different serotypes of *S. pneumoniae*.

2.15 Statistical analysis

GraphPad Prism 6 software was used to create all the graphs shown in this thesis. All statistical analysis was carried out using the GraphPad Prism statistical package.

One and two way ANOVAs were used and statistical significance was categorized as *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001.

Investigating the role of Streptococcus pneumoniae African Serotype 1 capsule in nasopharyngeal carriage and invasive disease

Chapter 3

Investigating the role of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* African Serotype 1 capsule in nasopharyngeal carriage and invasive disease.

3.1 Introduction

Serotype 1 pneumococci are among the most common serotypes isolated from invasive disease cases in sub-Saharan Africa but are rarely found causing asymptomatic nasopharyngeal carriage ⁴⁴. We can understand more about serotype-1 disease pathogenesis by focusing on the role of the polysaccharide capsule - a major bacterial virulence factor - in carriage, invasive disease and interaction with the host immune response.

The aim of this work was to elucidate the role of polysaccharide capsule in both carriage and invasive serotype 1 pneumococcal disease. Firstly, growth rates, C3b complement deposition, resistance to opsonophagocytosis killing, and quantification of capsule thickness assays were performed (see Materials and Methods sections 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4). The aim of these assays was to compare *in vitro* characteristics of a serotype 1 nasopharyngeal carriage isolate (W000168) to serotype 1 isolates from blood (D25796) and cerebral spinal fluid (C9471). Further details of each isolate can be found in Table 5.

Having obtained these results, pathogenesis of the three isolates was compared in murine models of pneumococcal infection (Materials and Methods section 2.7). Intranasal infections were performed to establish nasopharyngeal carriage and pneumonia infection models. For the murine

sepsis models, bacteria were intravenously injected into the tail veins of mice. Mice were monitored for signs of disease, survival rates recorded and bacteria densities monitored over time.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Growth Curves

As bacterial growth rates can be an indicator of their invasive potential in the host ²⁷⁴, the growth rates of carriage (W000168), sepsis (D25796) and meningitis (C9471) ST217 serotype 1 isolates were compared *in vitro* (Figure 7).



Figure 7 Growth curves of sepsis (D25796), meningitis (C9471) and carriage (W000168) ST217 serotype 1 isolates in BHI over time. Data shown as mean Optical Density (OD_{500}) of bacterial cultures determined 60 minutes until 7 hours and then every 30 minutes until stationary phase at 9 hours. Growth of each isolate was measures in duplicate. Data presented as mean and SEM. Statistical analysis was performed by Two-way ANOVAs (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01,***P < 0.005, or *****P < 0.001)

As shown in figure 7, all isolates show a similar overall pattern of growth with all remaining in the lag phase for the first three hours. This phase is characterized by little to no growth as bacteria are adjusting to the environment²⁷⁵.

Growth rates appear to be similar in both the meningitis and sepsis isolates while carriage isolates follow a similar trend but have significantly slower growth during the second phase, known as the log or exponential phase. This phase is characterized by a rapid increase in bacterial numbers. In pathogenic species, it is usually in the log phase that disease symptoms occur due to expanding bacterial populations which cause the most tissue damage in the host ²⁷⁵. At the 7 hour timepoint, Meningitis and Sepsis isolates enter the late exponential phase with a significantly higher OD reading (P<0.005) compared to the Carriage isolates which enter late exponential phase at 7.5 hours.

The final stage is the stationary phase, when population growth levels off as the rate of cell death begins to equal the rate of cell division. Bacteria stop replicating due to exhaustion of nutrients available and buildup of toxic waste products detrimental to bacterial growth²⁷⁵. At 8 hours, Meningitis and Sepsis isolates reach stationary phase. Meningitis isolates appear to reach stationary phase at a significantly higher OD compared to sepsis isolates (P<0.005). An hour later carriage isolates reached stationary phase and at ten hours, both carriage and sepsis isolates remain in stationary phase at a significantly lower OD compared to meningitis isolates. These results suggest that sepsis and meningitis invasive isolates could have greater invasive potential due to faster growth during exponential phase compared to a nasopharyngeal carriage serotype 1 isolate. These results also indicate that meningitis may have a greater ability to utilize nutrients in BHI due to higher OD readings during stationary phase.

3.3.2 Polysaccharide capsule thickness

The polysaccharide capsule surrounding *S. pneumoniae* protects the bacteria from the host immune response and aids bacterial virulence. However, the role of the capsule in nasopharyngeal carriage is still not fully understood. FITC-dextran staining (Section 2.2) was used to quantify the size of the bacterial capsule and compare capsule sizes of carriage (W000168) and invasive isolates (D25796 and C9471) when cultured in BHI + 10% FCS medium (Figure 8).







F

Figure 8 Capsule thickness of serotype 1 ST217 isolates. 100x magnification images of (A) Carriage W000168, (B) Sepsis D25796, (C) Meningitis C9471, serotype 1 ST217 isolates and comparison with (D) serotype 2 strain D39 and (E) its unencapsulated mutant. (F) Mean area of sepsis, carriage and meningitis isolates plus D39 and unencapsulated D39 mutant. Error bars represent Mean and SEM. Statistical analysis was performed using One-way ANOVAs. (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01,***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001)

FITC-Dextran assays are a method of providing a physiologically relevant measure of capsule thickness ⁷⁵. Results obtained demonstrate differences in capsule thickness of serotype 1 isolates taken from difference tissues (blood, nasopharynx and CSF). D25796 sepsis isolate has a significantly thicker capsule compared to carriage and meningitis isolates.

3.3.3 Differences in resistance to complement deposition

Significant differences in capsule thickness were observed between three ST217 isolates (Figure 8). As capsule thickness has been reported to correlate with resistance to complement deposition on the bacterial surface,⁷⁰ complement deposition assays measuring the amount of C3b deposition on the surface of bacteria were performed (Figure 9).

Resistance to complement deposition correlated with capsule thickness when comparing sepsis and carriage isolates. ST217 sepsis isolate has a significantly thicker capsule compared to the carriage isolate and had significantly lower levels of C3b deposited on the bacterial surface (P<0.05). The meningitis isolate however, has a thinner capsule than the sepsis isolate but demonstrates significantly lower levels of complement deposition.



Complement deposition

Figure 9. C3b deposition on the surface of serotype 1 isolates. Data presented as mean fluorescent intensity ±SEM. Experiments were performed in triplicate as described in Materials and Methods section 2.4). C3b deposition is expressed as Fluorescence Index (FI) = mean fluorescence intensity X % of C3b⁺ bacteria). Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA. (* P<0.05, ** P<0.01).

3.3.4 Opsonophagocytosis assays:

Phagocytosis of *S. pneumoniae* by neutrophils is a vital part of the host immune defence and is largely dependent on complement activation²⁷⁰. A human neutrophil cell line (HL-60) was incubated with *S. pneumoniae* and human complement, to examine the phagocytic capability of neutrophils against the three ST217 serotype 1 isolates (Figure 10).



Figure 10 Opsonophagocytosis of African Serotype 1 isolates by neutrophil cell line, HL-60. Results are shown from one experiment performed in duplicate (Materials and Methods section 2.3). The isolates used were three ST217 isolates: Sepsis (D25796), Carriage (W000168) and Meningitis (C9471). Data represented as mean ± SEM. Human serum was used as a complement source and diluted 1:4 ratio in PBS.
Results in figure 10 show that serotype 1 carriage (W000168) isolate appears to be highly susceptible to phagocytosis as we observe over 40% killing of the total bacterial population, although no significant differences were observed between isolates. This is compared with a sepsis (D25796) serotype 1 isolate where less than 20% of bacteria are killed. This data correlates with capsule thickness, suggesting that a thicker capsule can protect from phagocytosis. The meningitis isolate appears to not fit with the current dogma as it shows significantly lower levels of surface complement deposition but this does not correlate with resistance to phagocytosis when compared to the sepsis isolate.

3.3.5 Murine model of nasopharyngeal carriage

Animal models have been widely used to study the pathogenesis of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* ²⁷⁶. There have been many reports published on virulence of different serotypes but relatively little is known about the pathogenesis of African serotype 1 *in vivo*. Since serotype 1 is known for having a high attack rate despite rarely being detected in the nasopharynx ²⁷⁷, murine carriage models were used to study the density and duration of serotype 1 colonisation of the nasopharynx of mice. Mice were intranasally infected with 10⁵ CFU of either ST217 sepsis (D25796), carriage (W000168) or meningitis (C9471) to establish nasopharyngeal colonization (Materials and Methods 2.7.2). Mice were culled at pre-determined timepoints and bacterial density in the nasopharynx was recorded.

The *in vitro* characterisation of three ST217 isolates showed differences in capsule thickness, complement deposition and resistance to phagocytosis (figures 8-10). A well-established murine nasopharyngeal carriage model was

used to examine whether the phenotypic differences observed *in vitro* resulted in a difference in the ability of each isolate to colonise the nasopharynx (Figure 11).



Nasopharyngeal Carriage CFU Data

Figure 11 The establishment of murine nasopharyngeal carriage by different serotype 1 isolates. Results are shown as a time course of 7 days during which bacterial numbers in the nasopharynx of MF-1 mice were recorded at set time points. Results are shown as CFU/ml of individual mice. Statistical analysis was performed using Two way ANOVAs.

Figure 11 demonstrates that all isolates were able to establish asymptomatic nasopharyngeal carriage for 7 days at a density between 10³ and10⁴ CFU/ml. All three isolates were able to maintain stable density of bacteria over the course of seven days and no significant difference was seen in the bacterial numbers at day 7 which demonstrates that serotype 1 pneumococci isolated from both patients with invasive disease and asymptomatic carriage are able to successfully establish carriage in a naïve murine nasopharynx.

3.3.5.1 Serotype 1 colonisation of deeper tissues of the upper airway

Current literature suggests that serotype 1 is not able to colonise the nasopharynx with the same success as other serotypes of *S. pneumoniae*²³⁸. This theory is supported by rare detection of serotype 1 by nasopharyngeal swabs or washes both in areas of current disease outbreaks and routine nasopharyngeal swabbing around sub-Saharan Africa ⁴⁴. To further understand why serotype 1 carriage detection rates are so low, a more sophisticated murine model of nasopharyngeal carriage was established. In this experiment, colonisation patterns of serotype 1 in deeper tissues of the upper airway such as the olfactory epithelium, the olfactory bulb and the pharynx (Figure 12) were investigated as a potential reservoir for serotype 1 carriage that may explain why it is rarely isolated from nasopharyngeal swabs (see Materials and Methods section 2.7.2).



Figure 12 Diagram showing the areas of the upper airway that have the potential to be colonised by serotype 1. Areas of interest are Olfactory epithelium, Olfactory bulb, and Pharynx. Image taken from ©2004 Texas Histopages.





Figure 13 Streptococcus pneumoniae serotype 1 colonisation of deeper tissues of the upper airway. MF1 mice were intranasally infected with serotype 1 isolate (D25796, Sepsis) at a concentration of 10^5 CFU in 10µl of PBS. At days 1,3,7 and 10 post infection mice were culled and CFU counts performed on tissue from the nasopharynx, olfactory bulb (OB), olfactory epithelium (OE) and pharynx. 5 mice per timepoint. Data presented as mean ± SEM. No statistical analysis performed.

Figure 13 demonstrates that during a nasopharyngeal carriage episode, serotype 1 can invade local tissues and successfully colonise these areas for at least seven days. Invasion of the olfactory bulb and epithelium by bacteria is thought to increase chances of meningitis occurring due to the proximity to the brain ²⁷⁸. It appears from these findings that African serotype 1 favours colonisation of the tissues above the nasopharynx compared to that of the pharynx where we observe poor colonisation rates with 3-4 mice per group not able to establish carriage. (Serotype 1 colonisation of OE and OB are compared to Serotype 2 strain D39 in chapter 5)

3.3.5.2 Changes in polysaccharide capsule thickness over the duration of nasopharyngeal carriage

Data from murine colonisation models suggest that serotype 1 can successfully colonise the nasopharynx and other tissues in the upper airway (Figure 13). To examine how isolate phenotype might change over the course of nasopharyngeal colonisation, capsule thickness measurements (Materials and Methods 2.2) were performed on serotype 1 (Sepsis D25796) isolated at days 2, 7 and 14 post-infection (Figure 14).



Figure 14. Changes in capsule thickness over the duration of nasopharyngeal carriage. Female MFI mice were intranasally inoculated with serotype 1 (D25976, Sepsis) *S. pneumoniae*. 5 mice were culled per time-point and bacteria collected, pooled and made into bead stocks for FITC-dextran analysis of capsule thickness. Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA. (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01,***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001)

Results presented here (Figure 14) show that serotype 1 capsule thickness increases significantly in the nasopharynx within the first 48 hours of infection. Serotype 1 capsule then decreases from day 2 to 7 and then further decreases by day 14 but remains significantly increased over all time points compared to the original stock isolates used for the infection.

3.3.5.3 Complement deposition resistance and association with changes in capsule thickness during serotype 1 colonisation of the nasopharynx.

It has been widely published that increased capsule thickness correlates with increased protection from C3b complement deposition ²⁷⁰. With significant changes observed in capsule thickness over 14 days in the nasopharynx, we wanted to examine the effect this had on C3b complement deposition on isolates taken at different time-points during nasopharyngeal carriage.



C3b Complement Deposition

Figure 15. Changes in complement deposition over duration of nasopharyngeal carriage. Female MFI mice were intranasally inoculated with serotype 1 *S. pneumoniae* (D25796, Sepsis). 5 mice were culled per time-point and bacteria collected, pooled and made

into bead stocks for C3b deposition on bacterial surface. C3b deposition was measured in triplicate on two independent days. C3b deposition is expressed as Fluorescence Index (FI) = mean fluorescence intensity X % of C3b⁺ bacteria). One-way ANOVA test was used for statistical analysis whereby Day 2,7 and 14 isolates were compared to stock isolate. (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01,***P < 0.005, or *****P < 0.001)

The results in Figure 14 and 15 demonstrate an inverse correlation between serotype 1 capsule thickness and the amount of complement deposition on the surface of bacteria. C3b complement deposition of serotype 1 isolates in the nasopharynx is reduced in the first two days of infection as capsule thickness increases. The amount of C3b deposition on the bacterial surface increases on day 14 which correlates with the decrease in capsule thickness from day 7 to day 14 post infection.

These results suggest that serotype 1 can rapidly adapt to the environment of the nasopharynx by significantly increasing capsule thickness, and thus reducing complement deposition of the surface of the bacteria.



3.3.8 Host immune cell responses during nasopharyngeal carriage

Figure 16 Changes in host immune response during serotype 1 nasopharyngeal colonisation. (A) bacterial load (CFU) per mg nasopharynx at time-points over 21 days of colonisation. 5 mice/group. Flow cytometric analysis of (B) Neutrophils (CD45⁺ CD11b⁺ and Gr1⁺), (C) FoxP3 T regulatory cells (CD45⁺, CD4⁺, Foxp3⁺) and (D) T_H17 cells (CD45⁺, CD4⁺, RORyt⁺ and IL-17⁺) in nasopharynx. One-way ANOVA test was used for statistical analysis (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01,***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001)

Changes in capsule thickness and resistance to complement deposition during serotype 1 colonisation of the nasopharynx may be in response to signals received from the host immune system. The immune cell profiles of cells associated with nasopharyngeal carriage was examined over 14 days (Figure 16). Serotype 1 (D25796) was able to successfully colonise for at least 14 days in the nasopharynx with all mice clearing the infection by 21 days post infection. Results demonstrate little difference in the innate immune response (neutrophils) at 7 days post-infection. However, an increase in neutrophil numbers is observed at day 14. As no bacterial colonies are detected at 21 days post infection in the nasopharynx, the increase of neutrophil numbers at day 14 may contribute to bacterial clearance.

At 14 days post infection increases in cells of the adaptive immune response such as Th17 cells was observed. These may also contribute to bacterial clearance. An increase in T regulatory cells at day 14 was noted and may represent a response to an increase in inflammation during bacterial clearance. Further analysis is needed to define all cell types involved in clearance of the bacteria in the nasopharynx. This is examined further in results chapter 5.

3.3.5 Murine models of invasive pneumococcal disease

Comparison of serotype 1 isolates in a murine pneumonia model

As no difference was seen in the ability of different serotype 1 ST217 isolates to establish nasopharyngeal carriage despite significant *in vitro* phenotypic differences, isolates were compared in an *in vivo* invasive pneumonia model (Figure 11). I aimed to assess whether the differences in capsule size, complement deposition and resistance to phagocytosis seen in the *in vitro* phenotyping assays correlated with differences in disease severity during lung infection. Previous work has shown that strains producing more capsule *in vitro* are more virulent *in vivo*²⁷⁹, however, differences of capsule expression within the same serotype and the effect it has on virulence has not previously been examined.



Figure 17. Schematic representation of in vivo murine pneumonia model, including disease progression from pneumonia to sepsis. Mice are intranasally infected with *S. pneumoniae*. Bacteria in 50µl move straight down into the lungs and establish pneumonia. Bacteria can be cleared from the lungs or disseminate into the bloodstream. If bacteria continue to multiply in the blood then a systemic infection occurs and leads to death.

Mice were intranasally infected with either meningitis, carriage or sepsis serotype 1 ST217 isolates. Mean survival times, pain scores and blood and lung bacterial load for pneumococcal pneumonia model were recorded to compare the virulence of the serotype 1 isolates (figure 18).



Figure 18 Comparison of Serotype 1 isolates in a murine pneumonia model. Mice were administered 10⁶ S. *pneumoniae* intranasally on day 0. Mice were monitored closely for signs of ill health and once mice became lethargic, they were culled and time of death noted. A) Tail bleeds were performed at 6, 12 and 24 hours to examine blood CFU levels. B) Mean survival time for each mouse. C) Pain scores were determined for infected mice until time of death D) Kaplan Meier Survival Curve. Error bars represent the standard error of the mean.

Results in Figure 18 show no difference in virulence between carriage, meningitis and sepsis serotype 1 isolates in a pneumonia model of infection. There was no difference between the three groups in mean survival times or pain scores of infected mice. There was also no difference in bacterial loads in the blood at 12 and 24 hours post infection. The only difference seen was that 20% of sepsis isolate (D25796) infected mice had bacterial dissemination from lungs into blood at 6 hours post infection compared to 0% in carriage and meningitis isolate groups. However, at 12 and 24 hours post infection there was no difference in blood bacterial loads between three serotype 1 isolates.

3.3.6 Comparison of serotype 1 isolates in a murine model of sepsis

No differences in disease severity where observed between three serotype 1 isolates in a pneumonia murine model of infection (Figure 18). To check for differences in virulence during sepsis, bacteria were directly administered into in the bloodstream. Mice were intravenously infected with either carriage, sepsis or meningitis serotype 1 ST217 isolates and survival times, blood cfu counts and pain scores were recorded (Figure 19). At time of death, the bacterial load in the lungs was also noted.



Figure 19. Comparison of Serotype 1 isolates in a murine sepsis model. Mice were administered 10⁶ *S. pneumoniae* intravenously on day 0. A) Tail bleeds were performed at 6, 12 and 24 hours to examine blood CFU levels. B) At time of death, Lung CFU values were examined. C) Mean survival times and D) Kaplan-Meier survival curve. E) Pain scores were determined for infected mice until time of death Error bars represent the standard error of the mean.

These experiments demonstrated no differences in the lung or blood CFU counts, mean survival time or pain scores between three serotype 1 isolates in a murine model of sepsis (Figure 19). Thus, site of bacterial isolation, for example, lungs and nasopharynx can influence capsule thickness as seen *in vitro* but ultimately this does not lead to differences in virulence in murine models of infection.

3.3.7 Changes in capsule thickness during invasive pneumococcal disease.

Serotype 1 isolates from the nasopharynx, CSF and blood have significant phenotypic differences *in vitro* which did not translate to differences in virulence and ability to colonise in murine models. I hypothesised that this may be due to rapid compensatory changes in capsule thickness and therefore resistance to complement deposition in the host following infection. To test this hypothesis, a pneumonia infection model was performed in mice with carriage, sepsis and meningitis isolates (figure 20) to examine how capsule thickness changes over the course of infection and between different anatomical compartments of the host (figure 21A-C). Furthermore, the effect of these changes on susceptibility to complement deposition was examined (figure 21D-F).







Figure 21 Changes in capsule thickness and susceptibility to complement deposition during pneumococcal pneumonia. The capsule thickness of (A) Carriage W000168, (B) Sepsis D25796, (C) Meningitis C9471 ST217 serotype 1 isolates was measured using FITC-dextran analysis. C3b deposition assays were performed (in triplicate) on (D)Carriage, (E) Sepsis, (F) Meningitis ST217 serotype 1 isolates Data presented as mean ± SEM. One-way ANOVA test was used for statistical analysis (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01,***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001).

Results demonstrate that changes in capsule thickness follow the same patterns for all three isolates. Capsule thickness increases significantly in the lungs but then decreases slightly in blood compared to lungs (figure 21A-C). In contrast to a clear pattern of capsule thickness changes, the changes in complement deposition do not appear to follow any pattern between the isolates (figure 21D-F).



Figure 22. Resistance to complement deposition varies in serotype 1 isolates in the lungs and blood despite no differences in capsule thickness. Data from figure 21 has been re-arranged to compare C3b deposition on three serotype 1 isolates in the blood and also in the lungs. (A) Capsule thickness of sepsis, carriage, meningitis serotype 1 isolated from blood. (B) C3b deposition on sepsis, carriage and meningitis serotype 1 isolated from blood. (C) Capsule thickness of sepsis, carriage, meningitis serotype 1 isolated from blood. (C) Capsule thickness of sepsis, carriage, meningitis serotype 1 isolated from lungs (D) C3b deposition on sepsis, carriage and meningitis serotype 1 isolated from lungs. One-way ANOVA test was used for statistical analysis (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001).

One interesting observation from these data is that when all ST217 isolates were recovered from the blood at 24 hours post infection, there were no differences in capsule thickness (Figure 22A) but there were significant differences in C3b surface deposition, with the sepsis isolate significantly more resistant to C3b deposition than either the carriage or meningitis isolate (Figure 22B). The reverse effect is seen for isolates taken from the lungs, where the meningitis isolate proved most resistant and the sepsis isolate most susceptible to C3b deposition (Figure 22D). Thus, when the sepsis isolate is in the blood, the complement deposition is low compared to the meningitis isolate from the lungs at the same time-point, the trend is reversed with sepsis isolate having high complement deposition and the meningitis isolate low. These results suggest that the meningitis isolate may not be as well adapted to survive in the blood as the sepsis isolate.

3.3.8 Sepsis survival experiment with murine *ex vivo* blood serotype 1 ST217 isolates

To follow on from the observations in Figure 22, I examined whether ST217 isolates with differences in resistance to complement deposition, that had been acquired in murine blood, resulted in differences in virulence in a sepsis infection model in naïve mice. Figure 23 shows a schematic representing the experimental set up.



24 hours PI. Bacteria collected from lungs and blood



Mice were infected intranasally with ST217 stocks from either nasopharynx, CSF or blood. After 24 hours, bacteria were isolated from the blood and renamed carriage blood, meningitis blood and sepsis blood, respectively. Previously, the meningitis blood and sepsis blood isolates had significantly different levels of complement deposition on the surface despite no difference in capsule thickness (Figure 22). To examine whether this equated to differences in virulence in the blood, naïve mice were intravenously injected with the three ex vivo blood isolates and survival times of infected mice were recorded (Figure 24).



A Survival proportions: Ex vivo blood isolate comparison

Figure 24 Comparison of ex vivo serotype 1 isolates in sepsis infection model. Mice were infected IV and monitored closely for signs of ill-heath. If infected mice became lethargic, they were culled, survival times noted and CFU from blood determined by Miles and Misra. A) Kaplan Meier survival curve showing survival times of mice infected with carriage blood, meningitis blood and sepsis blood ex vivo murine isolates. B) Mean survival times 5 mice/group C) Bacterial blood density at time of death. Data shown as Mean ± SEM.

Results demonstrate that the significant differences in complement deposition for the sepsis blood isolate compared to carriage and meningitis blood isolates correlate with differences in virulence in a sepsis model (Figure 24). Sepsis blood isolates have significantly lower C3b surface deposition and increased virulence and higher mortality rates are seen in infected mice compared those infected with meningitis and carriage blood isolates. Results show 100% mortality in the sepsis blood infected mice, however only 60% mortality in mice infected with carriage blood isolates and 80% mortality in meningitis blood infected mice (Figure 24A). Results also show that 20% of meningitis and carriage groups were able to clear bacteria from the blood by 96 hours post infection (Figure 24C).

3.3.9 Sepsis survival comparisons from niche-adapted ST217 isolates

I next determined whether isolates passaged through the nasopharynx, lungs or blood showed altered virulence in an invasive disease model in mice. An ST217 sepsis isolate was introduced into the nasopharynx and left to colonise for 14 days before removal (D14 Carriage isolates). In another group of mice, ST217 isolates were intranasally infected to induce pneumonia. After 24 hours post infection, bacteria were isolated from lungs and blood and renamed 24hour lung isolates and blood isolates respectively. These ex vivo ST217 isolates were then intravenously infected into a naïve mouse and survival rates and times were compared (Figure 25).



Figure 25. Schematic representation of experiment. 5 female MF1 mice were used per group.



Figure 26. Comparison of tissue-passaged serotype 1 isolates in a sepsis infection model. Mice were infected IV and monitored closely for signs of ill-heath. If infected mice became lethargic, they were culled, survival times noted and CFU from blood determined by Miles and Misra dilution. A) Kaplan Meier survival curve showing survival times of mice infected with D14 carriage, 24hr lung and 24hr blood ex vivo murine isolates. B) Mean survival times 5 mice/group C) Bacterial blood density at time of death (CFU/ml)

А

С

Results show that ST217 isolates that have been passaged through lungs, blood and nasopharynx show no difference in overall mortality rates when compared in a sepsis model of infection (Figure 26A). However, there is a difference in the survival times between the groups, with 100% mortality in mice infected with blood isolates occurring by 58 hours post infection compared to carriage and lung isolates which take over 96 hours.

3.4 Discussion

The polysaccharide capsule forms the outermost layer of the pneumococcus and is attached to the surface of the cell wall peptidoglycan.⁸⁰ Due to the pioneering work by Griffith, who reported that unencapsulated pneumococci were virtually avirulent, the capsule is now recognised as a key virulence factor of the pneumococcus.²⁸⁰ The capsule helps to protect the bacteria from the host's innate immune responses by forming an inert shield that appears to have a capacity to resist phagocytosis ⁷³. The virulence of *S. pneumoniae* seems to relate to capsule expression of a particular strain and serotype, with pneumococci from different capsular polysaccharide (CPS) serotypes differing in their capacity to cause disease, presumably reflecting their ability to resist complement deposition and subsequently phagocytosis by host immune cells²⁷⁹. Published work has suggested a link between capsule thickness and colonization preference, with Weinburger et al suggesting that increased carriage prevalence is associated with heavier encapsulation for protection from neutrophil mediated killing ⁷⁹. However, published data also states that thicker capsule inhibits bacterial adherence to respiratory cells and may therefore affect ability to colonise 77. Hammerschmidt et al have shown intimate contact between bacteria and epithelial cells using electron

microscopy, suggesting thinner capsule is needed for adherence during colonisation ⁷⁷.

For this chapter of work, experiments were designed to focus on studying the polysaccharide capsule, a major virulence factor of *S. pneumoniae*. The capsule is the current target of pneumococcal vaccines but little is understood about its role in both carriage and invasive disease in the context of serotype 1 infection.

In vitro experiments were performed to compare phenotypic characteristics between three ST217 serotype 1 isolates from different niches in the host. This work began by comparing growth rates, capsule thickness, complement deposition and resistance to phagocytosis in serotype 1 bacteria isolated from human nasopharynx with invasive isolates from blood and CSF. The in vitro assays performed showed significant differences in phenotypic characteristics between ST217 from nasopharynx (NP), cerebral spinal fluid (CFS) and blood. Capsule thickness assays demonstrated that a serotype 1 isolate taken from human blood (sepsis) had a significantly thicker capsule compared to D39, and carriage and meningitis serotype 1 isolates. There were no significant differences seen in the capsule size of carriage verses meningitis serotype 1 isolates. These results may reflect the need for a thicker capsule to protect from high complement levels in blood²⁷⁰, however, when *S. pneumoniae* resides in the nasopharynx it is seen as a commensal bacterium that can horizontally transmit to other hosts with minimal activation of the host immune response. Therefore, a large, nutrient-demanding capsule is not required⁷⁵ and this is supported by the results presented here. The meningitis isolate was found to have a significantly smaller capsule compared to the sepsis

isolate which may help progression across the blood-brain barrier to cause meningitis. The thicker recorded diameter of D39 compared to its unencapsulated demonstrates that this method of capsule quantification is accurate and reliable.

Increased capsule thickness is known to correlate with increased protection from phagocytosis by blocking deposition and function of opsonins such as complement directed against cell surface antigens ²⁶³. Levels of C3b complement deposition on the surface of serotype 1 isolates were measured. When comparing sepsis and carriage serotype 1 isolates, there was a correlation between increased capsule thickness and decreased complement deposition which resulted in lower levels of phagocytosis. Levels of C3b complement on the surface of the meningitis serotype 1 isolate was significantly lower than both sepsis and carriage isolates. However, this failed to correlate with increased protection from phagocytosis, thus suggesting other factors affecting phagocytosis resistance may be important.

In addition to capsule, *S. pneumoniae* has evolved a number of mechanisms to evade complement-mediated immunity. These include binding of the host inhibitor of the alternative pathway inhibitor factor H (FH) to cell wall proteins PspC and PhtD²⁸¹. Capsule is known to affect FH binding, therefore differences in capsule thickness may affect FH binding²⁷⁰ and may result in resistance to complement deposition as seen here between serotype 1 isolates.

These results suggest that capsule thickness could be the key to resistance to phagocytosis and amount of complement deposition on the surface of bacteria

plays a less important role in comparison. Further work is needed to elucidate the levels of FH binding on the surface of the ST217 serotypes tested and its significance in resistance to phagocytosis.

To investigate the role of serotype 1 capsule in carriage and invasive disease, in vivo models of asymptomatic carriage and invasive pneumococcal pneumonia and sepsis were used to compare ST217 isolates. Despite differences in capsule thickness, complement deposition and resistance to phagocytosis, ST217 isolates showed no difference in virulence in both sepsis and pneumonia models or establishment of nasopharyngeal colonisation. Further investigation into serotype 1 nasopharyngeal carriage demonstrated that serotype 1 pneumococci was able to successfully colonise a murine nasopharynx for over 14 days. Therefore, the idea that serotype 1 is a poor coloniser may be unjust as it is able to colonise the murine nasopharynx and in addition, olfactory areas of the upper airway, which may not be readily detected using current wash or swabbing techniques in humans. However, our murine carriage models do not completely represent the human nasopharynx which would have many species of bacteria, potentially including other pneumococci, which serotype 1 would need to compete with. It is worth considering that serotype 1 may be a poor competitor in the nasopharynx when other pneumococci and bacterial species are present, resulting in low carriage detection.

As bacterial capsule is a target in the current PCV13 vaccination, changes in capsule expression over duration of colonisation and immune cell mediated

clearance in the nasopharynx were investigated. Close examination of changes in capsule thickness over the course of serotype 1 murine nasopharyngeal colonisation showed fast and significant changes occurring within two days. Current understanding of the role of capsule during colonisation varies from needing a large, thick capsule to protect from phagocytosis to a thin capsule being advantageous for bacterial adhesion to local epithelial cells ⁷⁰ ²⁷⁰ ⁷⁷. My data have shown that serotype 1 capsule increased significantly in the nasopharynx compared to the original infection stock. Presence of a thick capsule during serotype 1 carriage will likely offer protection to the bacteria from the host immune response. This may allow serotype 1 not only to colonise the nasopharynx but also deeper tissues such as olfactory epithelium and olfactory bulb. It is not clear whether the ability of serotype 1 to invade these tissues is directly linked to capsule thickness but these results do demonstrate the ability of serotype 1 to readily invade local tissues and may point to a potential mechanism for the high rates of invasive disease seen with serotype 1.

Changes in capsule expression during invasive pneumonia was also studied. Mice were intranasally infected with either carriage, meningitis or sepsis ST217 isolates. After 24 hours, bacteria were isolated from the lungs and blood and the capsule thickness and C3b deposition of these isolates was compared to the original stock. Results showed that all ST217 isolates showed the same pattern of capsule change over the course of infection; capsule thickness increased significantly in the lungs and then decreased in the blood compared to the lungs. When comparing all isolates in the lungs, complement

deposition on sepsis isolates were significantly higher than carriage and meningitis isolates despite no differences in capsule thickness. This effect was reversed when comparing all isolates in the blood with meningitis having high levels of surface bound complement compared to carriage and sepsis isolates. The survival of mice infected with *ex vivo* blood isolates was examined further in an *in vivo* sepsis model. Isolates were intravenously injected into a naïve mouse and survival times monitored. 100% mortality was observed in mice infected with sepsis blood isolates (low complement deposition) while mice infected with meningitis blood (high complement) resulted in 80% mortality which one mouse fully clearing bacteria from the bloodstream.

Results up to this point have demonstrated that serotype 1 is able to significantly alter capsule thickness in response to the local environment. It is likely that these changes occur in response to oxygen/nutrient availability, host immune response or competition from other colonising bacteria.

Our next aim was to examine whether serotype 1 passaged for 14 days in a murine nasopharynx would differ in virulence when used to induce sepsis in a naïve mouse compared to isolates passaged through lungs and blood. Results suggested serotype 1 isolated from murine nasopharynx after 14 days had no increased virulence in blood compared to isolates passaged through lungs. However, isolates passaged through blood induced 100% mortality around 36 hours faster than nasopharynx and lung passaged bacteria, suggesting passage through blood may have increased niche-specific virulence. Ideally multiple passages through either nasopharynx, lungs or blood are needed to investigate niche-specific virulence adaptations of pneumococci.

Final comments

The aim of this chapter was to understand the role of one of the key pneumococcal virulence factors; the capsule, in serotype 1 disease pathogenesis. By comparing African ST217 serotype 1 isolates from nasopharynx, CSF and blood I was able to compare capsule thickness, resistance to both complement deposition and phagocytosis. Despite significant differences in the phenotypes *in vitro*, no differences in virulence or ability to colonise in murine models of infection were observed. This is likely due to fast-occurring changes in capsule thickness during carriage and invasive disease that contribute to pathogenesis. Despite current literature describing serotype 1 as a poor coloniser, I observed carriage for over 14 days and successful colonisation of deeper tissues of the upper airway.

The main finding of this work is observation of significant changes in capsule thickness that occurs during infection. Capsule size does not appear to be defined by serotype as it can significantly vary within one sequence type between not only sites of isolation but also by the duration of infection and status of the host immune response.

Identification of pneumolysin as a key virulence factor associated with *Streptococcus pneumoniae* African serotype 1 invasive disease.

Identification of pneumolysin as a key virulence factor associated with *Streptococcus pneumoniae* African serotype 1 invasive disease.

4.1 Introduction

Pneumolysin is expressed by virtually all clinical pneumococcal isolates and has been described as a key virulence factor contributing to high morbidity and mortality rates in invasive disease. Pneumolysin is a cholesterol dependant hemolysin ²⁸². It lyses cells with cholesterol-containing membranes, induces cellular cytotoxicity via DNA damage and activates host complement and induces pro-inflammatory reactions in immune cells ²⁸³. At higher lytic concentrations it has also been shown to cause widespread cellular and tissue damage allowing for increased bacterial replication and tissue invasion ²⁸⁴. As pneumolysin is an intracellular toxin, release is thought to be dependent on autolysin-dependant autolysis ⁸⁸. This process is characterised by cell wall degradation by a peptidoglycan hydrolase (autolysin), the most common of which is known as LytA.

To investigate the role of pneumolysin and other potential virulence factors in serotype 1 disease pathogenesis, murine models of experimental pneumococcal pneumonia were used (Materials and Methods 2.7). Briefly, mice were intranasally infected with either serotype 1 or serotype 2 and monitored for signs of clinical disease (2.7.4). In addition, blood cfu titres and survival times were recorded. Pneumonia experiments were performed in BALB/c mice, and disease severity with African serotype 1 (D25796) was compared to serotype 2 (D39) infection.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Comparison of serotype 1 and serotype 2 in BALB/c pneumococcal pneumonia model.

BALB/c mice are highly resistant to respiratory challenge by a wide range of invasive pneumococci, confine infection to the lung and eliminate bacteria entirely within 7 days ²⁰⁸. At no point do bacteria disseminate into the bloodstream to cause sepsis ¹⁷³. To identify key virulence factors associated with serotype 1 pathogenesis, BALB/c mice were intranasally infected with serotype 1 to establish an acute lung infection (2.7.2). Serotype 2 D39-infected BALB/c mice were used as a comparison, as this is a well characterized laboratory strain in these infection models and does not cause any mortality ¹⁷³. Once infected, mice were monitored for signs of disease over seven days.


Figure 27. Comparison of Serotype 1 (ST217) and Serotype 2 (D39) strains in BALB/c pneumonia model. Mice were infected intranasally (IN) and monitored closely for signs of ill-heath. If infected mice became lethargic, they were culled, survival times noted and CFU from blood determined by Miles and Misra dilution. A) Kaplan Meier survival curve showing survival times of mice infected with ST217 sepsis (D25796) or D39. B) Blood bacterial load at 6, 12, 18 and 24 hours post infection from three experiments (CFU/mI) (C) Lung bacterial load (CFU/mg) at 12, 18 and 24 hours post infection. Statistical analysis was performed using Two-way ANOVA (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01,***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001)

Striking differences were observed in disease severity between serotype 1 and serotype 2 infected mice (Figure 27A). Mice infected with serotype 1 exhibited 100% mortality within 48 hours post infection. In addition, by 12 hours post infection, all serotype 1 infected mice had high levels of bacteraemia which remained consistent until death. In some mice, serotype 1 was able to disseminate into the bloodstream as early as 6 hours post infection (Figure 27B). Serotype 2 infected mice, as predicted, showed no mortality over 7 days with no detectable colonies found in the blood throughout the experiment. Development of bacteraemia appeared to be independent of bacterial numbers in lungs as there were no significant differences in lung bacterial loads until 18 hours, and development of bacteraemia was observed as early as 6 hours post infection (Figure 27C).

4.2.2 Comparison of clinical invasive isolates in BALB/c pneumococcal pneumonia model

To assess whether high mortality rates in BALB/c mice are limited to ST217 infection, the pneumonia survival model was repeated with other clinical *S. pneumoniae* isolates (Figure 28). Of the serotypes tested, serotype 1, 5, 7F and 6B are all invasive clinical isolates that are included in the current PCV13 vaccine ²⁶⁴. An additional ST217 isolated from the nasopharynx of a Malawian child (ST217 carriage) and an ST3018 serotype 1 isolate from The Gambia were included in the experiment. A European serotype 1 isolate (ST306) expressing a non-haemolytic pneumolysin was also included. Of all the serotypes tested, mortality was only observed in BALB/c mice infected with African serotype 1 (ST217 and ST3018 sequence types) (Figure 28). This

mouse strain maintained resistance to invasive pneumococcal pneumonia when infected with a range of clinically relevant serotypes such as 5 and 6B.



Survival Times

Serotype/sequence type/isolate

Figure 28. Comparison of survival rates of clinical isolates of *S. pneumoniae* in BALB/c pneumonia model. Mice were infected intranasally and monitored closely for signs of ill-health. If infected mice became lethargic, they were culled, survival times noted and CFU from blood determined by Miles and Misra dilution. Survival times of mice infected with different African serotype 1 strains (red) and other clinically relevant isolates (black) (10 mice/group). Statistical analysis was performed using One-way (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01,***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001).

4.2.3. Comparison of progression of disease symptoms in BALB/c mice infected with clinically invasive isolates of *S. pneumoniae*.

Differences in clinical signs of disease progression were compared between mice infected with either Serotype 1 (ST217 W000168 Carriage), Serotype 5 or 7F.



A Survival proportions: Survival of Balb/c pneumonia



A pain/disease scoring system was used to monitor disease progression of a pneumococcal pneumonia infection in BALB/c mice (Figure 29). Details of the scoring system can be found in methods section 2.7.4. Mice infected with serotype 5 showed no clinical symptoms such as hunching or piloerect coat throughout the experiment. Mice infected with serotype 7F showed some signs of disease throughout the experiment but did not score above 2 and no mice appeared lethargic, thus resulting in 100% survival rate. However, mice infected with serotype 1 strain ST217 showed early signs of disease (starry coat and hunching) within five hours post infection. Symptoms of disease continued with seven mice reaching the lethargic end-point at 23.5 hours post infection. These mice were culled. At 29 hours post infection, the remaining three serotype 1 infected mice became lethargic and were also culled. By the end of the experiment, mortality (100%) was only observed in ST217-infected mice.

4.2.4 Examination of haemolytic activity of pneumolysin

I hypothesised that differences in virulence seen in Figure 28, could be attributable to pneumolysin as ST306, with a non-hemolytic pneumolysin, was the only serotype 1 strain not to cause 100% mortality. An ELISA based method (Materials and Methods section 2.10) was used to quantify the amount of pneumolysin released upon lysis of bacteria of different serotypes and haemolytic assays used to assess the haemolytic activity of pneumolysin produced by different serotypes (Figure 30A+B). Two isolates of each serotype were tested where possible to compare variation within serotypes.



HU = % lysis of RBC / ng PLY

Figure 30 Comparison of quantity of pneumolysin and hemolytic activity of pneumolysin produced by different serotypes of *S. pneumoniae.* (A) ELISA-based detection method to quantify the amount of pneumolysin released by different serotypes (10⁷ cfu) upon lysis by penicillin/streptomycin antibiotic treatment. (B) Hemolytic assay was performed on 10⁷ cfu of lysed bacteria to asses the amount of sheep red blood cell lysis occurring within 45 minutes. Data presented as Hemolytic units (HU), calculated by % lysis of RBC/ng of pneumolysin (detected by ELISA).

Serotype 1 isolates (ST217 and ST3018) produced between 200 and 400ng of pneumolysin/ml upon lysis. The serotype producing the largest amount was 7F with 800ng/ml and the lowest was a 6B isolate with 10ng/ml (Figure 30A) The ability of pneumolysin from different serotypes (10⁷ CFU) to lyse sheep red blood cells was used to calculate the hemolytic activity (Figure 30B). The results identified African serotype 1 ST217 and ST3018 isolates as producing highly hemolytic pneumolysin compared to other clinical serotypes such as 6B, 14, 23f and 7F.

4.2.5 Serotype 1 rate of autolysis is significantly higher than other invasive serotypes

Triton-X induced autolysis assays were performed to assess the rates of autolysis and how this correlates with pneumolysin release (Figure 31). See appendix for rates of autolysis for serotypes 1, 2, 5, 6b, 7F, 14 19A, 19F and 23F. See Materials and Methods section 2.11 for further details.

Results from Triton-X-100-induced autolysis assays suggest rates of autolysis in serotype 1 are higher significantly higher than serotype 2 (D39) at 60 and 120 minutes of culture. After 15 minutes of incubation with Triton-X, the percentage decrease of OD_{600} of serotype 1 (ST3081 and ST217 Carriage) was significantly higher than that of D39 (Figure 31B). These differences in rates of autolysis continue until 150 minutes incubation. A D39 LytA knockout mutant was used as a control to show that Triton-X autolysis was dependent on LytA activation.



В

Α

0 minutes		60 minutes	
D39 vs. ST306	ns	D39 vs. ST306	****
D39 vs. ST3081	ns	D39 vs. ST3081	****
D39 vs. ST217C	ns	D39 vs. ST217C	****
D39 vs. ST217S	ns	D39 vs. ST217S	****
15 minutes		120 minutes	
D39 vs. ST306	ns	D39 vs. ST306	****
D39 vs. ST3081	****	D39 vs. ST3081	****
D39 vs. ST217C	****	D39 vs. ST217C	****
D39 vs. ST217S	ns	D39 vs. ST217S	****
30 minutes		150 minutes	
D39 vs. ST306	*	D39 vs. ST306	ns
D39 vs. ST3081	****	D39 vs. ST3081	*
D39 vs. ST217C	****	D39 vs. ST217C	*
D39 vs. ST217S	ns	D39 vs. ST217S	ns

Figure 31. Triton X-100-induced autolysis assays comparing rates of autolysis in serotype 1 and
serotype 2 isolates. Bacteria (OD ₆₀₀ 1.0) were incubated at 37 ⁰ C and 175rpm with 0.01% Triton X. At
15 - 30 minute intervals, OD ₆₀₀ was measured and converted to a percentage of the original OD ₆₀₀
reading. (A) Comparison of rates of autolysis between serotype 1 sequence types and serotype 2 (D39).
(B) Statistical analysis was performed by Two-way ANOVA. Rates of autolysis were measured in
triplicates; data is presented as mean ± SEM. (ns=non-significant. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001,
****P<0.0001).

As the polysaccharide capsule is designed to protect the bacteria from external factors such as complement deposition and other aspects of the host immune response, I was interested in examining whether capsule thickness affected rates of autolysis. FITC-dextran analysis was performed on Serotype 1(ST217 Sepsis), 2 and 5 (Figure 32). Results demonstrated that serotype 1, which had the highest rates of autolysis had a significantly thicker polysaccharide capsule compared to both D39 and serotype 5.



Mean Area of bacteria (square pixels)

Streptococcus pneumoniae isolates



4.2.6 Effect of autolysis on the release of pneumolysin: a comparison of serotypes of *S. pneumoniae*.

Comparison of rates of autolysis, production of pneumolysin and the haemolytic ability of pneumolysin from different serotypes were performed separately. Results presented here incorporate together the haemolytic unit (HU) production per bacteria (Figure 33A) and the maximum HU released per minute when bacteria undergo autolysis with Triton X treatment (Figure 33B).



Streptococcus pneumoniae isolates



Figure 33. Rates of autolysis, pneumolysin production and haemolytic activity combined to show the HU per bacteria and HU released per minute by autolysis. (A) HU per bacteria. Calculated by (Ply conc (ng/ml)*HU per ng of pneumolysin) / number of bacteria. (B) Maximum HU of pneumolysin released per minute. Calculated from number of lysed bacteria/minute * HU/ bacteria. ST217C = W000168. ST217S = D25796.

Figure 33A compares the haemolytic activity (HU) per bacteria of different serotypes of *S. pneumoniae*. Of the serotypes tested in the BALB/c model, ST217 carriage has the highest haemolytic activity per bacteria and ST306 and 7F have the lowest. Figure 33B incorporates the autolysis data for all serotypes tested to show the amount of haemolytic pneumolysin released per minute when bacteria undergo autolysis. Results show that ST217(carriage) has the highest HU released per minute whilst serotype 19A has the lowest. Levels of HU released per minute are almost identical when comparing serotype 1 (ST217Sepsis) and 5. However, when these serotypes are

В

compared in a pneumonia infection model in BALB/c mice, serotype 5 causes no mortality whereas both ST217 isolates and ST3081 Gambian serotype 1 cause 100% mortality (Figure 28).

4.2.7 Pneumolysin-containing supernatant from serotype 1 ST217 increases virulence of D39 in BALB/c pneumonia model

Significantly higher rates of autolysis were observed in Serotype 1 isolates compared with D39 (Figure 31A). To see if high natural rate of autolysis might contribute to *in vivo* virulence and that extracellular pneumolysin within the supernatant of the infection inoculum might impact disease progression, a supernatant switch experiment was designed. All experiments from this figure were performed with serotype 1 (ST217 Sepsis D25796) isolates. Serotype 1 (ST217sepsis) and serotype 2 (D39) doses (2x10⁷ CFU each) were prepared in 1 ml of PBS. The doses were left for 45 minutes at room temperature to mimic the time taken between preparation of dose to infection of mice. An ELISA-based detection method was then used to measure the concentration of pneumolysin released into the infection dose (Figure 34). Method detailed further in Materials and Methods section 2.10.



Figure 34. Pneumolysin concentrations released by natural rates of autolysis. In separate tubes, $2x10^7$ CFU of ST217 (sepsis, D25796) and D39 were prepared in PBS. Dose preparations were incubated at room temperature for 45 minutes before a sample of supernatant was removed and a pneumolysin detection ELISA used to quantify the amount of pneumolysin released into the supernatant. Experiment was performed in triplicate and error bars represent mean±SEM. Statistical analysis was performed using a one-way ANOVA (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001).

Figure 34 demonstrates that when doses of either serotype 1 or serotype 2 are prepared and used to infect mice, mice receiving a serotype 1 dose will be given significantly higher concentrations of pneumolysin in the supernatant compared to D39-infected mice (P<0.01). To investigate the effect of high concentrations of pneumolysin in the serotype 1 infection dose, the supernatants were swapped before infection of mice. D39 and serotype 1 infection, bacteria were pelleted by centrifugation and the supernatants of the two doses were swapped. After infection, mice were closely monitored for signs of disease and survival rates recorded (Figure 35).



Figure 35. Murine pneumococcal pneumonia survival rates after supernatant swap. Kaplan Meier survival curve showing survival times of mice infected with different combinations of 10^6 cfu in 50μ l of either serotype 1 (ST217 D25796) or serotype 2 (D39) bacteria. For one group of mice, the supernatant from ST217 was treated with Cholesterol:sphingomyelin (66mol/%cholesterol) and sphingomyelin-only liposomes for 30 minutes.

When mice were infected with D39 resuspended in ST217 supernatant containing high concentrations of pneumolysin, mortality rates increased from 0 to 80%. In addition, when ST217 was administered to mice with supernatant from D39 (containing signifcantly less pneumolysin), 20% survival rates were observed, compared to 0% without D39 supernatant. When ST217 supernatant was pre-treated with cholesterol-containing liposomes (engineered lipid vesicles able to sequester cholesterol binding toxins) ²⁸⁵ and then administered into the mice with D39 bacteria, survival rates returned to 100% (Figure 35), confirming that pneumolysin is responsible for the observed effects of supernatant swap.

4.2.8 Examination of the cytotoxic effects of Serotype 1 (ST217) pneumolysin on lung epithelial cells.

Excess concentrations of pneumolysin in the lung have previously been shown to aid bacterial replication and increase rates of tissue invasion and dissemination into the bloodstream ^{96,284}. *In vitro* assays were set up to measure cytotoxicity in A549 human lung epithelial cells upon infection with a range of serotypes of *S. pneumoniae* (materials and methods 2.12). Different pneumolysin concentrations and levels of haemolytic ability were previously observed with different serotypes of *S. pneumoniae* (Figure 30).



Figure 36. Lung epithelial cell cytotoxicity during infection with *S. pneumoniae* differ with different serotypes. A549 lung epithelial cells were infected with $6x10^5$ cfu of *S. pneumoniae* and, at 6 and 12 hours post infection, samples of cell culture supernatant were removed and amount of LDH (an indicator of cytotoxic damage) was measured. Infections were performed in triplicate wells and error bars represent the mean±SEM. Statistical analysis was performed using two-way ANOVA (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001).

Infection with serotype 1 (ST217) caused more cytotoxic damage to lung epithelial cells compared to other *S. pneumoniae* serotypes (Figure 36). At 6 hours post infection, cells cultured with ST217 had significantly higher levels of LDH compared to infection with D39 and serotype 5. Levels were also higher, but not statistically significant, compared to infection with 6B and 7F clinical isolates at 6 hours post infection. At 12 hours post infection, levels of LDH released from cells infected with ST217 was significantly higher than those infected with D39, 5, and 6B. Thus, these data strongly suggests that high rates of autolysis, observed with ST217, lead to release of highly haemolytic pneumolysin which contributes to significantly increases in cellular cytotoxicity of lung epithelial cells.

4.2.9 Pneumolysin produced by African serotype 1 damages tight junctions between lung epithelial cells during infection.

As ST217 is able to disseminate from the lungs into blood as early as 6 hours post infection in murine models of acute pneumonia (Figure 27). To further investigate this, *in vitro* assays were set up to measure the barrier function of lung epithelial cells during infection with a range of serotypes. It was hypothesised that bacteria rapidly disseminate through the lung into the blood during ST217 infection due to lung damage caused by rapid release of pneumolysin. The next stage was to examine the effect of ST217 infection on barrier function, using a monolayer of epithelial cells and performing transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) measurements as an indicator of barrier integrity.

Chapter 4





Figure 37. Measurements of damage to tight junctions of lung epithelial cells during *S. pneumoniae* infection. A549 human lung epithelial cells were cultured on trans-well inserts for three days to establish a monolayer. 10^6 cfu of *S. pneumoniae* were added and trans-epithelial electrical resistance readings (TEER) were taken at 6, 9 and 24 hours post infection to assess the damage to tight junctions between epithelial cells. (A) Experiment 1: S1 (ST217Sepsis) with and without liposomes comparison. (B) Experiment 2: Comparison between S1 (ST217Sepsis) and D39. (C) Experiment 3: Comparison between S1 (ST217Sepsis) and ST306 infection. (E) Experiment 3: Comparison between D39 and PLN-A infection. TEER readings were performed in triplicate from duplicate wells. Statistical analysis was performed by two-way ANOVA (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01,***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001). Error bars represents the mean±SEM.

TEER readings are used as an indicator of the permeability of tight junctions between cells grown in culture ²⁸⁶. Decreases in the TEER value is an indicator of disruption or damage of tight junctions. Results demonstrate that S1 (ST217Sepsis) infection causes significant disruption to the permeability of tight junctions compared to other serotypes tested (D39, 5, ST306). Addition of liposomes to bind and neutralise pneumolysin resulted in significantly less damage to tight junctions at 24 hours post infection (Figure 37A). A liposome only control was added to test the effect of liposomes on the TEER readings of A549 cells in the absence of bacteria. At 9 and 24 hours post infection, ST217 readings were significantly lower than during infection with serotype 5 and D39 (Figure 37B&C). Comparisons of the TEER readings between D39 and PLN-A infected cells demonstrates that pneumolysin has a damaging effect on the tight junctions between lung epithelial cells as TEER readings are significantly lower for D39 infected cells compared to PLN-A (pneumolysin negative D39) at 24 hours post infection (Figure 37E).

4.3 Discussion

Serotype 1 was one of the first pneumococcal serotypes to be described and has some unusual clinical, epidemiological and microbiological characteristics, making it the most prevalent of the highly invasive pneumococci in sub-Saharan Africa ⁴⁴. Serotype 1 appears to behave more like a primary pathogen compared to other pneumococci as disease rates in the young and otherwise healthy adults are high whilst carriage rates in the population are low even when symptomatic disease is prevalent in the population ²⁴⁰. In this chapter of work, murine models were used to identify key virulence factors associated with serotype 1 invasive disease pathogenesis.

Previous published work from our group and others report that mouse strains differ in their susceptibility to the pneumococcus. Gingles *et al* have reported that BALB/c mice are highly resistant to intranasal infection with *S. pneumoniae* serotype 2 (strain D39), with no bacterial dissemination from lungs into the bloodstream observed, resulting in 100% survival rates ^{173 208}. However, our findings show that when BALB/c mice were intranasally inoculated with the same CFU of serotype 1 (ST217 sepsis), 100% mortality was observed as a result of high levels of bacteraemia occurring within 24 hours post infection, a dramatic change in phenotype. To test if this case was specific to serotype 1, the resistance of BALB/c mice to other invasive clinical serotypes of *S. pneumoniae*, was assessed and the experiment repeated with clinical serotypes such as 6B, 7F, 23F and 5. Resistance to pneumonia and the onset of bacteraemia was maintained during infection with these clinical isolates, exactly as we observed for D39, hence mortality was only observed in mice infected with African serotype 1 isolates (ST217 and ST3081). The

serotype 1 isolate from Europe (ST306) was the only serotype 1 strain not to cause mortality in BALB/c mice. ST306 expresses a non-haemolytic pneumolysin, which prompted further experiments to examine the role of pneumolysin in serotype 1 disease pathogenesis.

ST217(sepsis) bacterial dissemination from the lungs into the bloodstream occurred as early as 6 hours post infection. Previous work has shown that the initial phase of pneumonia is marked by flooding of the alveoli with bacteria but very few inflammatory cells ²⁸⁷. Subsequent breaching of endothelial barriers is thought to facilitate pneumococcal bacteraemia and is commonly associated with high mortality rates ²⁸⁸. This often occurs in the absence of a significant inflammatory response suggesting that this rapid dissemination is likely to be driven by bacteria toxin-induced damage of the lung epithelial barriers. However, serotype 1 virulence is unlikely to be due to toxin mediated damage alone as previous publications have shown the importance of the host immune responses in controlling disease severity²¹⁵ ²⁰⁸ ²⁰⁹ ¹⁷³. Further work needs to be done to assess the host immune responses during pneumonia infections with serotype 1 compared to serotype 2.

A pneumolysin ELISA was developed to detect the amount of pneumolysin produced by a range of different serotypes. Results suggested that the amount of pneumolysin produced by serotype 1 (ST217) was not significantly higher than other serotypes. However, when the ability of pneumolysin to lyse sheep red blood cells was compared across serotypes, both serotype 1 (ST217, ST3081) and serotype 5 pneumolysin was found to be highly haemolytic, causing high levels of red blood cell lysis. Thus, African serotype 1 does not appear to produce significantly higher concentrations of pneumolysin

compared to other serotypes, but the pneumolysin it produces is significantly more haemolytic.

Previous work has suggested that there is some diversity in the amount of pneumolysin produced by different serotypes of S. pneumoniae. However, no relationship between the amount of pneumolysin produced and virulence has been found ²³⁴. For example, when pneumolysin titres were measured from a range of serotypes upon lysis, serotype 1 and 5 were shown to have the highest titres whereas serotype 8 had the lowest. Interestingly, serotype 8 was later shown to be more virulent in murine models of infection compared to both serotype 1 and 5²³⁴. In another study, growth rates of different serotypes in blood and subsequent survival times of infected mice were examined to test whether pneumolysin production was related to growth *in vivo*. Again, results concluded that there was no obvious association between extracellular pneumolysin titres and virulence in blood ¹²³. However, these findings did not take into account rates of autolysis between serotypes. Release of pneumolysin has been shown to be dependent on the activation of autolysin which causes rapid cell wall breakdown and cell lysis ¹¹⁹. Pneumolysindeficient (PLY-) and autolysin (LytA-) deficient mutant pneumococcal strains have been shown to be less virulent after intranasal administration into mice ¹²⁵ ¹²⁴ ⁹⁸. Data from the pneumolysin ELISA and haemolytic assay suggest that serotype 5 produces similar concentrations of pneumolysin and has similar haemolytic ability compared to ST217 sepsis. However, this serotype is not able to cause mortality or dissemination into the bloodstream during pneumonia models in BALB/c mice. Thus, this prompted experiments to compare rates of autolysis in serotype 1, 2, 5, 6B, 7F, 14, 19 and 23F. Results

showed that rates of autolysis *in vitro* were significantly faster in serotype 1 strain, ST217 compared to both serotype 5 and D39 and this led to significantly higher concentrations of pneumolysin being released from ST217 compared to D39.

One limitation to the autolysis studies presented here is that rates of induced autolysis *in vitro* may not be the same as in the context of infection with the pressures of the host immune system and different environmental factors. Recent studies have found that in areas such as sub-Saharan Africa, high temperatures can increase rates of autolysis, thus increasing the release of pneumolysin by *S. pneumoniae*²⁴⁶. Given the inherently high rates of autolysis I described here for serotype 1 and the highly haemolytic activity of the pneumolysin produced, high temperatures may make a significant contribution to invasive serotype 1 disease in sub-Saharan Africa.

I have also shown that having a thick capsule does not appear to protect bacteria from autolysis. Previous work has suggested that a thick capsule may have a stabilizing effect on the bacteria and reduce rates of autolysis ²⁸⁸ but this was not found to be the case with serotype 1. Finding a definitive link between capsule thickness and rates of autolysis will always be challenging as demonstrated by significant capsule thickness changes significantly over the course of infection in the host and the inability to measure rates of autolysis *in vivo*.

When examining the combined results from haemolytic assays, pneumolysin ELISA and autolysis assays from a range of clinical serotypes, the haemolytic

units released per minute were similar for ST217 sepsis and serotype 5. However, when these bacteria were compared in a murine lung infection model, it was found that serotype 5 did not cause any mortality in a BALB/c pneumonia infection model. Furthermore, the calculations used to determine haemolytic unit release per minute are based on the assumption that rates of autolysis induced by 0.01% Triton-X are comparable to those observed *in vivo*, which may not be the case.

After establishing that supernatants of ST217 sepsis contained significantly higher concentrations of pneumolysin compared to D39, these supernatants were swapped between ST217 and D39 to assess the effect of high pneumolysin concentrations on disease progression in the lungs of BALB/c mice. When D39 bacteria were re-suspended in ST217 supernatant, excess pneumolysin concentrations present allowed D39 to disseminate from the lungs into blood and subsequently cause 80% mortality. When ST217 was infected with supernatant from D39 bacteria, mortality rates decreased by 20% due to lower concentrations of pneumolysin present in the infection dose. These results suggest that early release of pneumolysin following infection is key in aiding bacterial dissemination from the lungs into the blood resulting in high mortality rates. In addition, D39 which has been shown to produce small titres of pneumolysin, is capable increased virulence if aided across the lung epithelial barrier by serotype 1 pneumolysin.

In order to pinpoint pneumolysin as the key virulence factor that leads to dissemination into the bloodstream, liposomes were added to ST217 supernatant to bind and neutralise pneumolysin. The liposomes used were a mixture of cholesterol and sphingomyelin and were designed to be used as

decoy targets to sequester bacterial toxins such as pneumolysin. Liposomebound toxins are unable to lyse mammalian cells and have been shown to protect mice from invasive pneumococcal pneumonia by minimising toxininduced tissue damage in the lungs ²⁸⁵.

After treatment with liposomes, ST217 supernatant was used in combination with D39 live bacteria to infect mice in a pneumonia model. Sequestration of pneumolysin by liposomes resulted in no dissemination of D39 across the lung endothelial barriers and the return of 100% survival rates in infected mice. Liposomes have been shown to be beneficial in the treatment of severe infections through their ability to neutralise damaging cholesterol-binding toxins such as pneumolysin ²⁸⁵. The results from the supernatant swap experiments suggest that liposomes may have great potential in cases of severe pneumococcal pneumonia where risk of bacterial dissemination into the blood is high. If bacterial toxins are key virulence factors that allow for tissue invasion and bacterial dissemination into the bloodstream, as these results strongly suggest, they should be major targets of potential new therapeutics, whether that be through the administration of liposomes or redesign of vaccines to target pneumolysin in the initial stages of infection. Furthermore, liposome therapy is likely to show variable efficacy depending upon the serotype and sequence type of pneumococcus responsible for the infection. For example, disease caused by the serotype 7F lineage studied in this thesis is unlikely to benefit significantly from liposome therapy as pneumolysin is produced in small amounts, is not highly haemolytic and is thus not likely to be a significant contributor to virulence. By contrast, patients infected with African serotype 1 lineages producing large amounts of highly

haemolytic pneumolysin would stand to benefit considerably from liposome administration.

As pneumolysin has been shown to contribute to bacterial dissemination from the lungs into the bloodstream ⁹⁶, *in vitro* assays were set up to assess the damage ST217 pneumolysin causes at the cellular level in the lungs. Firstly, human lung epithelial cell line A549, were infected with a range of different serotypes (D39, 6B,5, 7F, ST217) and cellular cytotoxic damage was measured through release of LDH. At both 6 and 12 hours post infection, cells infected with ST217 had significantly higher LDH levels compared to D39 and serotype 5 suggesting that ST217 causes more damage to lung epithelial cells compared to other serotypes. In addition, the permeability of membrane barriers (TEER) between lung epithelial cells was also measured. Results suggested that ST217 causes more damage to tight junctions between epithelial cells compared to other serotypes such as 2 and 5. Addition of liposomes preserved barrier integrity during ST217 infection suggesting that pneumolysin is the main driver of cell damage and causes damage to tight junctions between cells.

These findings are in line with previous work which has shown that the presence of cytotoxic pneumolysin in the lung in the initial phase of pneumonia contributes to the development of bacteraemia through facilitating penetration of bacteria from the alveoli into the interstitium of the lung, and dissemination of pneumococci into the bloodstream during experimental models of pneumonia.⁹⁶

These results have implications for furthering our understanding of serotype 1 disease pathogenesis and highlight the importance of other virulence factors

aside from capsule for consideration in future vaccine design and targets for new therapeutics. Results have revealed the damage highly haemolytic pneumolysin has on host cells both in vitro and in vivo in the context of IPD. One issue that has not been addressed here is the role of serotype 1 pneumolysin in nasopharyngeal carriage. Further work is needed to examine whether high rates of autolysis, resulting in the release of highly haemolytic pneumolysin are the reason carriage rates of serotype 1 have been described as rare ²³⁸. If high titres of pneumolysin are present in the nasopharynx, this could lead to greater tissue invasion of serotype 1 and is likely to cause dissemination into areas such as the lungs and blood. Data from the supernatant swap experiments show that D39 can become virulent in an experimental pneumonia model with the addition of serotype 1 pneumolysin, a finding that could have important implications during multi-serotype nasopharyngeal colonisation. For example, serotype 1 pneumolysin released during autolysis in the nasopharynx could result in onset of IPD with other serotypes that are colonising the nasopharynx through damage to the epithelial cell barrier, facilitating bacterial dissemination into the lung or other areas.

Further work needs to be done to examine the host immune response during serotype 1 infection in the context of both nasopharyngeal colonisation and invasive disease. Resistance to pneumococcal pneumonia in BALB/c mice is a result of high influx of T-regulatory cells into the lung during D39 infection ¹⁷³. These anti-inflammatory immune cells, along with high levels of TGF β , reduce inflammation which prevents damage to epithelial cell barriers and prevents bacterial dissemination into the bloodstream ¹⁷⁴ ¹⁷³. With bacteria

confined to the lung, the host immune system can clear the infection within 7 days. In mice such as CBA/Ca, high numbers of T regulatory cells are absent during infection with D39. This results in high levels of inflammation, damage to lung epithelial cell linings and bacteraemia occurs, resulting in high mortality rates ¹⁷³. This is similar to what is seen with ST217 infection in BALB/c mice and suggests that perhaps during infection with African serotype 1 there is little or no infiltration of T regulatory cells into the lungs.

Conclusion:

My findings show that when BALB/c mice were intranasally administered with serotype 1 (ST217), 100% mortality was observed as a result of high levels of bacteraemia occurring within 24 hours post infection. Tissue invasion and rapid dissemination from lungs to blood resulted in severe bacteraemic pneumonia seen in serotype 1 but not D39 infection. Based on these findings, it is plausible that high mortality rates in serotype 1 infection are a result of rapid autolysis of pneumococci in the lungs, leading to the release of highly haemolytic pneumolysin. This subsequently leads to epithelial and endothelial damage in the lungs, and allows for bacterial dissemination into the bloodstream. These studies have highlighted pneumolysin as an essential factor contributing to serotype 1 virulence.

Investigating the host immune responses during Streptococcus pneumoniae serotype 1 nasopharyngeal carriage

Investigating the host immune responses during Streptococcus pneumoniae serotype 1 nasopharyngeal carriage

5.1 Introduction

Streptococcus pneumoniae serotype 1 has previously been described as a poor coloniser of the nasopharynx as it is rarely found causing asymptomatic carriage despite causing high rates of disease in sub-Saharan Africa ¹¹. As nasopharyngeal carriage is an essential pre-requisite for invasive disease it is an important area to investigate to broaden understanding of serotype 1 pathogenesis.

Previous reports have suggested that host immune responses can be key in controlling nasopharyngeal colonisation through a careful balance between the induction of pro-inflammatory arms of the immune system such as Th17 cells and immunomodulatory cells such as T regulatory cells 100,289 . Th17 cells have been implicated in bacterial clearance in the nasopharynx, whilst T regulatory cells, together with TGF- β are important in reducing inflammation, limiting tissue damage and preventing bacterial dissemination within the host 172 100 . Dysregulation of this balance is thought to contribute to the onset of invasive pneumococcal disease.

The aim of this work was to examine the ability of African serotype 1 (ST217) to colonise murine nasopharynx in a nasopharynx colonization model (Materials and methods 2.7) relative to that of the laboratory serotype 2 strain, D39. In addition, miles and misra techniques on murine tissue allowed

bacterial load to be assessed in lungs and along potential routes of bacterial dissemination to the brain, such as the olfactory epithelium and olfactory bulb. Finally, flow cytometry was used to compare host immune responses during colonisation of serotype 1 to serotype 2 (Materials and Methods 2.8).

5.2 Results

5.2.1 Comparison of nasopharyngeal carriage dynamics in Africanserotype 1 and serotype 2 (D39) in BALB/c mouse strain.

BALB/c mice infected with African serotype 1 (ST217 Sepsis) resulted in 100% mortality in a pneumonia model of infection (Figure 27&28). In comparison, infection with serotype 2 strain D39 did not cause mortality due to a lack of dissemination of bacteria from the lungs into the bloodstream. As nasopharyngeal carriage is a prerequisite for IPD, density and duration of nasopharyngeal colonisation were compared in D39-infected and ST217-infected BALB/c mice using an infection model in which prolonged nasopharyngeal carriage without bacterial dissemination has previously been observed ¹⁰¹. Bacterial load in the lungs, olfactory bulb (OB), olfactory epithelium (OE), blood and brain were examined over 14 days to determine whether bacterial dissemination occurred (Materials and Methods 2.7.5).

Results showed that both ST217 and D39 colonise the nasopharynx for at least 21 days (Figure 38). Carriage of ST217 was higher than that of D39 throughout and significantly so at day 7 post infection. Two-way ANOVA comparison showed significant differences (p=0.0004) in the overall carriage density of serotype 1 compared to serotype 2 over time. Bacterial dissemination into lungs peaked at day 3 post infection for both D39 and ST217-infected mice but was only observed in one or two mice per group. Interestingly, serotype 1 appeared to colonise the OB for 14 days and bacterial load was significantly higher than in D39-infected mice at day 7 post infection. Similar patterns of colonisation were observed in the OE with serotype 1 bacterial loads significantly higher compared to D39 at day 5 post infection.

detected, whilst the D39-infected mice remained uninfected throughout the course of the experiment. Serotype 1 colonies were present in the brain as early as day 1 post infection but all colonies were cleared by day 14 post infection. Neither ST217 or D39 colonies were found when examining the blood, suggesting that entry into the brain was via the olfactory route and not across the blood-brain barrier.



Days post infection



Days post infection



Olfactory Epithelium



Days post infection



Days post infection


5.2.2 Host immune response during nasopharyngeal carriage.

I next examined the numbers of different immune cell types that have previously been described as important in either maintenance or clearance of nasopharyngeal carriage. Firstly, the numbers of neutrophils in the nasopharynx in D39 and ST217-infected mice were compared over 21 days of colonisation. These cells are rapidly recruited into the nasopharynx after pneumococcal infection but reports have suggested that their presence does not correlate with clearance of pneumococci ¹⁷⁶.

Figure 39 shows the fluctuation of neutrophil numbers over 21 days of colonisation in ST217-infected mice compared to D39-infected. No neutrophil infiltration relative to uninfected mice was observed in either ST217- or D39-infected mice and both groups showed a similar trend in neutrophil numbers over time. A significant difference was seen at day 14 post infection when D39-infected mice showed higher numbers of neutrophils compared to ST217- infected mice.

Neutrophils Total number of cells in nasopharynx **10**⁵ Serotype 1 0 D39 o o⊢**b**≏ o o 104 10 0 N ზ ٩ ~~ v Days post infection В 10 10 10 CD45 + 7.90 10 SSC-H :: SSC-Height 10 SSC-H :: SSC-Height SSC-H :: SSC-Height 10 10² 102 10 10 10 - 22 GR1 + GR1 10 0 5.83 100 10³ 10 10 10 10 FL1-H :: CD45 FITC 100 10² 10³ 100 10² 10³ 104 10 10 10 FL3-H :: GR1 PerCP-Cy7 FL3-H :: GR1 PerCP-Cy7 Infected mouse Gr1 negative

А

Figure 39 Changes in neutrophil numbers in the nasopharynx during Serotype 1 (ST217) and Serotype 2 (D39) colonisation. Infection described previously in figure 37. At pre-determined timepoints, mice were culled and the nasopharynx was processed to create a single cell suspension. Cells were stained for CD45 and GR1 markers to isolate neutrophils. (A) Number of neutrophils present in the nasopharynx over 21 days of colonisation. Each circle represents a single mouse and error bars shown the mean \pm SEM. Two-way ANOVAs were performed to find any statistical differences between ST217 and D39-infected mice (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001).. (B) Gating strategy for isolation of CD45⁺ GR1⁺ Neutrophils. GR1 negative control was performed using GR1 fluorescence minus one (FMO).

In addition to staining for neutrophil markers, the macrophage marker F4/80 was used to identify macrophage numbers in the nasopharynx over time. Previous work has shown macrophages have potential involvement in carriage due to accumulation of macrophage numbers in the nasopharynx during colonisation ¹⁰⁰.



Figure 40 Macrophage numbers in the nasopharynx over 21 days of colonisation with either serotype 1 (ST217) or serotype 2 (D39). Infections described previously (figure 37). Nasopharyngeal tissue was prepared as a single cell suspension. Cells were stained with CD45 and F4/80 markers to identify macrophage populations present at each time point. (A) Number of macrophages present in the nasopharynx over 21 days of colonisation. Each circle represents a single mouse and error bars shown the mean \pm SEM. Two-way ANOVAs were performed to find any statistical differences between ST217 and D39-infected mice (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01,***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001). (B) Gating strategy for isolation of CD45⁺ F4/80⁺ macrophages. F4/80 negative control was performed using F4/80 fluorescence minus one (FMO).

Colonisation of ST217 and D39 induce similar patterns of macrophage numbers in the nasopharynx over 21 days (Figure 38). Numbers of macrophages increases gradually until day 14 when we observe significantly higher numbers in D39-infected mice compared to ST217. Analysis using a two-way ANOVA shows firstly, numbers of macrophages change significantly over the course of carriage (21 days) for both serotype 1 and serotype 2 colonisation (P<0.005). Secondly, that there is a significant difference in macrophage numbers during colonisation between the two serotypes over 21 days of experimental carriage (P<0.05).

In addition to monitoring changes in innate immune responses (macrophages and neutrophils), cells associated with the adaptive immune response were also monitored over 21 days in the nasopharynx. It has been reported that immune responses initiated at mucosal surfaces need to be carefully balanced between Th17-mediated inflammation and immune-modulating T regulatory cells ¹⁸³. Th17 cells have been shown to be important in the clearance of pneumococci from the nasopharynx through activation and recruitment of neutrophils ²⁹⁰ ¹⁷². As ST217 has been shown to colonise the nasopharynx at significantly higher densities and successfully invade local tissues such as the OB, OE and brain during experimental carriage experiments (Figure 38), it was hypothesised that the balance between induction of Th17 and $Foxp3^{+}$ T regulatory cells may be different between ST217 and D39-infected mice. Firstly, Th17 (CD4⁺ ROR γ t⁺) cell numbers were determined over the duration of carriage (Figure 41). No significant differences in the numbers of Th17 cells in the nasopharynx were observed between ST217 and D39-infected mice. There was a significant increase in the numbers of Th17 cells between day 0

and 14 post infection in serotype 1 – infected mice (p<0.005). Likewise, significant increases in the number of Th17 cells in D39-infected mice was seen between 0 and 14 days post infection (P<0.05).



Figure 41. T helper 17 cell (Th17) numbers in the nasopharynx over 21 days of colonisation with either serotype 1 (ST217) or serotype 2 (D39). Mice were IN infected with either 10^5 CFU of ST217 sepsis or D39 and culled at 0,1,2,3,5,7, 14 or 21 days post infection. 5-10 mice/group were culled and tissues were taken for analysis of bacterial load. Nasopharyngeal tissue was prepared as a single cell suspension. Cells were stained for CD45, CD4 and ROR γ T (Th17 transcription factor) to identify Th17 populations present in each time point. Number of Th17 cells present in the nasopharynx over 21 days of colonisation (Red/white bars) Each bar represents the mean numbers of Th17 cells detected in 5 mice/timepoint. Grey bars represent the proportion of Th17 cells expressing IL-17A. Error bars represent the mean ±SEM. Two-way ANOVAs were performed to find any statistical differences between ST217 and D39-infected mice (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01,***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001).





Figure 42. Gating strategy for isolation of CD45⁺ **CD4**⁺ **ROR** γ **T**⁺ **and IL-17A**⁺ **T cells**. Cells were first gated using CD45 staining. CD45⁺ cells that were also positive for CD4 were gated next. Cells that were CD45⁺ CD4⁺ and ROR γ t⁺ were classes as Th17 cells. The number of Th17 cells expressing IL-17A were also quantified for comparison between the two serotypes. Negative controls for IL-17A and ROR γ t were performed by fluorescence minus one of IL-17A and ROR γ t.

Th1 (CD4⁺Tbet⁺) T cells have also been shown to be important in clearance of bacteria from the nasopharynx and control multiplication of bacteria following dissemination ^{291 184}. When numbers of Th1 cells in the nasopharynx were monitored over 21 days, no difference in cellular numbers were seen in serotype 1 compared to serotype 2 infected mice. However, colonisation did induce significant increases in Th1 cells in both serotype 1 and serotype 2 infected mice. Significant increases (P<0.05) in Th1 cells were observed between day 0 and 14 post infection in serotype 1 – infected mice. In addition, D39-infected mice showed a significant increase in Th1 cells between day 1 and 14 post infection (P<0.001). No significant differences in the proportion of Th1 cells producing IFN_γ was observed between serotype 1 and serotype 2 infected mice (Figure 43).



Figure 43. T helper 1 cell (Th1) numbers in the nasopharynx over 21 days of colonisation with either serotype 1 (ST217) or serotype 2 (D39). Mice were IN infected with either 10^5 CFU of ST217 sepsis or D39 and culled at 0,1,2,3,5,7, 14 or 21 days post infection. 5-10 mice/group were culled and tissues were taken for analysis of bacterial load. Nasopharyngeal tissue was prepared as a single cell suspension. Cells were stained for CD45, CD4 and Tbet (Th1 transcription factor) to identify Th1 populations present in each time point. Number of Th1 cells present in the nasopharynx over 21 days of colonisation (Red/white bars) Each bar represents the mean numbers of Th1 cells detected in 5 mice/timepoint. Grey bars represent the proportion of Th1 cells expressing IFN- γ Error bars represent the mean ±SEM. Two-way ANOVAs were performed to find any statistical differences between ST217 and D39-infected mice (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01,***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001).



Figure 44. Gating strategy for isolation of CD45⁺ **CD4**⁺ **Tbet**⁺ **and IFN-** γ ⁺ **T cells**. Cells were first gated using CD45 staining. CD45⁺ cells that were also positive for CD4 were gated next. Cells that were CD45⁺ CD4⁺ and Tber⁺ were classes as Th1 cells. The number of Th1 cells expressing IFN- γ ⁺ were also quantified for comparison between the two serotypes. Negative controls for IFN- γ ⁺ and Tbet were performed by fluorescence minus one of IFN- γ ⁺ and Tbet.

Pneumococcal nasopharyngeal carriage density and duration have previously been shown to be controlled by T-regulatory cells ¹⁰⁰. Carriage density is an important factor in inducing immune regulatory cells, with low numbers of pneumococci inducing high T-regulatory cell numbers in the nasopharynx, maintaining carriage, and reducing inflammation and bacterial dissemination into lungs ¹⁰⁰. However, little is known about the induction of host immune modulatory cells in response to clinically invasive serotypes during nasopharyngeal colonisation.

Foxp3⁺ CD4⁺ T regulatory cell numbers were monitored over 21 days of nasopharyngeal colonisation with D39 and ST217 infection (Figure 45). No significant differences were seen in the numbers of Foxp3⁺ CD4⁺ cells in the nasopharynx between ST217 and D39 colonisation. Mice infected with serotype 1 showed a significant increase in T regulatory cell numbers between day 3 and 7 post infection, however, no significant increases were seen in D39 infected mice. In addition, no significant differences were observed in the number of Foxp3⁺ cells expressing TGF β between infection with the different serotypes.



Figure 45. T regulatory cell (Treg) numbers in the nasopharynx over 21 days of colonisation with either serotype 1 (ST217) or serotype 2 (D39). Mice were IN infected with either 10^5 CFU of ST217 sepsis or D39 and culled at 1,2,3,5,7, 14 or 21 days post infection. 5-10 mice/group were culled and tissues were taken for analysis of bacterial load. Nasopharyngeal tissue was prepared as a single cell suspension. Cells were stained for CD45, CD4 and Foxp3 to identify Treg populations present in each time point. Number of Treg cells present in the nasopharynx over 21 days of colonisation (Red/white bars) Each bar represents the mean numbers of Treg cells detected in 5 mice/timepoint. Grey bars represent the proportion of Treg cells expressing TGF β . Error bars represent the mean ±SEM. Two-way ANOVAs were performed to find any statistical differences between ST217 and D39-infected mice (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001).



Foxp3+ and TGFb+ T regulatory cells



Figure 46. Gating strategy for isolation of CD45⁺ **CD4**⁺ **FoxP3**⁺ **and TGF** β ⁺ **T cells**. Cells were first gated using CD45 staining. CD45⁺ cells that were also positive for CD4 were gated next. Cells that were CD45⁺ CD4⁺ and FoxP3⁺ were classes as Treg cells. The number of Treg cells expressing TGF β ⁺ were also quantified for comparison between the two serotypes. Negative controls for TGF β and FoxP3 were performed by fluorescence minus one (FMO) of TGF β and FoxP3.



Figure 47. Changes in levels of active TGF- β present in the nasopharynx during serotype 1 (ST217sepsis) and serotype 2 (D39) colonisation. Active TGF- β determined from nasopharyngeal supernatant by luciferase-reporting transformed mink lung epithelial cell assay. Each circle represents a single mouse and error bars shown the mean ± SEM.

Concentrations of active TGF- β present in the nasopharynx were determined over 21 days of colonisation with D39 or serotype 1-infected mice (Figure 47). No significant differences were observed between the two groups of mice at any timepoint throughout the experiment but fluctuations in the concentrations of TGF- β were seen over the timecourse of carriage. Highest mean concentrations were observed at day 7 post infection, whilst the lowest recorded was at day 14, which is also when T regulatory cell numbers were lowest. The patterns of TGF- β concentrations were similar in both ST217 and D39-infected mice, despite higher rates of dissemination of serotype 1.

5.2.3 Effect of high doses of Serotype 1 or Serotype 2 bacteria on nasopharyngeal colonisation.

My studies revealed little differences in the host immune cell profile during serotype 1 nasopharyngeal carriage compared to D39 colonisation. I next repeated these experimental carriage models using higher doses of *S. pneumoniae*, in the same 10µl volume, with the aim of increasing bacterial dissemination and potentially inducing invasive disease. Carriage patterns were compared in mice infected with D39 compared to ST217, along with cellular infiltration of neutrophils, T regulatory cells and Th17 cells.

Results showed that during the early stages of nasopharyngeal carriage (Day 1-3), there were no differences in the CFU counts of D39 infected mice compared to those infected with ST217 (Figure 48A). However, at day 14 post infection, ST217 bacterial load in the nasopharynx was found to be significantly higher than that of D39. Indeed, the 2-log drop in bacterial nasopharyngeal density between days 3 and 14 in D39-infected mice suggested that bacterial clearance was underway. When examining bacterial dissemination into the lungs, only one mouse infected with D39 showed bacterial dissemination into the lungs (Day 3). At day 14 post infection, no colonies of D39 were observed in the lungs but three mice infected with ST217 had colonies present in the lungs. However, there was no significant differences found when comparing lung bacterial densities over 14 days using a Two-way ANOVA. (Figure 48B).



Figure 48 Comparison of Serotype 1 (ST217) and Serotype 2 (D39) in a BALB/c nasopharyngeal carriage model. Mice were intranasally infected with either 10^6 CFU of ST217 sepsis or D39. At 1,3 and 14 days post infection, 5 mice/group were culled and nasopharyngeal and lung tissues were taken for analysis of bacterial load. (A) Bacterial load (cfu/mg) in nasopharynx. (B) Bacterial loads (cfu/mg) in the lungs. Data is presented as follows; each symbol represents an individual mouse and errors bars show the mean ± SEM. Statistical analysis was performed by two-way ANOVA (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001).

5.2.4 Effect of high doses of serotype 1 or serotype 2 bacteria on the host immune system during nasopharyngeal colonisation.

When ST217 and D39 were intranasally administered into BALB/c mice at a concentration of 10^6 in a volume of 10μ l, trends of bacterial colonisation for D39 and ST217 varied greatly, with D39 numbers decreasing over 14 days and ST217 colonisation increasing. To determine whether these changes reflected differences in host immune responses generated during 14 days of colonisation, leukocytes were profiled in D39 and ST217 infected mice.

Neutrophil numbers were examined in the nasopharynx to assess whether infection with ST217 induces significant differences in neutrophil numbers, particularly at day 14 when CFU counts are significantly different (Figure 48A). Results show that there was a significant difference (Two-way ANOVA, P<0.05) between the numbers of neutrophils induced between D39 and ST217 colonised mice over 14 days (Figure 49A). Colonisation with D39 led to a significantly higher number of neutrophils over the duration of the experiment compared to ST217 colonisation and may reflect the differences in CFU/mg counts at day 14 post infection.



Figure 49 Changes in neutrophil numbers in the nasopharynx during Serotype 1 (ST217) and Serotype 2 (D39) colonisation. Mice were IN infected with either 10^6 CFU of ST217sepsis or D39. At 1,3 and 14 days post infection, 5 mice/group were culled and the nasopharynx was processed to create a single cell suspension. Cells were stained with antibodies against CD45 and GR1, to isolate neutrophils. (A) Number of neutrophils present in the nasopharynx at 1,3 and 14 days of colonisation. Each circle represents a single mouse and error bars shown the mean \pm SEM. Two-way ANOVAs were performed to find any statistical differences between ST217 and D39-infected mice. (B) Gating strategy for isolation of CD45⁺ GR1⁺ Neutrophils. GR1 negative staining performed using FMO of GR1.

In addition to comparing neutrophil recruitment into the nasopharynx, numbers of Th17 cells were also examined at 1 and 14 days post infection (Figure 50).



Figure 50 T helper 17 cell (Th17) numbers in the nasopharynx over 14 days of colonisation with either serotype 1 (ST217) or serotype 2 (D39). Mice were IN infected with either 10^6 CFU of ST217sepsis or D39. At 1,3 and 14 days post infection, 5 mice/group were culled and the nasopharynx was processed to create a single cell suspension. Cells were stained for CD4 and ROR γ t to identify Th17 populations present at each time point. (A) Number of Th17 cells present in the nasopharynx over 14 days of colonisation. Each circle represents a single mouse and error bars shown the mean ± SEM. Two-way ANOVAs were performed to find any statistical differences between ST217 and D39-infected mice (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001). (B) Gating strategy for isolation of CD4⁺ and ROR γ t⁺ T cells. ROR γ t negative staining was performed with ROR γ t FMO.

Th17 cell numbers increased significantly between day 1 and 14 post infection in both ST217 and D39-infected mice.

As ST217 bacterial counts remained significantly higher than D39 at 14 days post infection (Figure 48A), it was hypothesised that differences in T regulatory cell numbers or levels of TGF β could have caused the significant differences in ST217 CFU counts on day 14. Results from flow cytometric assessment of T regulatory cell numbers and quantification of active TGF β levels in nasopharynx revealed no significant differences between ST217 colonisation compared to that of D39 (Figure 51A&B). Colonisation of ST217 caused significant increases in the number of Foxp3 T regulatory cells between day 1 and 3 post infection, but no significant changes in the number of T regulatory cells in the nasopharynx of D39-infected mice was observed.

Detectable TGF β levels in nasopharyngeal homogenates increase significantly (P<0.05) over time in both ST217 and D39 infected mice but again, no significant differences between carriage of the two serotypes was detected (Figure 51A).





Days post-infection



Figure 51 T regulatory cell numbers in the nasopharynx over 14 days of colonisation with either serotype 1 (ST217) or serotype 2 (D39). Mice were IN infected with either 10^6 CFU of ST217 or D39. At 1,3 and 14 days post infection, 5 mice/group were culled and the nasopharynx was processed to create a single cell suspension. (A) Active TGF- β determined from nasopharyngeal homogenates by luciferase-reporting transformed mink lung epithelial cell assay. Each circle represents a single mouse and error bars shown the mean ± SEM. (B) Nasopharyngeal tissue was prepared as a single cell suspension. Cells were stained for CD4, and Foxp3 to identify Treg populations present at each time point. Each circle represents a single mouse and error bars shown the mean ± SEM. Two-way ANOVA was performed to find any statistical differences between ST217 and D39-infected mice (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001).. (C) Gating strategy for T regulatory cells. CD4⁺ cells were selected for and T regulatory cells were identified using intracellular staining for Foxp3.

5.2.5 *In vitro* T cell differentiation/expansion in the presence of ST217 induces a pro-inflammatory T cell repertoire.

The aim of this experiment was to expose BALB/c bone-marrow derived macrophages to either D39 or ST217 and then to culture pneumococcalexposed macrophages with CD4⁺ T cells harvested from spleens of naïve BALB/c mice. After 3 days of macrophage and T cell co-culture, flow cytometry was performed to examine T cell differentiation or expansion in response to ST217 and D39 (Figure 52).



А



Figure 52 T cell stimulation assays used to assess different T cell subsets induced in the presence of ST217 and D39 antigens. 7-10 week female naïve BALB/c mice were sacrificed and bone marrow from tibia and femurs removed. Bone-marrow (BM) derived cells were cultures for 6 days in the presence of M-CSF (2μ g/ml) to stimulate macrophage differentiation. Live ST217 or D39 bacteria were cultured with BM-derived macrophages for 24 hours before removal using antibiotics. Meanwhile, spleens were removed from 7-10 week female naïve BALB/c mice and CD4⁺ T cells were isolated using magnetic beads. T cells were then co-cultured with activated macrophages for 3 days before flow cytometry staining was performed to analyse T cell subset differentiation. (A) Comparison of T cell differentiation in the presence of macrophages infected with either ST217sepsis (serotype 1) or serotype 2 (D39) or uninfected. Each infection condition was performed in triplicate wells. Error bars represent mean \pm SEM. Two-way ANOVAs were performed to test statistical significance of the data (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001).. (B) Gating strategy for activated T cells (CD4⁺ CD25⁺ cells)

T cell differentiation results suggest that ST217 antigens induce the differentiation or activation of a range of different T cell subsets via their effects on macrophages, with Th1 being the predominant subset. In contrast to this, macrophages infected with D39 predominantly induced the differentiation or activation of Foxp3⁺ T regulatory cells (Figure 52A). Macrophages co-cultured with D39 induced significantly higher percentages of Foxp3⁺ T regulatory cells compared to ST217 co-cultured macrophages. Macrophages exposed to ST217 induced significantly higher proportions of Th1 and Th17 cells compared to macrophages exposed to D39. Thus, exposure to ST217 induces a broad T cell subset repertoire of Th1, Th17 and T regulatory cells, whereas D39 predominantly causes high percentage differentiation of Foxp3⁺ T regulatory cells and very low levels of Th1 and Th17 cells.

5.2.6 In vitro T cell re-stimulation assays

T cell re-stimulation assays were used to assess the T cell repertoire induced after 21 days of nasopharyngeal carriage with ST217 compared to D39 (Figure 53). Mice were colonised with serotype 1 (ST217) or serotype 2 (D39) for 21 days before the experiment was terminated and the cervical lymph nodes draining the nasopharynx were removed. Lymph node cells were stimulated with heat-killed D39, ST217 or a cell stimulation cocktail only and numbers of Foxp3⁺ T regulatory cells and Foxp3⁺ T regulatory cells expressing IL-10 were quantified using flow cytometry. Results demonstrate that when cells from the lymph nodes of D39-colonised mice were stimulated with heat-killed D39, a significantly higher number of Foxp3⁺ T regulatory cells were observed compared to the same cells stimulated with serotype 1 (ST217) (Figure 53). In

addition, cells from mice infected with D39 had significantly higher numbers of Foxp3⁺ T regulatory cells after re-stimulation with D39 compared to ST217colonised mice after re-stimulation with D39. No significant differences were observed when cells from ST217 colonising mice were stimulated with ST217 and cell stimulation cocktail only. When cells from D39-infected mice were stimulated with D39, significant differences were observed in the number of T regulatory cells compared to stimulation with cell stimulation cocktail only. Thus suggesting that low T regulatory cell responses were observed during serotype 1 carriage compared to D39.

Α



T cell stimulation assay



Figure 53 T cell re-stimulation assays with cervical lymph nodes following 21 days of carriage. 6 mice per group were I.N infected with 10^5 CFU of *S. pneumoniae* (ST217 or D39) in 10µl of PBS. At day 21 post infection, mice were culled and cervical lymph nodes (CLN) removed. A single cell suspension was created and cells from each mouse were stimulated with heat killed ST217, D39 or a cell stimulation cocktail only. After 18 hours of incubation, cells were stained with CD4, CD25, Foxp3 and IL-10 to identify populations of T regulatory cells by flow cytometry. (A) White bars represent the number of Foxp3 T regulatory cells (CD4⁺ CD25⁺ Foxp3⁺) induced from both ST217 and D39-infected mice after stimulation with different antigens. Grey bars represent the portion of T regulatory cells producing IL-10 cytokine. Each re-stimulation was performed in duplicate and error bars represent the mean ± SEM. Statistical analysis was performed by Two-way ANOVA (*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01,***P < 0.005, or ****P < 0.001). (B) Gating strategy used to identify Foxp3⁺ T regulatory cells (CD4⁺ CD25⁺ Foxp3⁺) IL-10 negative control performed using FMO IL-10 APC antibody.

5.3 Discussion

Streptococcus pneumoniae is a common commensal of the upper respiratory tract and colonisation of the nasopharynx is thought to be a pre-requisite of invasive pneumococcal disease ¹⁶⁹ ¹⁶⁸. Ordinarily, in areas where rates of carriage are high, the risk of invasive disease is also high ^{292 3}. However, this has not been reported for IPD caused by serotype 1. Serotype 1 is the leading cause of IPD in sub-Saharan Africa but is described as rarely found during nasopharyngeal carriage, even in areas of high disease burden ⁴⁴. The aim of the work in this chapter was to understand the interactions of serotype 1 with host immunity and its impact on serotype 1 carriage. Using murine models of experimental nasopharyngeal carriage, mice were inoculated with serotype 1 (ST217) or serotype 2 (D39) and the density and duration of carriage were compared along with rates of bacterial dissemination to other tissues. Comparisons of the host immune responses generated during colonisation with these two serotypes was also performed.

Results showed that serotype 1 is able to colonise the nasopharynx for at least 21 days and maintain stable CFU counts over this time. Carriage patterns between the two serotypes differed, with serotype 1 being carried at significantly higher densities at two time points (day 7 and 14 post infection). Interestingly, significantly higher rates of bacterial dissemination occurred in mice colonised with serotype 1. In particular, serotype 1 pneumococci were found to be present in the brain in the first seven days of nasopharyngeal colonisation. No detectable colonies of serotype 2 were found in the brain over the duration of the experiment. In addition, serotype 1 mice had no bacterial colonies detected in the blood suggesting an alternative route of transmission

from the nasopharynx to the brain that bypassed the blood. The nasopharynx has an anatomical connection to the central nervous system (CNS) through the olfactory nerves, as the posterior nasal cavity is covered by the olfactory epithelium, which contains nerves of the olfactory system. The olfactory nerves travel from the cribriform plate, which is a bone behind the nose, up to the olfactory bulb, located at the inferior side of the brain ²⁷⁸. Previous reports have shown that bacterial translocation of Neisseria meningitidis and Streptococcus pneumoniae from the nasal mucosa to the brain can occur without bacteria entering the bloodstream, thus meningitis can occur directly from nasopharyngeal colonisation ^{102,278}. Data presented here suggest that high rates of serotype 1 meningitis may occur as serotype 1 appears to be able to enter the brain directly from the nasal cavity during carriage without needing to invade the blood. However, the possibility that there was a transient serotype 1 bacteraemia that was missed due to the timing of sampling cannot be excluded, although it is unlikely that high enough CFUs could have seeded into the blood stream from the nasopharynx to eventually cause CNS infection. Indeed, there is no evidence to suggest that there is direct seeding from the nasopharynx to the blood.

In Niger there has been a long history of meningitis epidemics with *Neisseria meningitidis* and *Streptococcus pneumoniae*^{293 246}. A recent surveillance study was conducted to assess whether high concentrations of airborne dust in this area was a risk factor for IPD. Experiments in murine models of nasopharyngeal carriage showed that following dust exposure there were significant increases in serotype 1 titres in the brain and that this was not

associated with bacteraemia, once again suggesting a direct nasopharynx to brain translocation route ²⁴⁶.

Results from *in vivo* models show that serotype 1 dissemination into OE, OB and brain was significantly higher than serotype 2, suggesting natural rates of tissue invasion of the olfactory nerves are high during serotype 1 nasopharyngeal carriage. High rates of serotype 1 meningitis seen in Niger and the other 26 countries making up the African meningitis belt could be due to inhalation of dust particles accelerating the natural tendency of serotype 1 to colonise the olfactory nerves as a route into the brain through damage to mucosal barriers facilitating bacterial transmission.

In chapter 4 it was shown that rates of autolysis are significantly higher in serotype 1 compared to serotype 2. High temperatures, such as those found in sub-Saharan Africa, including Niger, have been found to significantly increase rates of autolysis of serotype 1²⁴⁶. Increased rates of autolysis during carriage will lead to higher concentrations of pneumolysin release which has been previously shown to aid tissue invasion ⁹³. Perhaps, serotype 1 is found to be the predominant cause of meningitis and invasive disease due to climate factors aiding natural virulence mechanisms such as high rates of autolysis to allow increased bacterial dissemination into other tissues from the nasal mucosa.

Carriage rates of serotype 1 have been described as low despite serotype 1 being the main causative serotype of IPD in sub-Sarahan Africa ²³⁸. Observations of bacterial dissemination to the olfactory nerves during serotype 1 carriage suggest that current swabbing techniques may not be detecting serotype 1 due to observed colonisation of deeper tissues of the nasopharynx.

Knowing that climate is an important factor in the onset of IPD, it would be interesting to assess changes in upper airway bacterial density in deeper tissues such as the OB, and OE when serotype 1-infected mice are exposed to high temperatures and dust/sand inhalation. Colonisation of serotype 1 was found to last at least 21 days in the murine models tested here, but different hosts and climatic conditions could affect carriage duration and levels of tissue invasion and may explain why serotype 1 has previously been described as a poor coloniser of the nasopharynx.

Density and duration of nasopharyngeal carriage has been reported to be controlled by host immune responses. Th17⁺ CD4⁺ T cells have been described as important in mucosal clearance of pneumococci through recruitment of macrophages and neutrophils ¹⁸³ ¹⁷². Further studies have shown that Th1 and Th17 T cell anti-pneumococcal responses are key in bacterial clearance but these can be supressed by T regulatory cells ²⁹⁴. The presence of commensal bacteria in the nasopharynx has been shown to induce T regulatory cells in mice ²⁹⁵. In the case of the pneumococcus, colonised children have higher titres of T regulatory cells in adenoidal tissue compared to carriage negative children ²⁹⁶. Nasopharyngeal carriage can be prolonged with elevation of TGF- β and T regulatory cell numbers whilst high Th17 and Th1 T cells drive clearance of pneumococci from the nasopharynx ²⁹⁷ 172 ¹⁷³. Hence, dysregulation of this fine balance between immune tolerance and inflammation may lead to invasive disease.

As serotype 1 has been classically described as a poor coloniser and high levels of dissemination to the brain were observed in this study, it was predicted that colonisation with serotype 1 might fail to induce good T

regulatory responses. When numbers of T regulatory cells present in the nasopharynx were compared over 21 days between serotype 1 and serotype 2 colonised mice, no significant differences were observed. Despite this, carriage of ST217 was significantly higher than D39 at day 7 post infection and tabular comparisons showed significant differences (p=0.0004) in the overall carriage density of serotype 1 compared to serotype 2 over the course of infection.

T regulatory cells and TGF- β play important roles in prolonging carriage by reducing inflammation, keeping tissue damage to a minimum to prevent bacterial spread to other tissues ^{174 100}. It was hypothesised that due to high titres of bacteria found in the OB, OE and brain, T regulatory cell numbers could be lower during serotype 1 colonisation. However, data from murine models suggests that dissemination of serotype 1 to the OB, OE and brain was not a result of lower T regulatory cell numbers during serotype 1 carriage. As the brain is anatomically linked to the nasopharynx via olfactory nerves, tissue damage may not be required to aid bacterial dissemination.

Neutrophil and macrophage numbers were monitored in the nasopharynx of serotype 1 and serotype 2-colonised mice over 21 days. No differences were seen in numbers of either neutrophils or macrophages between the serotypes except on day 14 post infection when numbers were higher in serotype 2 colonised mice. Depletion of neutrophils in experimental carriage models has been shown to have no effect on bacterial loads in the nasopharynx ¹⁷⁶. The exact role neutrophils or macrophages play in serotype 1 carriage is not clear from this data. Flow cytometric staining was performed to identify macrophage populations in this work. It would be interesting to assess the macrophage

phenotypes present in the nasopharynx in serotype 1 verses serotype 2 infections. Alternatively activated macrophages have previously been described as being present during carriage with D39 pneumococci ¹⁰⁰ but little is known about macrophage activation during serotype 1 colonisation. If serotype 1 infection, with high rates of autolysis and pneumolysin release, induced classical activation of M1 macrophages with high IL-12 production, this could drive inflammation and aid tissue damage and therefore dissemination of bacteria ²⁹⁸.

Th17 and Th1 cell numbers in the nasopharynx were monitored over 21 days. No difference in cell numbers between carriage of the two serotypes was detected. Numbers remained consistent over the course of 21 days. Th17 cells have been described as important in reducing carriage duration and so the lack of Th17 induction in these experiments may explain why clearance of carriage was not initiated.

Carriage experiments were repeated with higher doses of bacteria in an attempt to induce progression to invasive disease and potentially see differences in nasopharyngeal colonisation between ST217 and D39. Bacterial densities were similar up to day 3 post infection, however at day 14 carriage density of serotype 1 was significantly higher compared to D39. Serotype 1 carriage remained consistent whereas D39 numbers were steadily declining, suggesting bacterial clearance would have occurred soon after 14 days. The immune responses in the nasopharynx were compared but no differences were found in numbers of T regulatory cells, TGF- β , Th17 or neutrophils when comparing serotype 1 to serotype 2 colonisation despite significant differences in CFU numbers at day 14. There was a significant induction of Th17 cells in

both infection groups which was perhaps responsible for declining numbers of D39. Serotype 1 numbers did not decline over the course of 14 days perhaps due to the ability to invade tissues such as the OB and OE which may be 'hidden' from the host immune response and therefore allow serotype 1 to keep recolonising the nasopharynx. When examining T regulatory cell responses, only Foxp3 was used as a marker. Additional staining for intracellular TGF- β or IL-10 would have more accurately identified functionally active T regulatory cells. For example, GARP has been identified as a maker for activated T regulatory cells in humans and mice ²⁹⁹. Staining for additional markers such as GARP would have been useful to identify whether there was a difference in the number of active T regulatory cells during carriage.

Length of nasopharyngeal carriage in BALB/c mice is longer than in MF1 mice (Figure 16&38) so future experiments should be extended to 28 days to assess the immune responses involved in bacterial clearance and comparisons of carriage duration between the two serotypes.

In addition to monitoring the host immune responses in murine models of experimental carriage, *in vitro* assays were set up to assess differences in T cell differentiation in the presence of both serotypes. Bone-marrow derived macrophages were infected with live serotype 1 (ST217) or serotype 2 (D39) for 24 hours. When CD4⁺ T cells were cultured with infected macrophages, those infected with serotype 1 induced significantly higher numbers of Th1 and Th17 cells compared to D39. Macrophages infected with D39 caused differentiation of a significantly higher number of Foxp3 T regulatory cells compared to serotype 1. However, no intracellular cytokine staining was

performed for T regulatory cells so it is not known whether these cells were producing anti-inflammatory cytokines.

T cell re-stimulation assays were used to assess the T cell profile present when cells from lymph nodes of mice colonised with either ST217 or D39 were re-stimulated with heat-killed bacteria of both serotypes. Results showed that mice infected with D39 had significantly higher T regulatory cell responses upon stimulation with D39 compared with stimulation of the same cells with serotype 1. Only weak T regulatory responses were seen after re-stimulation of cells from ST217-infected mice, suggesting that colonisation of serotype 1 induces lower T regulatory responses compared to D39 colonisation. When cells from D39-infected mice were re-stimulated with ST217 compared with D39, it was seen that re-stimulation with the same serotype 1 was significantly greater than cross-serotype, this suggests that capsule potentially plays a more important role than other factors in driving T cell stimulatory responses. Both T cell differentiation and T cell re-stimulation assays suggest that carriage of serotype 2 leads to higher T regulatory responses compared to carriage with serotype 1. It was hypothesised that carriage with serotype 1 would induce poor immune-modulatory responses such as T regulatory cells and TGF- β and therefore carriage duration would be short due to high levels of inflammation allowing for bacterial dissemination or clearance. Predicted differences in the balance of pro and anti-inflammatory responses between carriage of serotype 1 and serotype 2 were not observed when experimental murine carriage models were used. Serotype 1 did colonise the nasopharynx for at least 21 days and dissemination was significantly higher in serotype 1 infected mice but no consistent differences were observed in the host immune

responses between the two serotypes. This suggests that differences in bacterial dissemination is likely to be driven more strongly by the pathogen rather than excessive inflammation and tissue damage caused by the host immune responses.

These results have demonstrated that serotype 1 is able to successfully colonise the murine nasopharynx for at least 21 days. This is in contrast to what has been published in humans which states that colonisation of serotype 1 is shorter than other serotypes ⁴⁴. This is supported by evidence that antibiotic resistance in serotype 1 is lower compared to other serotypes that are associated with long-term colonisation ³⁰⁰. Murine models of experimental carriage can be limited in their representation of the human nasopharynx where carriage of multiple serotypes is common and therefore competition for nutrients and space will likely affect carriage duration of some serotypes. In addition, environmental factors such as climate, and host factors such as immune status and age are all important factors in determining length of carriage. Results from the previous chapter places emphasis on the importance of pneumolysin in promoting invasion of serotype 1 from the lungs into the bloodstream in the context of pneumococcal pneumonia. It likely that these same virulence factors are used to aid serotype 1 translocation from the nasopharynx to the brain.

Conclusion

These results suggest that serotype 1 can establish long term (more than 21 days) colonisation of the murine nasopharynx. During carriage, high rates of bacterial dissemination were observed which included colonies detected in the brain, lungs and olfactory nerves. Serotype 1 appears to be able to invade local tissues of the upper airway and access the brain without needing to enter the blood and cross the blood-brain barrier, and this is likely to be due to high rates of autolysis and release of highly haemolytic pneumolysin, which together with the influence of climate, may help explain why serotype 1 is the leading serotype to cause pneumococcal meningitis in sub-Saharan Africa. Despite differences in the rates of bacterial dissemination, colonisation of serotype 1 compared to serotype 2 did not induce gross differences in the host immune response beyond a differential ability to induce activation of different T cell subsets. This suggests that the ability of serotype 1 to invade local tissues may be directly related to the pathogen rather than excessive inflammation caused by the host which would damage local tissues and facilitate movement of bacteria to the other tissues.

Discussion
6.0 Discussion

The aim of this research was to further understand serotype 1 *Streptococcus pneumoniae* pathogenesis and explore the role of certain virulence factors and their influence in both carriage and invasive disease.

Streptococcus pneumoniae is a natural commensal of the nasopharynx and many sources have described carriage as an important pre-requisite for IPD ^{301 302 3}. Interestingly, serotype 1 has been described as a poor coloniser of the nasopharynx due to rare detection during routine nasopharyngeal swabbing, even in areas of high disease burden ^{4 239,303 277}. Using murine models of experimental carriage, I have demonstrated that serotype 1 pneumococci can successfully colonise a murine nasopharynx for over 14 days. In addition, serotype 1 could colonise deeper tissues anatomically connected to the upper airway, such as the olfactory bulb and olfactory epithelium, at significantly higher densities compared to serotype 2, strain D39. Upon examination of the brain, serotype 1 colonies were detected in the first 7 days of carriage. As no D39 colonies were found to be present in the brain over the course of infection, it appears that serotype 1 has greater invasive potential compared to D39 and utilises a potential route of dissemination to the brain through the central nervous system, bypassing the blood. Previously published data have shown that S. pneumoniae can migrate through the olfactory tissues to reach the brain from the nasopharynx ²⁷⁸, however, this has not, up to now, been explored in the context of serotype 1 infection. These data may partially explain why serotype 1 is the predominant serotype to cause non-bacteraemic meningitis in Africa. Previously published data have shown that environmental factors such as airborne dust and high temperatures which

are common in sub-Saharan Africa increase rates of IPD in murine models of nasopharyngeal carriage ²⁴⁶. Therefore, serotype 1 is likely to cause high incidents of meningitis because it is able to colonise deeper tissues of the upper airway such as the OB and OE at significantly higher densities compared to serotype 2, D39. The ability of serotype 1 to invade these tissues and reach the brain to cause meningitis is likely to be enhanced by environmental factors such as high temperatures or high concentrations of airborne particulates which have been shown to increase rates of autolysis and impair phagocytosis by macrophages and neutrophils ²⁴⁶. The combination of these factors is likely to influence disease progression from carriage to meningitis during serotype 1 colonisation of the nasopharynx. ^{304 60} ²⁸⁵. Further work should be done to examine whether invasion of the olfactory tissues and brain is serotype dependent.

Colonisation of the olfactory tissues is likely to also occur in humans and may provide an explanation for low carriage detection of serotype 1. Bacteria in olfactory tissues would not be detected by current swabbing techniques. Several questions have arisen from these findings, including, does re-seeding from the olfactory tissues to the nasopharynx? In addition, little is currently known about the host immune responses in the olfactory tissues and brain in the presence of pneumococci. Further work is needed to examine differences in the immune cell profiles present in the OB and OE during serotype 1 colonisation compared to D39. This is important to assess whether the immune response initiated during colonisation has a significant effect on progression of serotype 1 to the brain. Further work should also be aimed at

identifying which virulence factors contribute to local tissue invasion and the influence these may have on the host immune response, a factor we know to be important in controlling nasopharyngeal carriage ^{100 305}.

The role of the capsule in colonisation was examined. In vitro comparisons of three ST217 isolates (from blood, CSF and nasopharynx) suggested that in the nasopharynx a thinner capsule is needed, in contrast to a thicker capsule found on ST217 isolates from the blood. Presence of a thicker capsule provided better protection from complement deposition and phagocytosis from neutrophils, as shown using in vitro assays. Current literature regarding the role of the capsule in colonisation is conflicting, with some reports stating that a thin capsule is required to promote bacterial adherence to nasopharyngeal cells ⁷⁷. However, other reports state a thicker capsule is required to protect from the host immune response and therefore heavier encapsulation is associated with prolonged carriage duration ⁷⁹. When the three ST217 isolates were compared in a murine model of carriage, there were no differences in their ability to establish nasopharyngeal carriage, despite significant differences in capsule thickness and resistance to complement deposition in vitro. Further examination of capsule over 14 days in the nasopharynx demonstrated that the capsule thickness changed significantly over the course of infection, with results suggesting that nasopharyngeal colonisation induces an increase in capsule thickness which allowed the bacteria to colonise for over 14 days. However, murine models are not sufficient to fully mimic changes in capsule thickness that may be observed in humans. Multiple species of bacteria usually colonise the human nasopharynx and at times these may include multiple serotypes of S. pneumoniae ³⁰⁶ ^{307,308}. The full

effect of bacterial competition on capsule expression could not be addressed in this work. However, it is worth noting that significant changes in the capsule thickness were seen throughout the duration of carriage, suggesting that capsule thickness should not be defined by niche or even serotype as the host immune responses, competition with other bacteria and nutrient/oxygen availability may significantly impact capsule thickness of *S. pneumoniae*.

Further work should be done to compare serotype 1 colonisation characteristics (capsule thickness, resistance to C3b deposition, colonisation of OE and OB) compared to a serotype such as 19A which has been described as a 'good coloniser' with high detection rates during routine nasopharyngeal swabbing, combined with low rates of IPD ³⁰⁹. This will be useful to measure whether changes in capsule thickness and dissemination into the olfactory tissues seen during serotype 1 colonisation is common amongst all *S. pneumoniae* serotypes.

The host immune responses were compared between colonisation of serotype 1 and serotype 2 in the nasopharynx. The aim of this work was to ascertain whether there were significant differences in the host immune responses between the two serotypes. Previous publications show the importance of immune-modulating cells in controlling nasopharyngeal carriage with emphasis on the role of T regulatory cells and TGF- β ¹⁰⁰. Colonisation of serotype 1 and serotype 2 induced significant increases in numbers of Th17, Th1 and T regulatory cells in the nasopharynx, however, no significant differences were observed when comparing responses between serotypes, despite serotype 1 colonising the nasopharynx at a significantly higher density and seeding into the olfactory tissues and brain. Thus, any differences in the

host immune responses initiated between the two serotypes are likely to be subtle, or not confined to nasopharynx, and these methods were not sensitive enough to detect any differences in the cellular response. Further work should include more detailed phenotyping of the T regulatory cells present during carriage. Markers are now available to identify activated T regulatory cells, for example GARP, and CD39 which can be used to detect T regulatory cells with highly immunosuppressive abilities ³¹⁰⁻³¹². Use of the transcription factor Foxp3 alone is not sufficient to assess the phenotype of T regulatory cells present during cells alone is not sufficient to serotype 2 carriage.

This body of research was performed using two different mouse strains, MF1 and BALB/c. These murine strains differ in their susceptibilities to pneumococcal infection. BALB/c mice are highly resistant to pneumococcal pneumonia due to rapid recruitment of T regulatory cells into the lung in response to pneumococci and high TGF β levels ^{173,208}. This recruitment is critical in reducing inflammation and ensuring minimal tissue damage occurs in the lungs. When comparing carriage of serotype 1 in MF1 mice to BALB/c, at 21 days post infection in MF1 mice, all pneumococci had been cleared. However, in BALB/c mice, serotype 1 was still carrying at a high density at day 21 with no sign of a decline in numbers. The high levels of immune modulation present in the BALB/c mice may allow serotype 1 carriage for over 21 days. Further work should be done to examine whether BALB/c are able to successfully clear serotype 1 from the nasopharynx over time. Interestingly, even with significant increases in the T regulatory cell numbers during colonisation, serotype 1 is still able to invade the OB, OE and brain, suggesting that the host immune response is not able to fully prevent bacterial

dissemination and that tissue invasion may be predominantly driven by the bacteria.

When serotype 1 and 2 were compared in a BALB/c murine model of pneumonia, striking differences in disease severity were observed. Firstly, mice infected with serotype 1 displayed 100% mortality, compared to those infected with serotype 2 (100% survival). When other clinically-relevant serotypes were examined in this model, only African serotype 1 isolates caused mortality. Mortality was attributed to high bacterial numbers in the bloodstream. Data showed that African serotype 1 could pass rapidly from the lungs into the bloodstream and cause severe bacteraemia. This was found to be due to high rates of autolysis in African serotype 1 isolates which led to the release of highly haemolytic pneumolysin. Serotype 1 pneumolysin leads to cytotoxic damage of lung epithelial cells which is the likely cause of bacterial dissemination into the bloodstream. Neutralisation of pneumolysin by liposomes (lipid vesicles acting as decoy pneumolysin binding sites) significantly reduced the damage to lung epithelial cells and was seen to reduce mortality rates of infected mice.

Whilst it is known that pneumolysin aids bacterial invasion of host tissues 93 , I have now demonstrated that this is the main driving force behind serotype 1 pathogenesis in the lung. By calculating the amount of pneumolysin produced, the haemolytic activity of that pneumolysin and the rate of bacterial lysis, I can now determine the amount of pneumolysin and therefore haemolytic units released per minute which can predict the invasive potential of different serotypes and lineages of *S. pneumoniae*. African serotype 1 bacteria release significantly higher concentrations of haemolytic pneumolysin due to high

rates of autolysis compared to other clinically relevant serotypes. This is predicted to drive serotype 1 pathogenesis in the lungs of BALB/c mice and facilitates bacterial dissemination from the lungs into the bloodstream to cause high mortality rates in a murine strain that has been widely published as being highly resistant to pneumococcal pneumonia. Serotype 1 invasion into the olfactory tissues and brain during nasopharyngeal colonisation is also likely to be driven by high rates of autolysis and pneumolysin. I hypothesize that low carriage rates and high incidents of IPD reported with African serotype 1 infection is due to release of pneumolysin in the nasopharynx that facilitates bacterial invasion of local tissues including the olfactory tissues and brain. Higher bacterial loads of serotype 1 compared to serotype 2 in the nasopharynx of BALB/ mice is likely to be attributable to high concentrations of serotype 1 pneumolysin driving bacterial proliferation and therefore increasing rates of tissue invasion. To fully assess the role of pneumolysin, autolysin and bacterial capsule in serotype 1 pathogenesis, isogenic mutants of serotype 1 need to be produced. If a pneumolysin or autolysin-negative mutant was developed and disease pathogenesis during pneumococcal pneumonia in BALB/c mice was compared to wild-type serotype 1, the importance of these virulence factors could be fully ascertained. Unfortunately, there have been many challenges associated with mutagenesis of serotype 1 S. pneumoniae. Whilst many pneumococcal research groups can successfully construct pneumolysin/autolysin knockout bacteria in a variety of serotypes, no-one has been able to successfully genetically manipulate serotype 1.

Pneumolysin is known to drive many of the host immune responses to pneumococcal infection including TGF β release from epithelial cells and IL-1 β production via inflammasome activation^{100,116,313}. *In vitro* analysis of T cell differentiation in the presence of serotype 1 compared to serotype 2 showed significantly lower T regulatory cell differentiation in the presence of serotype 1. These data suggest that serotype 1 infection leads to differentiation of pro-inflammatory T cell subsets such as Th17 and Th1. Perhaps the difference in the repertoire of T cell subsets is influenced by not only the amount of pneumolysin present but also the haemolytic activity of the toxin. To assess they both release similar quantities of pneumolysin upon lysis but ST306 has a non-haemolytic pneumolysin. Several differences in the pathogenesis of these two sequence types in both carriage and invasive disease suggest that the haemolytic activity of pneumolysin plays an important role²⁵⁹.

When studying epidemiological data for serotype 1, mortality rates from Europe and Africa are often combined, which can skew the data as ST306, which is the dominant sequence type in Europe, causes low mortality compared African sequence types such ST3081 to as and ST217^{108,242,245,255,314}. When comparing ST217 and ST306 in murine models of infection, I observed significant differences in disease severity and mortality rates. Therefore, studies concerning serotype 1 should be clearly separated into European and African isolates as not all sequence types of serotype 1 have the same disease pathogenesis.

Before this research was performed, very little was known about the influence of serotype 1 capsule and pneumolysin on mucosal invasion and the

associated immune response. As a result, scientists are keenly awaiting epidemiological data, particularly from Africa, on the impact of PCV13 on rates of serotype 1 carriage and invasive disease. As African serotype 1 causes disease in healthy young adults, it is not clear whether a vaccine that removes a serotype 1 reservoir in young children will result in a decrease in disease rates across the adult population. High mortality rates observed in a mouse strain highly resistant to pneumococcal pneumonia, during African serotype 1 infection suggests that this serotype is highly invasive compared to other serotypes and therefore may explain why high disease rates are observed in young, otherwise healthy adults. I have been able to identify two key virulence factors in African serotype 1 disease pathogenesis; pneumolysin and autolysin. Pneumolysin is known to enhance tissue invasion because of damage caused to epithelial cells ²⁸⁴. In areas such as sub-Saharan Africa, environmental factors such as high temperatures and presence of Harmattan winds are likely to exacerbate this process as high temperatures increase rates of autolysis and dust exposure decreases the ability of macrophages and neutrophils to phagocytose S. pneumoniae²⁴⁶. Thus, a combination of a serotype producing highly haemolytic pneumolysin and environmental factors which increase the rates of pneumolysin release may explain why serotype 1 is the leading cause of IPD in Africa. As there has been much emphasis placed on the importance of pneumolysin in serotype 1 disease pathogenesis, future therapeutics could be aimed at targeting pneumolysin, whether this may be through future vaccine design or administration of liposomes or antipneumolysin antibodies to bind and neutralise pneumolysin, to reduce excessive tissue damage and bacterial dissemination into the blood or brain.

Serotype 1 nasopharyngeal colonisation

Figure 54 summarises differences in serotype 1 nasopharyngeal colonisation compared to serotype 2. Carriage density of serotype 1 is greater than that of serotype 2 in murine models of infection. Studies performed in chapter 5 demonstrate that serotype 1 can successfully colonise the olfactory tissues at significantly higher densities than serotype 2. In addition, serotype 1 is also able to invade the brain during nasopharyngeal carriage. Few differences are seen in the host immune responses between the two serotypes, which suggests that differences in carriage density and invasive potential are primarily driven by the bacteria. Previous data have shown that serotype 1 has significantly faster rates of autolysis which allows the release of pneumolysin. Studies in chapter 4 have shown that pneumolysin produced by serotype 1 has a higher haemolytic activity compared to other serotypes and causes high levels of cytotoxicity in host cells along with disruption of tight junctions between lung epithelial cells. Although cytotoxicity levels have only been performed using lung epithelial cells, we would predict that pneumolysin has similar effects on nasopharyngeal cells. Therefore, it is assumed that high rates of autolysis in serotype 1 bacteria lead to high concentrations of haemolytic pneumolysin released in the nasopharynx. This may cause damage to local epithelial cells, allowing pneumococci to invade the olfactory epithelium and bulb. Excess pneumolysin produced by serotype 1 is then likely to facilitate further translocation into the brain. This may explanation why high rates of pneumococcal meningitis caused by serotype 1 are seen in Africa.

D39 nasopharyngeal colonisation



Serotype 1 nasopharyngeal colonisation



Figure 54. Invasion of the brain by serotype 1 ST217 during nasopharyngeal carriage. The top figure represents nasopharyngeal colonisation with D39 and the lower figure colonisation with serotype 1 (ST217). (A) Shows colonisation of the nasopharynx (NP). Serotype 1 (red) has been shown to colonise the NP at a significantly higher density that D39 (blue). (B) Pneumococcal colonisation can also occur in the olfactory epithelium which contain olfactory neurons. (C)There is evidence that pneumococci can adhere to these neurons and migrate up these neurons to the Olfactory bulb (OB). The OB is in close proximity to the brain (D). D39 can migrate into the olfactory bulb via olfactory neurons but it is only serotype 1 that is able to move from the OB into the brain. Adapted from Faud AS *et al* Harrisons Principles of Internal Medicine, 17th edition.

Comparisons of pneumococcal pneumonia caused by serotype 1 compared to serotype 2

Figure 55 summarises the role of pneumolysin and autolysin in serotype 1 pneumococcal pneumonia. Results from this study demonstrated that serotype 1 has significantly higher rates of autolysis compared to serotype 2. Autolysis enables the release of pneumolysin from the cell. It was found that the haemolytic activity of serotype 1 pneumolysin was significantly higher than other clinical serotypes which resulted in higher levels of cytotoxicity of lung epithelial cells and significant disruption of tight junctions between epithelial cells that form the barrier between the lungs and bloodstream. In vivo, this equated to serotype 1 causing bacteraemia and resulting in 100% mortality in murine models of pneumococcal pneumonia compared to serotype 2 which resulted in no detectable bacteria in the blood and 100% survival rates. Figure 55 shows a model whereby serotype 1 in the lung undergo high levels of autolysis, leading to the release of larger quantities of pneumolysin. This pneumolysin causes damage to lung epithelial cells which allows bacteria to translocate into the bloodstream. Once in the blood, serotype 1 causes widespread bacteraemia, leading to high mortality rates. The host immune response during pneumonia was not studied in this work but it is likely that excess pneumolysin in the lungs causes high levels of inflammation which causes further damage to host cells. In the absence of high levels of pneumolysin, as with a serotype 2 infection, high levels of TGF- β are produced which reduces inflammation and prevents excess tissue damage. This allows the bacteria to be contained within the lung and no dissemination into the bloodstream is observed.



Figure 55. Comparison of pneumococcal pneumonia in serotype 1 compared to serotype 2 infection. In a serotype 1 (ST217/ST3081) infected lung, levels of bacteria lysis are high, resulting in release of high concentrations of pneumolysin. Pneumolysin causing damage to tight junctions between lung epithelial cells and levels of cell cytotoxicity are high. High levels of pneumolysin and local tissue damage equate to high inflammation. Damage to lung epithelial cell barriers allow serotype 1 bacteria is disseminate out of the lung into the bloodstream and cause bacteraemia. In a D39 infected lung, rates of bacterial lysis are significantly lower and therefore less pneumolysin is released. This results in less tissue damage and lower levels of inflammation. As no cytotoxic damage occurs, barriers between lungs and blood remain stable and D39 are contained in the lung and are subsequently cleared by the host immune response.

The aim of this work was to understand the mechanisms of disease pathogenesis of African serotype 1. Using both *in vitro* and *in vivo* models of infection, results have shown that serotype 1 pathogenesis is driven by production of highly haemolytic pneumolysin which is released in vast quantities due to rapid rates of autolysis. Detailed analysis has shown that the number of haemolytic units of pneumolysin released per minute is higher in African serotype 1 isolates compared to other clinically important strains. Using murine models of nasopharyngeal carriage, serotype 1 was shown to successfully colonise the nasopharynx for over 14 days. In comparison to D39, serotype 1 invades olfactory tissues and is able to enter the brain. In murine models of invasive pneumococcal disease, high rates of autolysis and therefore release of haemolytic pneumolysin led to rapid dissemination of serotype 1 from the lungs into the bloodstream, causing 100% mortality compared to 100% survival observed with infection with D39 and clinically relevant serotypes.

These findings have implications in the design of future vaccines and therapeutic targets. Pneumolysin has been shown to be the main virulence factor involved in disease pathogenesis. Targeting pneumolysin may help reduce tissue invasion and bacterial dissemination during nasopharyngeal carriage and in the context of serotype 1 IPD.

7.0 References

- 1 O'Brien, K. L. *et al.* Burden of disease caused by Streptococcus pneumoniae in children younger than 5 years: global estimates. *Lancet* **374**, 893-902, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61204-6 (2009).
- 2 Watson, D. A., Musher, D. M., Jacobson, J. W. & Verhoef, J. A brief history of the pneumococcus in biomedical research: a panoply of scientific discovery. *Clin Infect Dis* **17**, 913-924 (1993).
- Bogaert, D., De Groot, R. & Hermans, P. W. Streptococcus pneumoniae colonisation: the key to pneumococcal disease. *Lancet Infect Dis* **4**, 144-154, doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(04)00938-7 (2004).
- 4 Sleeman, K. L. *et al.* Capsular serotype-specific attack rates and duration of carriage of Streptococcus pneumoniae in a population of children. *J Infect Dis* **194**, 682-688, doi:10.1086/505710 (2006).
- 5 Nuorti, J. P. *et al.* Cigarette smoking and invasive pneumococcal disease. Active Bacterial Core Surveillance Team. *N Engl J Med* **342**, 681-689, doi:10.1056/NEJM200003093421002 (2000).
- 6 Torres, A., Peetermans, W. E., Viegi, G. & Blasi, F. Risk factors for communityacquired pneumonia in adults in Europe: a literature review. *Thorax* **68**, 1057-1065, doi:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2013-204282 (2013).
- Lim, W. S. *et al.* Study of community acquired pneumonia aetiology (SCAPA) in adults admitted to hospital: implications for management guidelines. *Thorax* 56, 296-301 (2001).
- 8 Balakrishnan, I., Crook, P., Morris, R. & Gillespie, S. H. Early predictors of mortality in pneumococcal bacteraemia. *J Infect* **40**, 256-261, doi:10.1053/jinf.2000.0653 (2000).
- 9 Denny, F. W. & Loda, F. A. Acute respiratory infections are the leading cause of death in children in developing countries. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **35**, 1-2 (1986).
- 10 Berkley, J. A. *et al.* Bacteremia among children admitted to a rural hospital in Kenya. *N Engl J Med* **352**, 39-47, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa040275 (2005).
- 11 Usuf, E., Bottomley, C., Adegbola, R. A. & Hall, A. Pneumococcal carriage in sub-Saharan Africa--a systematic review. *PLoS One* **9**, e85001, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0085001 (2014).
- 12 Adegbola, R. A. *et al.* Carriage of Streptococcus pneumoniae and other respiratory bacterial pathogens in low and lower-middle income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One* **9**, e103293, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0103293 (2014).
- 13 Henriques-Normark, B. & Tuomanen, E. I. The pneumococcus: epidemiology, microbiology, and pathogenesis. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* **3**, doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a010215 (2013).

- 14 Mackenzie, G. A., Leach, A. J., Carapetis, J. R., Fisher, J. & Morris, P. S. Epidemiology of nasopharyngeal carriage of respiratory bacterial pathogens in children and adults: cross-sectional surveys in a population with high rates of pneumococcal disease. *BMC Infect Dis* **10**, 304, doi:10.1186/1471-2334-10-304 (2010).
- 15 van Sorge, N. M. & Doran, K. S. Defense at the border: the blood-brain barrier versus bacterial foreigners. *Future Microbiol* **7**, 383-394, doi:10.2217/fmb.12.1 (2012).
- 16 Bentley, S. D. *et al.* Genetic analysis of the capsular biosynthetic locus from all 90 pneumococcal serotypes. *PLoS Genet* **2**, e31, doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.0020031 (2006).
- 17 Geno, K. A., Saad, J. S. & Nahm, M. H. Discovery of novel pneumococcal serotype, 35D: a natural WciG-deficient variant of serotype 35B. *J Clin Microbiol*, doi:10.1128/JCM.00054-17 (2017).
- 18 Sjostrom, K. *et al.* Clonal and capsular types decide whether pneumococci will act as a primary or opportunistic pathogen. *Clin Infect Dis* **42**, 451-459, doi:10.1086/499242 (2006).
- 19 Brueggemann, A. B. *et al.* Temporal and geographic stability of the serogroupspecific invasive disease potential of Streptococcus pneumoniae in children. *J Infect Dis* **190**, 1203-1211, doi:10.1086/423820 (2004).
- 20 Henriques-Normark, B., Blomberg, C., Dagerhamn, J., Battig, P. & Normark, S. The rise and fall of bacterial clones: Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **6**, 827-837, doi:10.1038/nrmicro2011 (2008).
- 21 Dagerhamn, J. *et al.* Determination of accessory gene patterns predicts the same relatedness among strains of Streptococcus pneumoniae as sequencing of housekeeping genes does and represents a novel approach in molecular epidemiology. *J Clin Microbiol* **46**, 863-868, doi:10.1128/JCM.01438-07 (2008).
- 22 Song, J. Y. *et al.* Clinical and economic burden of invasive pneumococcal disease in adults: a multicenter hospital-based study. *BMC Infect Dis* **13**, 202, doi:10.1186/1471-2334-13-202 (2013).
- 23 Roca, A. et al. Invasive pneumococcal disease in children<5 years of age in rural Mozambique. Trop Med Int Health 11, 1422-1431, doi:10.1111/j.1365-3156.2006.01697.x (2006).
- 24 Elsaid, M. F., Flamerzi, A. A., Bessisso, M. S. & Elshafie, S. S. Acute bacterial meningitis in Qatar. *Saudi Med J* **27**, 198-204 (2006).
- 25 Jones, N., Huebner, R., Khoosal, M., Crewe-Brown, H. & Klugman, K. The impact of HIV on Streptococcus pneumoniae bacteraemia in a South African population. *AIDS* 12, 2177-2184 (1998).
- 26 Scott, J. A. *et al.* Aetiology, outcome, and risk factors for mortality among adults with acute pneumonia in Kenya. *Lancet* **355**, 1225-1230 (2000).

- 27 Drijkoningen, J. J. & Rohde, G. G. Pneumococcal infection in adults: burden of disease. *Clin Microbiol Infect* **20 Suppl 5**, 45-51, doi:10.1111/1469-0691.12461 (2014).
- 28 Reinert, R. R. *et al.* Invasive pneumococcal disease in adults in North-Rhine Westphalia, Germany, 2001-2003. *Clin Microbiol Infect* **11**, 985-991, doi:10.1111/j.1469-0691.2005.01282.x (2005).
- 29 Hung, I. F., Tantawichien, T., Tsai, Y. H., Patil, S. & Zotomayor, R. Regional epidemiology of invasive pneumococcal disease in Asian adults: epidemiology, disease burden, serotype distribution, and antimicrobial resistance patterns and prevention. *Int J Infect Dis* **17**, e364-373, doi:10.1016/j.ijid.2013.01.004 (2013).
- 30 Robinson, K. A. *et al.* Epidemiology of invasive Streptococcus pneumoniae infections in the United States, 1995-1998: Opportunities for prevention in the conjugate vaccine era. *JAMA* **285**, 1729-1735 (2001).
- 31 Kupronis, B. A., Richards, C. L., Whitney, C. G. & Active Bacterial Core Surveillance, T. Invasive pneumococcal disease in older adults residing in long-term care facilities and in the community. *J Am Geriatr Soc* **51**, 1520-1525 (2003).
- 32 Pilishvili, T. *et al.* Sustained reductions in invasive pneumococcal disease in the era of conjugate vaccine. *J Infect Dis* **201**, 32-41, doi:10.1086/648593 (2010).
- Madhi, S. A. & Nunes, M. C. The potential impact of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in Africa: Considerations and early lessons learned from the South African experience. *Hum Vaccin Immunother* 12, 314-325, doi:10.1080/21645515.2015.1084450 (2016).
- 34 Cohen, C. *et al.* Effectiveness of the 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine against invasive pneumococcal disease in South African children: a case-control study. *Lancet Glob Health* **5**, e359-e369, doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(17)30043-8 (2017).
- 35 Cohen, R. & Levy, C. 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in Africa. *Lancet Glob Health* **5**, e244-e245, doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(17)30044-X (2017).
- 36 Johnson, H. L. *et al.* Systematic evaluation of serotypes causing invasive pneumococcal disease among children under five: the pneumococcal global serotype project. *PLoS Med* **7**, doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000348 (2010).
- 37 Garcia-Rodriguez, J. A. & Fresnadillo Martinez, M. J. Dynamics of nasopharyngeal colonization by potential respiratory pathogens. *J Antimicrob Chemother* **50 Suppl S2**, 59-73 (2002).
- 38 Gray, B. M., Converse, G. M., 3rd & Dillon, H. C., Jr. Epidemiologic studies of Streptococcus pneumoniae in infants: acquisition, carriage, and infection during the first 24 months of life. *J Infect Dis* **142**, 923-933 (1980).
- 39 Brugger, S. D., Frey, P., Aebi, S., Hinds, J. & Muhlemann, K. Multiple colonization with S. pneumoniae before and after introduction of the seven-valent conjugated

pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine. *PLoS One* **5**, e11638, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0011638 (2010).

- 40 Abdullahi, O., Nyiro, J., Lewa, P., Slack, M. & Scott, J. A. The descriptive epidemiology of Streptococcus pneumoniae and Haemophilus influenzae nasopharyngeal carriage in children and adults in Kilifi district, Kenya. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* **27**, 59-64, doi:10.1097/INF.0b013e31814da70c (2008).
- 41 Adetifa, I. M. *et al.* Pre-vaccination nasopharyngeal pneumococcal carriage in a Nigerian population: epidemiology and population biology. *PLoS One* **7**, e30548, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0030548 (2012).
- 42 Kronenberg, A., Zucs, P., Droz, S. & Muhlemann, K. Distribution and invasiveness of Streptococcus pneumoniae serotypes in Switzerland, a country with low antibiotic selection pressure, from 2001 to 2004. *J Clin Microbiol* **44**, 2032-2038, doi:10.1128/JCM.00275-06 (2006).
- 43 Weinberger, D. M., Malley, R. & Lipsitch, M. Serotype replacement in disease after pneumococcal vaccination. *Lancet* **378**, 1962-1973, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)62225-8 (2011).
- 44 Ritchie, N. D., Mitchell, T. J. & Evans, T. J. What is different about serotype 1 pneumococci? *Future Microbiol* **7**, 33-46, doi:10.2217/fmb.11.146 (2012).
- 45 Brueggemann, A. B. *et al.* Clonal relationships between invasive and carriage Streptococcus pneumoniae and serotype- and clone-specific differences in invasive disease potential. *J Infect Dis* **187**, 1424-1432, doi:10.1086/374624 (2003).
- 46 Hanage, W. P. *et al.* Invasiveness of serotypes and clones of Streptococcus pneumoniae among children in Finland. *Infect Immun* **73**, 431-435, doi:10.1128/IAI.73.1.431-435.2005 (2005).
- 47 Sa-Leao, R. *et al.* Analysis of invasiveness of pneumococcal serotypes and clones circulating in Portugal before widespread use of conjugate vaccines reveals heterogeneous behavior of clones expressing the same serotype. *J Clin Microbiol* **49**, 1369-1375, doi:10.1128/JCM.01763-10 (2011).
- 48 Shouval, D. S., Greenberg, D., Givon-Lavi, N., Porat, N. & Dagan, R. Site-specific disease potential of individual Streptococcus pneumoniae serotypes in pediatric invasive disease, acute otitis media and acute conjunctivitis. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* **25**, 602-607, doi:10.1097/01.inf.0000220231.79968.f6 (2006).
- 49 Rivera-Olivero, I. A. *et al.* Carriage and invasive isolates of Streptococcus pneumoniae in Caracas, Venezuela: the relative invasiveness of serotypes and vaccine coverage. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis* **30**, 1489-1495, doi:10.1007/s10096-011-1247-5 (2011).
- 50 Song, Y. N., Zhang, G. B., Zhang, Y. Y. & Su, S. B. Clinical Applications of Omics Technologies on ZHENG Differentiation Research in Traditional Chinese Medicine. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med* **2013**, 989618, doi:10.1155/2013/989618 (2013).

- 51 Niederman, M. S. Review of treatment guidelines for community-acquired pneumonia. *Am J Med* **117 Suppl 3A**, 51S-57S (2004).
- 52 Brandenburg, J. A. *et al.* Clinical presentation, processes and outcomes of care for patients with pneumococcal pneumonia. *J Gen Intern Med* **15**, 638-646 (2000).
- 53 Gentile, A. *et al.* Epidemiology of community-acquired pneumonia in children of Latin America and the Caribbean: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Infect Dis* **16**, e5-15, doi:10.1016/j.ijid.2011.09.013 (2012).
- 54 Bender, J. M. *et al.* Pneumococcal necrotizing pneumonia in Utah: does serotype matter? *Clin Infect Dis* **46**, 1346-1352, doi:10.1086/586747 (2008).
- 55 Resti, M. *et al.* Community-acquired bacteremic pneumococcal pneumonia in children: diagnosis and serotyping by real-time polymerase chain reaction using blood samples. *Clin Infect Dis* **51**, 1042-1049, doi:10.1086/656579 (2010).
- 56 Bewick, T. *et al.* Serotype prevalence in adults hospitalised with pneumococcal noninvasive community-acquired pneumonia. *Thorax* **67**, 540-545, doi:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2011-201092 (2012).
- 57 Cilloniz, C. *et al.* Pulmonary complications of pneumococcal community-acquired pneumonia: incidence, predictors, and outcomes. *Clin Microbiol Infect* **18**, 1134-1142, doi:10.1111/j.1469-0691.2011.03692.x (2012).
- 58 Sahn, S. A. Diagnosis and management of parapneumonic effusions and empyema. *Clin Infect Dis* **45**, 1480-1486, doi:10.1086/522996 (2007).
- 59 Byington, C. L. *et al.* Impact of the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine on pneumococcal parapneumonic empyema. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* **25**, 250-254, doi:10.1097/01.inf.0000202137.37642.ab (2006).
- 60 Gessner, B. D., Mueller, J. E. & Yaro, S. African meningitis belt pneumococcal disease epidemiology indicates a need for an effective serotype 1 containing vaccine, including for older children and adults. *BMC Infect Dis* **10**, 22, doi:10.1186/1471-2334-10-22 (2010).
- 61 AlonsoDeVelasco, E., Verheul, A. F., Verhoef, J. & Snippe, H. Streptococcus pneumoniae: virulence factors, pathogenesis, and vaccines. *Microbiol Rev* **59**, 591-603 (1995).
- 62 Morona, J. K., Miller, D. C., Morona, R. & Paton, J. C. The effect that mutations in the conserved capsular polysaccharide biosynthesis genes cpsA, cpsB, and cpsD have on virulence of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *J Infect Dis* **189**, 1905-1913, doi:10.1086/383352 (2004).
- 63 Briles, D. E., Crain, M. J., Gray, B. M., Forman, C. & Yother, J. Strong association between capsular type and virulence for mice among human isolates of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Infect Immun* **60**, 111-116 (1992).

- 64 Morona, J. K., Morona, R. & Paton, J. C. Attachment of capsular polysaccharide to the cell wall of Streptococcus pneumoniae type 2 is required for invasive disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **103**, 8505-8510, doi:10.1073/pnas.0602148103 (2006).
- 65 Watson, D. A. & Musher, D. M. Interruption of capsule production in Streptococcus pneumonia serotype 3 by insertion of transposon Tn916. *Infect Immun* **58**, 3135-3138 (1990).
- 66 Wood, W. B., Jr. & Smith, M. R. The inhibition of surface phagocytosis by the capsular slime layer of pneumococcus type III. *J Exp Med* **90**, 85-96 (1949).
- 67 Kelly, T., Dillard, J. P. & Yother, J. Effect of genetic switching of capsular type on virulence of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Infect Immun* **62**, 1813-1819 (1994).
- 68 Kadioglu, A. *et al.* Upper and lower respiratory tract infection by Streptococcus pneumoniae is affected by pneumolysin deficiency and differences in capsule type. *Infect Immun* **70**, 2886-2890 (2002).
- 69 Kung, E. *et al.* The pneumococcal polysaccharide capsule and pneumolysin differentially affect CXCL8 and IL-6 release from cells of the upper and lower respiratory tract. *PLoS One* **9**, e92355, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0092355 (2014).
- 70 Nelson, A. L. *et al.* Capsule enhances pneumococcal colonization by limiting mucusmediated clearance. *Infect Immun* **75**, 83-90, doi:10.1128/IAI.01475-06 (2007).
- 71 Beiter, K. *et al.* The capsule sensitizes Streptococcus pneumoniae to alpha-defensins human neutrophil proteins 1 to 3. *Infect Immun* **76**, 3710-3716, doi:10.1128/IAI.01748-07 (2008).
- 72 Wartha, F. *et al.* Capsule and D-alanylated lipoteichoic acids protect Streptococcus pneumoniae against neutrophil extracellular traps. *Cell Microbiol* **9**, 1162-1171, doi:10.1111/j.1462-5822.2006.00857.x (2007).
- 73 Hostetter, M. K. Serotypic variations among virulent pneumococci in deposition and degradation of covalently bound C3b: implications for phagocytosis and antibody production. *J Infect Dis* **153**, 682-693 (1986).
- 74 Melin, M. *et al.* Streptococcus pneumoniae capsular serotype 19F is more resistant to C3 deposition and less sensitive to opsonophagocytosis than serotype 6B. *Infect Immun* **77**, 676-684, doi:10.1128/IAI.01186-08 (2009).
- 75 Hathaway, L. J. *et al.* Capsule type of Streptococcus pneumoniae determines growth phenotype. *PLoS Pathog* **8**, e1002574, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002574 (2012).
- 76 Hathaway, L. J., Grandgirard, D., Valente, L. G., Tauber, M. G. & Leib, S. L. Streptococcus pneumoniae capsule determines disease severity in experimental pneumococcal meningitis. *Open Biol* **6**, doi:10.1098/rsob.150269 (2016).
- 77 Hammerschmidt, S. *et al.* Illustration of pneumococcal polysaccharide capsule during adherence and invasion of epithelial cells. *Infect Immun* **73**, 4653-4667, doi:10.1128/IAI.73.8.4653-4667.2005 (2005).

- Dalia, A. B. & Weiser, J. N. Minimization of bacterial size allows for complement evasion and is overcome by the agglutinating effect of antibody. *Cell Host Microbe* 10, 486-496, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2011.09.009 (2011).
- 79 Weinberger, D. M. *et al.* Pneumococcal capsular polysaccharide structure predicts serotype prevalence. *PLoS Pathog* **5**, e1000476, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000476 (2009).
- 80 Weiser, J. N., Austrian, R., Sreenivasan, P. K. & Masure, H. R. Phase variation in pneumococcal opacity: relationship between colonial morphology and nasopharyngeal colonization. *Infect Immun* **62**, 2582-2589 (1994).
- 81 Kim, J. O. & Weiser, J. N. Association of intrastrain phase variation in quantity of capsular polysaccharide and teichoic acid with the virulence of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *J Infect Dis* **177**, 368-377 (1998).
- 82 Tong, H. H., Weiser, J. N., James, M. A. & DeMaria, T. F. Effect of influenza A virus infection on nasopharyngeal colonization and otitis media induced by transparent or opaque phenotype variants of Streptococcus pneumoniae in the chinchilla model. *Infect Immun* 69, 602-606, doi:10.1128/IAI.69.1.602-606.2001 (2001).
- 83 Paton, J. C., Berry, A. M., Lock, R. A., Hansman, D. & Manning, P. A. Cloning and expression in Escherichia coli of the Streptococcus pneumoniae gene encoding pneumolysin. *Infect Immun* **54**, 50-55 (1986).
- Andrew, P. W., Mitchell, T. J. & Morgan, P. J. Relationship of structure to function in pneumolysin. *Microb Drug Resist* **3**, 11-17, doi:10.1089/mdr.1997.3.11 (1997).
- 85 Rubins, J. B. *et al.* Distinct roles for pneumolysin's cytotoxic and complement activities in the pathogenesis of pneumococcal pneumonia. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* **153**, 1339-1346, doi:10.1164/ajrccm.153.4.8616564 (1996).
- 86 van Pee, K., Mulvihill, E., Muller, D. J. & Yildiz, O. Unraveling the Pore-Forming Steps of Pneumolysin from Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Nano Lett* **16**, 7915-7924, doi:10.1021/acs.nanolett.6b04219 (2016).
- 87 Owen, R. H., Boulnois, G. J., Andrew, P. W. & Mitchell, T. J. A role in cell-binding for the C-terminus of pneumolysin, the thiol-activated toxin of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **121**, 217-221 (1994).
- 88 Walker, J. A., Allen, R. L., Falmagne, P., Johnson, M. K. & Boulnois, G. J. Molecular cloning, characterization, and complete nucleotide sequence of the gene for pneumolysin, the sulfhydryl-activated toxin of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Infect Immun* **55**, 1184-1189 (1987).
- Balachandran, P., Hollingshead, S. K., Paton, J. C. & Briles, D. E. The autolytic enzyme
 LytA of Streptococcus pneumoniae is not responsible for releasing pneumolysin. J
 Bacteriol 183, 3108-3116, doi:10.1128/JB.183.10.3108-3116.2001 (2001).
- 90 Ramirez, M., Severina, E. & Tomasz, A. A high incidence of prophage carriage among natural isolates of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *J Bacteriol* **181**, 3618-3625 (1999).

- 91 Price, K. E. & Camilli, A. Pneumolysin localizes to the cell wall of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *J Bacteriol* **191**, 2163-2168, doi:10.1128/JB.01489-08 (2009).
- 92 Bryant, J. C. *et al.* Pyruvate oxidase of Streptococcus pneumoniae contributes to pneumolysin release. *BMC Microbiol* **16**, 271, doi:10.1186/s12866-016-0881-6 (2016).
- 93 Hirst, R. A., Kadioglu, A., O'Callaghan, C. & Andrew, P. W. The role of pneumolysin in pneumococcal pneumonia and meningitis. *Clin Exp Immunol* **138**, 195-201, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2004.02611.x (2004).
- 94 Kadioglu, A., Coward, W., Colston, M. J., Hewitt, C. R. & Andrew, P. W. CD4-Tlymphocyte interactions with pneumolysin and pneumococci suggest a crucial protective role in the host response to pneumococcal infection. *Infect Immun* **72**, 2689-2697 (2004).
- 95 Feldman, C. *et al.* Pneumolysin induces the salient histologic features of pneumococcal infection in the rat lung in vivo. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* **5**, 416-423, doi:10.1165/ajrcmb/5.5.416 (1991).
- 96 Rubins, J. B. *et al.* Dual function of pneumolysin in the early pathogenesis of murine pneumococcal pneumonia. *J Clin Invest* **95**, 142-150, doi:10.1172/JCl117631 (1995).
- 97 Berry, A. M. *et al.* Effect of defined point mutations in the pneumolysin gene on the virulence of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Infect Immun* **63**, 1969-1974 (1995).
- 98 Canvin, J. R. *et al.* The role of pneumolysin and autolysin in the pathology of pneumonia and septicemia in mice infected with a type 2 pneumococcus. *J Infect Dis* **172**, 119-123 (1995).
- 99 Rubins, J. B. *et al.* Pneumolysin in pneumococcal adherence and colonization. *Microb Pathog* **25**, 337-342, doi:10.1006/mpat.1998.0239 (1998).
- 100 Neill, D. R. *et al.* Density and duration of pneumococcal carriage is maintained by transforming growth factor beta1 and T regulatory cells. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* **189**, 1250-1259, doi:10.1164/rccm.201401-0128OC (2014).
- 101 Richards, L., Ferreira, D. M., Miyaji, E. N., Andrew, P. W. & Kadioglu, A. The immunising effect of pneumococcal nasopharyngeal colonisation; protection against future colonisation and fatal invasive disease. *Immunobiology* **215**, 251-263, doi:10.1016/j.imbio.2009.12.004 (2010).
- 102 Hatcher, B. L., Hale, J. Y. & Briles, D. E. Free Sialic Acid Acts as a Signal That Promotes Streptococcus pneumoniae Invasion of Nasal Tissue and Nonhematogenous Invasion of the Central Nervous System. *Infect Immun* 84, 2607-2615, doi:10.1128/IAI.01514-15 (2016).
- 103 Leib, S. L., Kim, Y. S., Chow, L. L., Sheldon, R. A. & Tauber, M. G. Reactive oxygen intermediates contribute to necrotic and apoptotic neuronal injury in an infant rat model of bacterial meningitis due to group B streptococci. *J Clin Invest* **98**, 2632-2639, doi:10.1172/JCI119084 (1996).

- 104 Friedland, I. R. *et al.* The limited role of pneumolysin in the pathogenesis of pneumococcal meningitis. *J Infect Dis* **172**, 805-809 (1995).
- 105 Zysk, G. *et al.* Pneumolysin is the main inducer of cytotoxicity to brain microvascular endothelial cells caused by Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Infect Immun* **69**, 845-852, doi:10.1128/IAI.69.2.845-852.2001 (2001).
- 106 Wall, E. C. *et al.* Persistence of pneumolysin in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with pneumococcal meningitis is associated with mortality. *Clin Infect Dis* **54**, 701-705, doi:10.1093/cid/cir926 (2012).
- 107 Le Hello, S. *et al.* Invasive serotype 1 Streptococcus pneumoniae outbreaks in the South Pacific from 2000 to 2007. *J Clin Microbiol* **48**, 2968-2971, doi:10.1128/JCM.01615-09 (2010).
- 108 Kirkham, L. A. *et al.* Identification of invasive serotype 1 pneumococcal isolates that express nonhemolytic pneumolysin. *J Clin Microbiol* **44**, 151-159, doi:10.1128/JCM.44.1.151-159.2006 (2006).
- 109 McChlery, S. M., Scott, K. J. & Clarke, S. C. Clonal analysis of invasive pneumococcal isolates in Scotland and coverage of serotypes by the licensed conjugate polysaccharide pneumococcal vaccine: possible implications for UK vaccine policy. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis* **24**, 262-267, doi:10.1007/s10096-005-1313-y (2005).
- 110 Jefferies, J. M., Smith, A., Clarke, S. C., Dowson, C. & Mitchell, T. J. Genetic analysis of diverse disease-causing pneumococci indicates high levels of diversity within serotypes and capsule switching. *J Clin Microbiol* **42**, 5681-5688, doi:10.1128/JCM.42.12.5681-5688.2004 (2004).
- 111 Henriques Normark, B. *et al.* Dynamics of penicillin-susceptible clones in invasive pneumococcal disease. *J Infect Dis* **184**, 861-869, doi:10.1086/323339 (2001).
- 112 Musher, D. M., Phan, H. M. & Baughn, R. E. Protection against bacteremic pneumococcal infection by antibody to pneumolysin. *J Infect Dis* **183**, 827-830, doi:10.1086/318833 (2001).
- 113 Garvy, B. A. & Harmsen, A. G. The importance of neutrophils in resistance to pneumococcal pneumonia in adult and neonatal mice. *Inflammation* **20**, 499-512 (1996).
- 114 Kadioglu, A. *et al.* Host cellular immune response to pneumococcal lung infection in mice. *Infect Immun* **68**, 492-501 (2000).
- 115 Malley, R. *et al.* Recognition of pneumolysin by Toll-like receptor 4 confers resistance to pneumococcal infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **100**, 1966-1971, doi:10.1073/pnas.0435928100 (2003).
- 116 McNeela, E. A. *et al.* Pneumolysin activates the NLRP3 inflammasome and promotes proinflammatory cytokines independently of TLR4. *PLoS Pathog* **6**, e1001191, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001191 (2010).

- 117 Shoma, S. *et al.* Critical involvement of pneumolysin in production of interleukin-1alpha and caspase-1-dependent cytokines in infection with Streptococcus pneumoniae in vitro: a novel function of pneumolysin in caspase-1 activation. *Infect Immun* **76**, 1547-1557, doi:10.1128/IAI.01269-07 (2008).
- 118 Riol-Blanco, L. *et al.* IL-23 receptor regulates unconventional IL-17-producing T cells that control bacterial infections. *J Immunol* **184**, 1710-1720, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0902796 (2010).
- 119 Lopez, R., Garcia, E., Garcia, P. & Garcia, J. L. The pneumococcal cell wall degrading enzymes: a modular design to create new lysins? *Microb Drug Resist* **3**, 199-211 (1997).
- 120 Holtje, J. V. & Tomasz, A. Purification of the pneumococcal N-acetylmuramyl-Lalanine amidase to biochemical homogeneity. *J Biol Chem* **251**, 4199-4207 (1976).
- 121 Garcia, P., Paz Gonzalez, M., Garcia, E., Garcia, J. L. & Lopez, R. The molecular characterization of the first autolytic lysozyme of Streptococcus pneumoniae reveals evolutionary mobile domains. *Mol Microbiol* **33**, 128-138 (1999).
- 122 Garcia, P., Gonzalez, M. P., Garcia, E., Lopez, R. & Garcia, J. L. LytB, a novel pneumococcal murein hydrolase essential for cell separation. *Mol Microbiol* **31**, 1275-1281 (1999).
- 123 Benton, K. A., Paton, J. C. & Briles, D. E. Differences in virulence for mice among Streptococcus pneumoniae strains of capsular types 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 are not attributable to differences in pneumolysin production. *Infect Immun* **65**, 1237-1244 (1997).
- 124 Hirst, R. A. *et al.* Streptococcus pneumoniae deficient in pneumolysin or autolysin has reduced virulence in meningitis. *J Infect Dis* **197**, 744-751, doi:10.1086/527322 (2008).
- 125 Berry, A. M., Lock, R. A., Hansman, D. & Paton, J. C. Contribution of autolysin to virulence of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Infect Immun* **57**, 2324-2330 (1989).
- 126 Martner, A., Dahlgren, C., Paton, J. C. & Wold, A. E. Pneumolysin released during Streptococcus pneumoniae autolysis is a potent activator of intracellular oxygen radical production in neutrophils. *Infect Immun* **76**, 4079-4087, doi:10.1128/IAI.01747-07 (2008).
- 127 Boulnois, G. J., Paton, J. C., Mitchell, T. J. & Andrew, P. W. Structure and function of pneumolysin, the multifunctional, thiol-activated toxin of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Mol Microbiol* **5**, 2611-2616 (1991).
- 128 Moore, L. J., Pridmore, A. C., Dower, S. K. & Read, R. C. Penicillin enhances the tolllike receptor 2-mediated proinflammatory activity of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *J Infect Dis* **188**, 1040-1048, doi:10.1086/378238 (2003).

- 129 Martner, A., Skovbjerg, S., Paton, J. C. & Wold, A. E. Streptococcus pneumoniae autolysis prevents phagocytosis and production of phagocyte-activating cytokines. *Infect Immun* **77**, 3826-3837, doi:10.1128/IAI.00290-09 (2009).
- 130 Tripp, C. S., Gately, M. K., Hakimi, J., Ling, P. & Unanue, E. R. Neutralization of IL-12 decreases resistance to Listeria in SCID and C.B-17 mice. Reversal by IFN-gamma. *J Immunol* **152**, 1883-1887 (1994).
- 131 Havell, E. A. Evidence that tumor necrosis factor has an important role in antibacterial resistance. *J Immunol* **143**, 2894-2899 (1989).
- 132 Cooper, A. M., Magram, J., Ferrante, J. & Orme, I. M. Interleukin 12 (IL-12) is crucial to the development of protective immunity in mice intravenously infected with mycobacterium tuberculosis. *J Exp Med* **186**, 39-45 (1997).
- 133 Chang, H. R., Grau, G. E. & Pechere, J. C. Role of TNF and IL-1 in infections with Toxoplasma gondii. *Immunology* **69**, 33-37 (1990).
- 134 Hessle, C. C., Andersson, B. & Wold, A. E. Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria elicit different patterns of pro-inflammatory cytokines in human monocytes. *Cytokine* **30**, 311-318, doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2004.05.008 (2005).
- 135 Barkman, C., Martner, A., Hessle, C. & Wold, A. E. Soluble bacterial constituents down-regulate secretion of IL-12 in response to intact Gram-positive bacteria. *Microbes Infect* **10**, 1484-1493, doi:10.1016/j.micinf.2008.08.011 (2008).
- 136 Mellroth, P. *et al.* LytA, major autolysin of Streptococcus pneumoniae, requires access to nascent peptidoglycan. *J Biol Chem* **287**, 11018-11029, doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.318584 (2012).
- 137 Kietzman, C. C., Gao, G., Mann, B., Myers, L. & Tuomanen, E. I. Dynamic capsule restructuring by the main pneumococcal autolysin LytA in response to the epithelium. *Nat Commun* **7**, 10859, doi:10.1038/ncomms10859 (2016).
- Hollingshead, S. K. *et al.* Pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) family distribution among clinical isolates from adults over 50 years of age collected in seven countries. *J Med Microbiol* 55, 215-221, doi:10.1099/jmm.0.46268-0 (2006).
- 139 Oma, K. *et al.* Intranasal immunization with a mixture of PspA and a Toll-like receptor agonist induces specific antibodies and enhances bacterial clearance in the airways of mice. *Vaccine* **27**, 3181-3188, doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.03.055 (2009).
- 140 Nabors, G. S. *et al.* Immunization of healthy adults with a single recombinant pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) variant stimulates broadly cross-reactive antibodies to heterologous PspA molecules. *Vaccine* **18**, 1743-1754 (2000).
- 141 Tart, R. C., McDaniel, L. S., Ralph, B. A. & Briles, D. E. Truncated Streptococcus pneumoniae PspA molecules elicit cross-protective immunity against pneumococcal challenge in mice. *J Infect Dis* **173**, 380-386 (1996).

- 142 Briles, D. E. *et al.* Immunization of humans with recombinant pneumococcal surface protein A (rPspA) elicits antibodies that passively protect mice from fatal infection with Streptococcus pneumoniae bearing heterologous PspA. *J Infect Dis* **182**, 1694-1701, doi:10.1086/317602 (2000).
- 143 Khan, N., Qadri, R. A. & Sehgal, D. Correlation between in vitro complement deposition and passive mouse protection of anti-pneumococcal surface protein A monoclonal antibodies. *Clin Vaccine Immunol* **22**, 99-107, doi:10.1128/CVI.00001-14 (2015).
- 144 Ren, B., Szalai, A. J., Hollingshead, S. K. & Briles, D. E. Effects of PspA and antibodies to PspA on activation and deposition of complement on the pneumococcal surface. *Infect Immun* **72**, 114-122 (2004).
- 145 Li, J., Glover, D. T., Szalai, A. J., Hollingshead, S. K. & Briles, D. E. PspA and PspC minimize immune adherence and transfer of pneumococci from erythrocytes to macrophages through their effects on complement activation. *Infect Immun* **75**, 5877-5885, doi:10.1128/IAI.00839-07 (2007).
- 146 Shaper, M., Hollingshead, S. K., Benjamin, W. H., Jr. & Briles, D. E. PspA protects Streptococcus pneumoniae from killing by apolactoferrin, and antibody to PspA enhances killing of pneumococci by apolactoferrin [corrected]. *Infect Immun* **72**, 5031-5040, doi:10.1128/IAI.72.9.5031-5040.2004 (2004).
- 147 Ren, B., Szalai, A. J., Thomas, O., Hollingshead, S. K. & Briles, D. E. Both family 1 and family 2 PspA proteins can inhibit complement deposition and confer virulence to a capsular serotype 3 strain of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Infect Immun* **71**, 75-85 (2003).
- 148 Mukerji, R. *et al.* Pneumococcal surface protein A inhibits complement deposition on the pneumococcal surface by competing with the binding of C-reactive protein to cell-surface phosphocholine. *J Immunol* **189**, 5327-5335, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201967 (2012).
- 149 Saumyaa *et al.* Pneumococcal Surface Protein A Plays a Major Role in Streptococcus pneumoniae-Induced Immunosuppression. *J Immunol* **196**, 3677-3685, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1502709 (2016).
- 150 Rosenow, C. *et al.* Contribution of novel choline-binding proteins to adherence, colonization and immunogenicity of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Mol Microbiol* **25**, 819-829 (1997).
- 151 Janulczyk, R., Iannelli, F., Sjoholm, A. G., Pozzi, G. & Bjorck, L. Hic, a novel surface protein of Streptococcus pneumoniae that interferes with complement function. J Biol Chem 275, 37257-37263, doi:10.1074/jbc.M004572200 (2000).
- 152 Jarva, H. *et al.* Streptococcus pneumoniae evades complement attack and opsonophagocytosis by expressing the pspC locus-encoded Hic protein that binds to short consensus repeats 8-11 of factor H. *J Immunol* **168**, 1886-1894 (2002).

- 153 Hammerschmidt, S., Tillig, M. P., Wolff, S., Vaerman, J. P. & Chhatwal, G. S. Speciesspecific binding of human secretory component to SpsA protein of Streptococcus pneumoniae via a hexapeptide motif. *Mol Microbiol* **36**, 726-736 (2000).
- 154 Hammerschmidt, S., Talay, S. R., Brandtzaeg, P. & Chhatwal, G. S. SpsA, a novel pneumococcal surface protein with specific binding to secretory immunoglobulin A and secretory component. *Mol Microbiol* **25**, 1113-1124 (1997).
- 155 Orihuela, C. J., Gao, G., Francis, K. P., Yu, J. & Tuomanen, E. I. Tissue-specific contributions of pneumococcal virulence factors to pathogenesis. *J Infect Dis* **190**, 1661-1669, doi:10.1086/424596 (2004).
- 156 Ring, A., Weiser, J. N. & Tuomanen, E. I. Pneumococcal trafficking across the bloodbrain barrier. Molecular analysis of a novel bidirectional pathway. *J Clin Invest* **102**, 347-360, doi:10.1172/JCI2406 (1998).
- 157 Dintilhac, A., Alloing, G., Granadel, C. & Claverys, J. P. Competence and virulence of Streptococcus pneumoniae: Adc and PsaA mutants exhibit a requirement for Zn and Mn resulting from inactivation of putative ABC metal permeases. *Mol Microbiol* **25**, 727-739 (1997).
- 158 Berry, A. M. & Paton, J. C. Sequence heterogeneity of PsaA, a 37-kilodalton putative adhesin essential for virulence of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Infect Immun* **64**, 5255-5262 (1996).
- 159 Marra, A., Lawson, S., Asundi, J. S., Brigham, D. & Hromockyj, A. E. In vivo characterization of the psa genes from Streptococcus pneumoniae in multiple models of infection. *Microbiology* **148**, 1483-1491, doi:10.1099/00221287-148-5-1483 (2002).
- 160 McAllister, L. J. *et al.* Molecular analysis of the psa permease complex of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Mol Microbiol* **53**, 889-901, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2958.2004.04164.x (2004).
- 161 Ogunniyi, A. D. *et al.* Central role of manganese in regulation of stress responses, physiology, and metabolism in Streptococcus pneumoniae. *J Bacteriol* **192**, 4489-4497, doi:10.1128/JB.00064-10 (2010).
- 162 Xu, J. H., Dai, W. J., Chen, B. & Fan, X. Y. Mucosal immunization with PsaA protein, using chitosan as a delivery system, increases protection against acute otitis media and invasive infection by Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Scand J Immunol* **81**, 177-185, doi:10.1111/sji.12267 (2015).
- 163 Brown, J. S., Gilliland, S. M. & Holden, D. W. A Streptococcus pneumoniae pathogenicity island encoding an ABC transporter involved in iron uptake and virulence. *Mol Microbiol* **40**, 572-585 (2001).
- 164 Holmes, A. R. *et al.* The pavA gene of Streptococcus pneumoniae encodes a fibronectin-binding protein that is essential for virulence. *Mol Microbiol* **41**, 1395-1408 (2001).

- 165 Pracht, D. *et al.* PavA of Streptococcus pneumoniae modulates adherence, invasion, and meningeal inflammation. *Infect Immun* **73**, 2680-2689, doi:10.1128/IAI.73.5.2680-2689.2005 (2005).
- 166 Kadioglu, A. *et al.* Pneumococcal protein PavA is important for nasopharyngeal carriage and development of sepsis. *Mol Oral Microbiol* **25**, 50-60, doi:10.1111/j.2041-1014.2009.00561.x (2010).
- 167 Noske, N., Kammerer, U., Rohde, M. & Hammerschmidt, S. Pneumococcal interaction with human dendritic cells: phagocytosis, survival, and induced adaptive immune response are manipulated by PavA. *J Immunol* **183**, 1952-1963, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0804383 (2009).
- 168 Weiser, J. N. The pneumococcus: why a commensal misbehaves. *J Mol Med (Berl)* **88**, 97-102, doi:10.1007/s00109-009-0557-x (2010).
- 169 Kadioglu, A., Weiser, J. N., Paton, J. C. & Andrew, P. W. The role of Streptococcus pneumoniae virulence factors in host respiratory colonization and disease. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **6**, 288-301, doi:10.1038/nrmicro1871 (2008).
- 170 Roche, A. M., Richard, A. L., Rahkola, J. T., Janoff, E. N. & Weiser, J. N. Antibody blocks acquisition of bacterial colonization through agglutination. *Mucosal Immunol* **8**, 176-185, doi:10.1038/mi.2014.55 (2015).
- 171 Joyce, E. A., Popper, S. J. & Falkow, S. Streptococcus pneumoniae nasopharyngeal colonization induces type I interferons and interferon-induced gene expression. *BMC Genomics* **10**, 404, doi:10.1186/1471-2164-10-404 (2009).
- 172 Zhang, Z., Clarke, T. B. & Weiser, J. N. Cellular effectors mediating Th17-dependent clearance of pneumococcal colonization in mice. *J Clin Invest* **119**, 1899-1909, doi:10.1172/JCI36731 (2009).
- 173 Neill, D. R. *et al.* T regulatory cells control susceptibility to invasive pneumococcal pneumonia in mice. *PLoS Pathog* **8**, e1002660, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002660 (2012).
- 174 Li, M. O., Wan, Y. Y., Sanjabi, S., Robertson, A. K. & Flavell, R. A. Transforming growth factor-beta regulation of immune responses. *Annu Rev Immunol* **24**, 99-146, doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.24.021605.090737 (2006).
- 175 Das, R. *et al.* Macrophage migration inhibitory factor promotes clearance of pneumococcal colonization. *J Immunol* **193**, 764-772, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1400133 (2014).
- 176 van Rossum, A. M., Lysenko, E. S. & Weiser, J. N. Host and bacterial factors contributing to the clearance of colonization by Streptococcus pneumoniae in a murine model. *Infect Immun* **73**, 7718-7726, doi:10.1128/IAI.73.11.7718-7726.2005 (2005).
- 177 Hill, P. C. *et al.* Nasopharyngeal carriage of Streptococcus pneumoniae in Gambian infants: a longitudinal study. *Clin Infect Dis* **46**, 807-814, doi:10.1086/528688 (2008).

- 178 Douglas, R. M., Paton, J. C., Duncan, S. J. & Hansman, D. J. Antibody response to pneumococcal vaccination in children younger than five years of age. *J Infect Dis* **148**, 131-137 (1983).
- 179 Eskola, J. Immunogenicity of pneumococcal conjugate vaccines. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 19, 388-393 (2000).
- 180 Hogberg, L. *et al.* Age- and serogroup-related differences in observed durations of nasopharyngeal carriage of penicillin-resistant pneumococci. *J Clin Microbiol* **45**, 948-952, doi:10.1128/JCM.01913-06 (2007).
- 181 Gilks, C. F. *et al.* Invasive pneumococcal disease in a cohort of predominantly HIV-1 infected female sex-workers in Nairobi, Kenya. *Lancet* **347**, 718-723 (1996).
- 182 Dworkin, M. S. *et al.* Pneumococcal disease among human immunodeficiency virusinfected persons: incidence, risk factors, and impact of vaccination. *Clin Infect Dis* **32**, 794-800, doi:10.1086/319218 (2001).
- 183 Lu, Y. J. *et al.* Interleukin-17A mediates acquired immunity to pneumococcal colonization. *PLoS Pathog* **4**, e1000159, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000159 (2008).
- 184 Mureithi, M. W. *et al.* T cell memory response to pneumococcal protein antigens in an area of high pneumococcal carriage and disease. *J Infect Dis* **200**, 783-793, doi:10.1086/605023 (2009).
- 185 Wilson, R. *et al.* Protection against Streptococcus pneumoniae lung infection after nasopharyngeal colonization requires both humoral and cellular immune responses. *Mucosal Immunol* **8**, 627-639, doi:10.1038/mi.2014.95 (2015).
- 186 Ferreira, D. M. *et al.* Controlled human infection and rechallenge with Streptococcus pneumoniae reveals the protective efficacy of carriage in healthy adults. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* **187**, 855-864, doi:10.1164/rccm.201212-2277OC (2013).
- 187 Armstrong, G. L., Conn, L. A. & Pinner, R. W. Trends in infectious disease mortality in the United States during the 20th century. *JAMA* **281**, 61-66 (1999).
- 188 Marriott, H. M., Mitchell, T. J. & Dockrell, D. H. Pneumolysin: a double-edged sword during the host-pathogen interaction. *Curr Mol Med* **8**, 497-509 (2008).
- 189 Gutierrez, F. *et al.* The influence of age and gender on the population-based incidence of community-acquired pneumonia caused by different microbial pathogens. *J Infect* **53**, 166-174, doi:10.1016/j.jinf.2005.11.006 (2006).
- 190 Martin, G. S., Mannino, D. M., Eaton, S. & Moss, M. The epidemiology of sepsis in the United States from 1979 through 2000. *N Engl J Med* **348**, 1546-1554, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa022139 (2003).
- 191 Danai, P. A., Moss, M., Mannino, D. M. & Martin, G. S. The epidemiology of sepsis in patients with malignancy. *Chest* **129**, 1432-1440, doi:10.1378/chest.129.6.1432 (2006).

- 192 Totapally, B. R. & Walsh, W. T. Pneumococcal bacteremia in childhood: a 6-year experience in a community hospital. *Chest* **113**, 1207-1214 (1998).
- 193 Sleeman, K. *et al.* Invasive pneumococcal disease in England and Wales: vaccination implications. *J Infect Dis* **183**, 239-246, doi:10.1086/317924 (2001).
- 194 Kadioglu, A. *et al.* Sex-based differences in susceptibility to respiratory and systemic pneumococcal disease in mice. *J Infect Dis* **204**, 1971-1979, doi:10.1093/infdis/jir657 (2011).
- 195 Bordon, J. *et al.* Understanding the roles of cytokines and neutrophil activity and neutrophil apoptosis in the protective versus deleterious inflammatory response in pneumonia. *Int J Infect Dis* **17**, e76-83, doi:10.1016/j.ijid.2012.06.006 (2013).
- 196 Dockrell, D. H., Whyte, M. K. & Mitchell, T. J. Pneumococcal pneumonia: mechanisms of infection and resolution. *Chest* **142**, 482-491, doi:10.1378/chest.12-0210 (2012).
- 197 Dockrell, D. H. *et al.* Alveolar macrophage apoptosis contributes to pneumococcal clearance in a resolving model of pulmonary infection. *J Immunol* **171**, 5380-5388 (2003).
- 198 Brinkmann, V. *et al.* Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. *Science* **303**, 1532-1535, doi:10.1126/science.1092385 (2004).
- 199 McGrath, E. E. *et al.* TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) regulates inflammatory neutrophil apoptosis and enhances resolution of inflammation. *J Leukoc Biol* **90**, 855-865, doi:10.1189/jlb.0211062 (2011).
- 200 Marriott, H. M. *et al.* Decreased alveolar macrophage apoptosis is associated with increased pulmonary inflammation in a murine model of pneumococcal pneumonia. *J Immunol* **177**, 6480-6488 (2006).
- 201 Quinton, L. J. *et al.* Alveolar epithelial STAT3, IL-6 family cytokines, and host defense during Escherichia coli pneumonia. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* **38**, 699-706, doi:10.1165/rcmb.2007-0365OC (2008).
- 202 Moldoveanu, B. *et al.* Inflammatory mechanisms in the lung. *J Inflamm Res* **2**, 1-11 (2009).
- 203 Ye, P. *et al.* Interleukin-17 and lung host defense against Klebsiella pneumoniae infection. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* **25**, 335-340, doi:10.1165/ajrcmb.25.3.4424 (2001).
- 204 Mullen, P. G., Windsor, A. C., Walsh, C. J., Fowler, A. A., 3rd & Sugerman, H. J. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-6 selectively regulate neutrophil function in vitro. *J Surg Res* **58**, 124-130, doi:10.1006/jsre.1995.1020 (1995).
- 205 Boucheron, N. *et al.* The protein tyrosine kinase Tec regulates a CD44highCD62L-Th17 subset. *J Immunol* **185**, 5111-5119, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001734 (2010).

- 206 Brigl, M. *et al.* Innate and cytokine-driven signals, rather than microbial antigens, dominate in natural killer T cell activation during microbial infection. *J Exp Med* **208**, 1163-1177, doi:10.1084/jem.20102555 (2011).
- 207 Macleod, C. M., Hodges, R. G., Heidelberger, M. & Bernhard, W. G. Prevention of Pneumococcal Pneumonia by Immunization with Specific Capsular Polysaccharides. *J Exp Med* **82**, 445-465 (1945).
- 208 Gingles, N. A. *et al.* Role of genetic resistance in invasive pneumococcal infection: identification and study of susceptibility and resistance in inbred mouse strains. *Infect Immun* **69**, 426-434, doi:10.1128/IAI.69.1.426-434.2001 (2001).
- 209 Kerr, A. R. *et al.* Role of inflammatory mediators in resistance and susceptibility to pneumococcal infection. *Infect Immun* **70**, 1547-1557 (2002).
- 210 Ming, W. J., Bersani, L. & Mantovani, A. Tumor necrosis factor is chemotactic for monocytes and polymorphonuclear leukocytes. *J Immunol* **138**, 1469-1474 (1987).
- 211 Takashima, K. *et al.* Role of tumor necrosis factor alpha in pathogenesis of pneumococcal pneumonia in mice. *Infect Immun* **65**, 257-260 (1997).
- 212 Cruse, G. *et al.* Human lung mast cells mediate pneumococcal cell death in response to activation by pneumolysin. *J Immunol* **184**, 7108-7115, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900802 (2010).
- 213 Gordon, J. R. & Galli, S. J. Mast cells as a source of both preformed and immunologically inducible TNF-alpha/cachectin. *Nature* **346**, 274-276, doi:10.1038/346274a0 (1990).
- 214 Ripoll, V. M., Kadioglu, A., Cox, R., Hume, D. A. & Denny, P. Macrophages from BALB/c and CBA/Ca mice differ in their cellular responses to Streptococcus pneumoniae. *J Leukoc Biol* **87**, 735-741, doi:10.1189/jlb.0509359 (2010).
- 215 Denny, P. *et al.* A major locus conferring susceptibility to infection by Streptococcus pneumoniae in mice. *Mamm Genome* **14**, 448-453, doi:10.1007/s00335-002-2261-9 (2003).
- 216 Torres, A. *et al.* Pneumococcal vaccination: what have we learnt so far and what can we expect in the future? *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis* **34**, 19-31, doi:10.1007/s10096-014-2208-6 (2015).
- 217 Reinert, R. R., Paradiso, P. & Fritzell, B. Advances in pneumococcal vaccines: the 13valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine received market authorization in Europe. *Expert Rev Vaccines* **9**, 229-236, doi:10.1586/erv.10.6 (2010).
- 218 Shapiro, E. D. *et al.* The protective efficacy of polyvalent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine. *N Engl J Med* **325**, 1453-1460, doi:10.1056/NEJM199111213252101 (1991).

- 219 Daniels, C. C., Rogers, P. D. & Shelton, C. M. A Review of Pneumococcal Vaccines: Current Polysaccharide Vaccine Recommendations and Future Protein Antigens. *J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther* **21**, 27-35, doi:10.5863/1551-6776-21.1.27 (2016).
- 220 Heilmann, C. Human B and T lymphocyte responses to vaccination with pneumococcal polysaccharides. *APMIS Suppl* **15**, 1-23 (1990).
- 221 Hammitt, L. L. *et al.* Indirect effect of conjugate vaccine on adult carriage of Streptococcus pneumoniae: an explanation of trends in invasive pneumococcal disease. *J Infect Dis* **193**, 1487-1494, doi:10.1086/503805 (2006).
- 222 Whitney, C. G. *et al.* Decline in invasive pneumococcal disease after the introduction of protein-polysaccharide conjugate vaccine. *N Engl J Med* **348**, 1737-1746, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa022823 (2003).
- 223 Richter, S. S. *et al.* Pneumococcal serotypes before and after introduction of conjugate vaccines, United States, 1999-2011(1.). *Emerg Infect Dis* **19**, 1074-1083, doi:10.3201/eid1907.121830 (2013).
- 224 Centers for Disease, C. & Prevention. Invasive pneumococcal disease in children 5 years after conjugate vaccine introduction--eight states, 1998-2005. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 57, 144-148 (2008).
- 225 Kyaw, M. H. *et al.* Effect of introduction of the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine on drug-resistant Streptococcus pneumoniae. *N Engl J Med* **354**, 1455-1463, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa051642 (2006).
- 226 Kellner, J. D., Church, D. L., MacDonald, J., Tyrrell, G. J. & Scheifele, D. Progress in the prevention of pneumococcal infection. *CMAJ* **173**, 1149-1151, doi:10.1503/cmaj.051150 (2005).
- 227 Poehling, K. A. *et al.* Invasive pneumococcal disease among infants before and after introduction of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine. *JAMA* **295**, 1668-1674, doi:10.1001/jama.295.14.1668 (2006).
- 228 Gruber, W. C., Scott, D. A. & Emini, E. A. Development and clinical evaluation of Prevnar 13, a 13-valent pneumocococcal CRM197 conjugate vaccine. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **1263**, 15-26, doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2012.06673.x (2012).
- 229 Croucher, N. J. *et al.* Rapid pneumococcal evolution in response to clinical interventions. *Science* **331**, 430-434, doi:10.1126/science.1198545 (2011).
- Gkentzi, D., Slack, M. P. & Ladhani, S. N. The burden of nonencapsulated Haemophilus influenzae in children and potential for prevention. *Curr Opin Infect Dis* 25, 266-272, doi:10.1097/QCO.0b013e32835310a4 (2012).
- 231 Hollingshead, S. K., Becker, R. & Briles, D. E. Diversity of PspA: mosaic genes and evidence for past recombination in Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Infect Immun* **68**, 5889-5900 (2000).

- 232 Crain, M. J. *et al.* Pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) is serologically highly variable and is expressed by all clinically important capsular serotypes of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Infect Immun* **58**, 3293-3299 (1990).
- 233 Ginsburg, A. S., Nahm, M. H., Khambaty, F. M. & Alderson, M. R. Issues and challenges in the development of pneumococcal protein vaccines. *Expert Rev Vaccines* **11**, 279-285, doi:10.1586/erv.12.5 (2012).
- 234 Alexander, J. E. *et al.* Immunization of mice with pneumolysin toxoid confers a significant degree of protection against at least nine serotypes of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Infect Immun* **62**, 5683-5688 (1994).
- Neill, D. R., Smeaton, S., Bangert, M. & Kadioglu, A. Nasopharyngeal carriage with Streptococcus pneumoniae augments the immunizing effect of pneumolysin toxoid B. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 131, 1433-1435 e1431, doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2012.11.004 (2013).
- 236 Kamtchoua, T. *et al.* Safety and immunogenicity of the pneumococcal pneumolysin derivative PlyD1 in a single-antigen protein vaccine candidate in adults. *Vaccine* **31**, 327-333, doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.11.005 (2013).
- 237 Olafsdottir, T. A., Lingnau, K., Nagy, E. & Jonsdottir, I. Novel protein-based pneumococcal vaccines administered with the Th1-promoting adjuvant IC31 induce protective immunity against pneumococcal disease in neonatal mice. *Infect Immun* 80, 461-468, doi:10.1128/IAI.05801-11 (2012).
- 238 Brueggemann, A. B. & Spratt, B. G. Geographic distribution and clonal diversity of Streptococcus pneumoniae serotype 1 isolates. J Clin Microbiol 41, 4966-4970 (2003).
- 239 Feikin, D. R. *et al.* Antibiotic resistance and serotype distribution of Streptococcus pneumoniae colonizing rural Malawian children. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* **22**, 564-567 (2003).
- 240 Harboe, Z. B. *et al.* Temporal trends in invasive pneumococcal disease and pneumococcal serotypes over 7 decades. *Clin Infect Dis* **50**, 329-337, doi:10.1086/649872 (2010).
- 241 Austrian, R. & Gold, J. Pneumococcal Bacteremia with Especial Reference to Bacteremic Pneumococcal Pneumonia. *Ann Intern Med* **60**, 759-776 (1964).
- von Mollendorf, C. *et al.* Epidemiology of Serotype 1 Invasive Pneumococcal Disease, South Africa, 2003-2013. *Emerg Infect Dis* 22, 261-270, doi:10.3201/eid2202.150967 (2016).
- 243 Achtman, M. Epidemic spread and antigenic variability of Neisseria meningitidis. *Trends Microbiol* **3**, 186-192 (1995).
- 244 Leimkugel, J. *et al.* An outbreak of serotype 1 Streptococcus pneumoniae meningitis in northern Ghana with features that are characteristic of Neisseria meningitidis meningitis epidemics. *J Infect Dis* **192**, 192-199, doi:10.1086/431151 (2005).

- 245 Antonio, M. *et al.* Seasonality and outbreak of a predominant Streptococcus pneumoniae serotype 1 clone from The Gambia: expansion of ST217 hypervirulent clonal complex in West Africa. *BMC Microbiol* **8**, 198, doi:10.1186/1471-2180-8-198 (2008).
- 246 Jusot, J. F. *et al.* Airborne dust and high temperatures are risk factors for invasive bacterial disease. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2016.04.062 (2016).
- 247 Zauli Sajani, S., Bonasoni, P., Cristofanelli, P., Marinoni, A. & Lauriola, P. Only coarse particles from the Sahara? *Epidemiology* **23**, 642-643, doi:10.1097/EDE.0b013e318258c23f (2012).
- 248 Dochez, A. R. & Avery, O. T. The Occurrence of Carriers of Disease-Producing Types of Pneumococcus. *J Exp Med* **22**, 105-113 (1915).
- 249 DeMaria, A., Jr., Browne, K., Berk, S. L., Sherwood, E. J. & McCabe, W. R. An outbreak of type 1 pneumococcal pneumonia in a men's shelter. *JAMA* **244**, 1446-1449 (1980).
- 250 Dagan, R. *et al.* An outbreak of Streptococcus pneumoniae serotype 1 in a closed community in southern Israel. *Clin Infect Dis* **30**, 319-321, doi:10.1086/313645 (2000).
- 251 Roxburgh, C. S. & Youngson, G. G. Childhood empyema in North-East Scotland over the past 15 years. *Scott Med J* **52**, 25-27 (2007).
- 252 Rees, J. H., Spencer, D. A., Parikh, D. & Weller, P. Increase in incidence of childhood empyema in West Midlands, UK. *Lancet* **349**, 402 (1997).
- 253 Playfor, S. D., Smyth, A. R. & Stewart, R. J. Increase in incidence of childhood empyema. *Thorax* **52**, 932 (1997).
- 254 Eastham, K. M. *et al.* Clinical features, aetiology and outcome of empyema in children in the north east of England. *Thorax* **59**, 522-525 (2004).
- 255 Harboe, Z. B. *et al.* Pneumococcal serotypes and mortality following invasive pneumococcal disease: a population-based cohort study. *PLoS Med* **6**, e1000081, doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000081 (2009).
- 256 Trotter, C. L. *et al.* Epidemiology of invasive pneumococcal disease in the preconjugate vaccine era: England and Wales, 1996-2006. *J Infect* **60**, 200-208, doi:10.1016/j.jinf.2009.12.008 (2010).
- 257 Hughes, C. E., Harvey, R. M., Plumptre, C. D. & Paton, J. C. Development of primary invasive pneumococcal disease caused by serotype 1 pneumococci is driven by early increased type I interferon response in the lung. *Infect Immun* **82**, 3919-3926, doi:10.1128/IAI.02067-14 (2014).
- 258 Sandgren, A. *et al.* Virulence in mice of pneumococcal clonal types with known invasive disease potential in humans. *J Infect Dis* **192**, 791-800, doi:10.1086/432513 (2005).

- 259 Harvey, R. M. *et al.* The Variable Region of Pneumococcal Pathogenicity Island 1 Is Responsible for Unusually High Virulence of a Serotype 1 Isolate. *Infect Immun* **84**, 822-832, doi:10.1128/IAI.01454-15 (2016).
- 260 Mavroidi, A. *et al.* Genetic relatedness of the Streptococcus pneumoniae capsular biosynthetic loci. *J Bacteriol* **189**, 7841-7855, doi:10.1128/JB.00836-07 (2007).
- 261 Tzianabos, A. O., Onderdonk, A. B., Rosner, B., Cisneros, R. L. & Kasper, D. L. Structural features of polysaccharides that induce intra-abdominal abscesses. *Science* **262**, 416-419 (1993).
- 262 Kalka-Moll, W. M. *et al.* Zwitterionic Polysaccharides Stimulate T Cells by MHC Class II-Dependent Interactions. *The Journal of Immunology* **169**, 6149-6153, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.169.11.6149 (2002).
- 263 Melin, M. *et al.* Serotype-related variation in susceptibility to complement deposition and opsonophagocytosis among clinical isolates of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Infect Immun* **78**, 5252-5261, doi:10.1128/IAI.00739-10 (2010).
- 264 Paradiso, P. R. Advances in pneumococcal disease prevention: 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine for infants and children. *Clin Infect Dis* **52**, 1241-1247, doi:10.1093/cid/cir142 (2011).
- 265 Saaka, M. *et al.* Immunogenicity and serotype-specific efficacy of a 9-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV-9) determined during an efficacy trial in The Gambia. *Vaccine* **26**, 3719-3726, doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.04.066 (2008).
- 266 Madhi, S. A. *et al.* Long-term immunogenicity and efficacy of a 9-valent conjugate pneumococcal vaccine in human immunodeficient virus infected and non-infected children in the absence of a booster dose of vaccine. *Vaccine* **25**, 2451-2457, doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.09.019 (2007).
- 267 Hedges, A. J. Estimating the precision of serial dilutions and viable bacterial counts. *Int J Food Microbiol* **76**, 207-214 (2002).
- 268 Gates, M. A., Thorkildson, P. & Kozel, T. R. Molecular architecture of the Cryptococcus neoformans capsule. *Mol Microbiol* **52**, 13-24, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2958.2003.03957.x (2004).
- 269 Romero-Steiner, S. *et al.* Multilaboratory evaluation of a viability assay for measurement of opsonophagocytic antibodies specific to the capsular polysaccharides of Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol* **10**, 1019-1024 (2003).
- 270 Hyams, C., Camberlein, E., Cohen, J. M., Bax, K. & Brown, J. S. The Streptococcus pneumoniae capsule inhibits complement activity and neutrophil phagocytosis by multiple mechanisms. *Infect Immun* **78**, 704-715, doi:10.1128/IAI.00881-09 (2010).

- 271 Abe, M. *et al.* An assay for transforming growth factor-beta using cells transfected with a plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 promoter-luciferase construct. *Anal Biochem* **216**, 276-284, doi:10.1006/abio.1994.1042 (1994).
- 272 Mani, N., Tobin, P. & Jayaswal, R. K. Isolation and characterization of autolysisdefective mutants of Staphylococcus aureus created by Tn917-lacZ mutagenesis. *J Bacteriol* **175**, 1493-1499 (1993).
- 273 Bose, J. L., Lehman, M. K., Fey, P. D. & Bayles, K. W. Contribution of the Staphylococcus aureus Atl AM and GL murein hydrolase activities in cell division, autolysis, and biofilm formation. *PLoS One* **7**, e42244, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0042244 (2012).
- 274 Battig, P., Hathaway, L. J., Hofer, S. & Muhlemann, K. Serotype-specific invasiveness and colonization prevalence in Streptococcus pneumoniae correlate with the lag phase during in vitro growth. *Microbes Infect* **8**, 2612-2617, doi:10.1016/j.micinf.2006.07.013 (2006).
- 275 Wang, J. D. & Levin, P. A. Metabolism, cell growth and the bacterial cell cycle. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **7**, 822-827, doi:10.1038/nrmicro2202 (2009).
- 276 Chiavolini, D., Pozzi, G. & Ricci, S. Animal models of Streptococcus pneumoniae disease. *Clin Microbiol Rev* **21**, 666-685, doi:10.1128/CMR.00012-08 (2008).
- 277 Darboe, M. K., Fulford, A. J., Secka, O. & Prentice, A. M. The dynamics of nasopharyngeal streptococcus pneumoniae carriage among rural Gambian motherinfant pairs. *BMC Infect Dis* **10**, 195, doi:10.1186/1471-2334-10-195 (2010).
- 278 Sjolinder, H. & Jonsson, A. B. Olfactory nerve--a novel invasion route of Neisseria meningitidis to reach the meninges. *PLoS One* **5**, e14034, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0014034 (2010).
- 279 Mac, L. C. & Kraus, M. R. Relation of virulence of pneumococcal strains for mice to the quantity of capsular polysaccharide formed in vitro. *J Exp Med* **92**, 1-9 (1950).
- 280 Griffith, F. The Significance of Pneumococcal Types. J Hyg (Lond) 27, 113-159 (1928).
- 281 Lu, L., Ma, Y. & Zhang, J. R. Streptococcus pneumoniae recruits complement factor H through the amino terminus of CbpA. *J Biol Chem* **281**, 15464-15474, doi:10.1074/jbc.M602404200 (2006).
- 282 Tweten, R. K. Cholesterol-dependent cytolysins, a family of versatile pore-forming toxins. *Infect Immun* **73**, 6199-6209, doi:10.1128/IAI.73.10.6199-6209.2005 (2005).
- 283 Rai, P., He, F., Kwang, J., Engelward, B. P. & Chow, V. T. Pneumococcal Pneumolysin Induces DNA Damage and Cell Cycle Arrest. *Sci Rep* 6, 22972, doi:10.1038/srep22972 (2016).
- 284 Garcia-Suarez Mdel, M. *et al.* The role of pneumolysin in mediating lung damage in a lethal pneumococcal pneumonia murine model. *Respir Res* **8**, 3, doi:10.1186/1465-9921-8-3 (2007).
- 285 Henry, B. D. *et al.* Engineered liposomes sequester bacterial exotoxins and protect from severe invasive infections in mice. *Nat Biotechnol* **33**, 81-88, doi:10.1038/nbt.3037 (2015).
- 286 Lehmann, A. D. *et al.* An in vitro triple cell co-culture model with primary cells mimicking the human alveolar epithelial barrier. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm* **77**, 398-406, doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2010.10.014 (2011).
- Wood, W. B. Studies on the Mechanism of Recovery in Pneumococcal Pneumonia :
 I. The Action of Type Specific Antibody Upon the Pulmonary Lesion of Experimental Pneumonia. J Exp Med 73, 201-222 (1941).
- 288 Rubins, J. B., Duane, P. G., Charboneau, D. & Janoff, E. N. Toxicity of pneumolysin to pulmonary endothelial cells in vitro. *Infect Immun* **60**, 1740-1746 (1992).
- 289 Malley, R. *et al.* CD4+ T cells mediate antibody-independent acquired immunity to pneumococcal colonization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**, 4848-4853, doi:10.1073/pnas.0501254102 (2005).
- 290 Gray, C. *et al.* Activation of memory Th17 cells by domain 4 pneumolysin in human nasopharynx-associated lymphoid tissue and its association with pneumococcal carriage. *Mucosal Immunol* **7**, 705-717, doi:10.1038/mi.2013.89 (2014).
- 291 Kemp, K., Bruunsgaard, H., Skinhoj, P. & Klarlund Pedersen, B. Pneumococcal infections in humans are associated with increased apoptosis and trafficking of type 1 cytokine-producing T cells. *Infect Immun* **70**, 5019-5025 (2002).
- 292 Hausdorff, W. P., Feikin, D. R. & Klugman, K. P. Epidemiological differences among pneumococcal serotypes. *Lancet Infect Dis* 5, 83-93, doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(05)01280-6 (2005).
- 293 Sultan, B., Labadi, K., Guegan, J. F. & Janicot, S. Climate drives the meningitis epidemics onset in west Africa. *PLoS Med* **2**, e6, doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.0020006 (2005).
- 294 Kolls, J. K. CD4(+) T-cell subsets and host defense in the lung. *Immunol Rev* **252**, 156-163, doi:10.1111/imr.12030 (2013).
- 295 Pido-Lopez, J., Kwok, W. W., Mitchell, T. J., Heyderman, R. S. & Williams, N. A. Acquisition of pneumococci specific effector and regulatory Cd4+ T cells localising within human upper respiratory-tract mucosal lymphoid tissue. *PLoS Pathog* 7, e1002396, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002396 (2011).
- 296 Zhang, Q. *et al.* Characterisation of regulatory T cells in nasal associated lymphoid tissue in children: relationships with pneumococcal colonization. *PLoS Pathog* 7, e1002175, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002175 (2011).
- 297 Li, Y. *et al.* Distinct effects on diversifying selection by two mechanisms of immunity against Streptococcus pneumoniae. *PLoS Pathog* 8, e1002989, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002989 (2012).

- 298 Martinez, F. O. & Gordon, S. The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment. *F1000Prime Rep* **6**, 13, doi:10.12703/P6-13 (2014).
- 299 Probst-Kepper, M. *et al.* GARP: a key receptor controlling FOXP3 in human regulatory T cells. *J Cell Mol Med* **13**, 3343-3357, doi:10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00782.x (2009).
- 300 Konradsen, H. B. & Kaltoft, M. S. Invasive pneumococcal infections in Denmark from 1995 to 1999: epidemiology, serotypes, and resistance. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol* **9**, 358-365 (2002).
- 301 Kilian, M. *et al.* Evolution of Streptococcus pneumoniae and its close commensal relatives. *PLoS One* **3**, e2683, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0002683 (2008).
- 302 Ghaffar, F., Friedland, I. R. & McCracken, G. H., Jr. Dynamics of nasopharyngeal colonization by Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* **18**, 638-646 (1999).
- 303 Cheung, Y. B. *et al.* Nasopharyngeal carriage of Streptococcus pneumoniae in Gambian children who participated in a 9-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine trial and in their younger siblings. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* **28**, 990-995, doi:10.1097/INF.0b013e3181a78185 (2009).
- 304 Greenwood, B. Pneumococcal meningitis epidemics in Africa. *Clin Infect Dis* **43**, 701-703, doi:10.1086/506943 (2006).
- 305 Khan, M. N. & Pichichero, M. E. The host immune dynamics of pneumococcal colonization: implications for novel vaccine development. *Hum Vaccin Immunother* 10, 3688-3699, doi:10.4161/21645515.2014.979631 (2014).
- 306 Murphy, T. F., Bakaletz, L. O. & Smeesters, P. R. Microbial interactions in the respiratory tract. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 28, S121-126, doi:10.1097/INF.0b013e3181b6d7ec (2009).
- 307 Kandasamy, R. *et al.* Multi-serotype pneumococcal nasopharyngeal carriage prevalence in vaccine naive Nepalese children, assessed using molecular serotyping. *PLoS One* **10**, e0114286, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0114286 (2015).
- 308 Kamng'ona, A. W. *et al.* High multiple carriage and emergence of Streptococcus pneumoniae vaccine serotype variants in Malawian children. *BMC Infect Dis* **15**, 234, doi:10.1186/s12879-015-0980-2 (2015).
- 309 Wyllie, A. L. *et al.* Molecular surveillance of nasopharyngeal carriage of Streptococcus pneumoniae in children vaccinated with conjugated polysaccharide pneumococcal vaccines. *Sci Rep* **6**, 23809, doi:10.1038/srep23809 (2016).
- 310 Sun, L., Jin, H. & Li, H. GARP: a surface molecule of regulatory T cells that is involved in the regulatory function and TGF-beta releasing. *Oncotarget* **7**, 42826-42836, doi:10.18632/oncotarget.8753 (2016).

- 311 Borsellino, G. *et al.* Expression of ectonucleotidase CD39 by Foxp3+ Treg cells: hydrolysis of extracellular ATP and immune suppression. *Blood* **110**, 1225-1232, doi:10.1182/blood-2006-12-064527 (2007).
- 312 Gu, J. *et al.* Human CD39hi regulatory T cells present stronger stability and function under inflammatory conditions. *Cell Mol Immunol*, doi:10.1038/cmi.2016.30 (2016).
- 313 Karmakar, M. *et al.* Neutrophil IL-1beta processing induced by pneumolysin is mediated by the NLRP3/ASC inflammasome and caspase-1 activation and is dependent on K+ efflux. *J Immunol* **194**, 1763-1775, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1401624 (2015).
- 314 Weinberger, D. M. *et al.* Association of serotype with risk of death due to pneumococcal pneumonia: a meta-analysis. *Clin Infect Dis* **51**, 692-699, doi:10.1086/655828 (2010).

8.0 Appendix



Figure 56.Triton X-100-induced autolysis assays comparing rates of autolysis in serotype 1 compared to other clinical serotypes. Bacteria (OD_{600} 1.0) were incubated at 37^oC and 175rpm with 0.01% Triton X. At 15 - 30 minute intervals, OD_{600} was measured and converted to a percentage of the original OD_{600} reading. LytA negative D39 was used as a control. Statistical analysis was performed by Two-way ANOVA. Rates of autolysis were measured in triplicates; data is presented as mean ± SEM. (ns=non-significant. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001, P<0.0001).